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Part I
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These statements may relate to, but are not limited to, expectations of future
operating results or financial performance, capital expenditures, use of proceeds from this offering, introduction of new products, regulatory compliance,
plans for growth and future operations, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and
uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. These risks and other factors include, but are not limited to, those listed under “Risk
Factors.” In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “intend,” “potential,” “might,” “would,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable
terminology. Actual events or results may differ from those expressed in these forward-looking statements, and these differences may be material and
adverse. Forward looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

our future financial performance, including our revenue, cost of revenue, gross profit or gross margin and operating expenses;

•

the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs;

•

our ability to attract new customers, cross-sell or upsell our existing customers and develop new products;

•

our ability to maintain the security and availability of our platform and products;

•

our ability to continue to build our direct sales organization;

•

our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;

•

our ability to increase our number of customers;

•

our ability to successfully expand in our existing markets and into new markets;

•

our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;

•

our estimated total addressable market;

•

our ability to expand our network of channel partners;

•

our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

•

our ability to comply with modified or new laws and regulations applying to our business;

•

our anticipated investments in sales and marketing and research and development;

•

our ability to manage growth through identification, execution and integration of acquisitions;

•

our ability to successfully defend litigation brought against us; and

•

the increased expenses associated with being a public company.

We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections
about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects, business strategy and financial
needs. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors described in
the section captioned “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risks are not exhaustive. New risks and uncertainties
emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
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statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
statements.
In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based
upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K , and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for
such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly
rely upon these statements.
You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have filed as exhibits
to the registration statement of which this Annual Report on Form 10-K forms a part with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity,
performance and achievements may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.
The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which such statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to conform such statements to
actual results or revised expectations, except as required by law.
Item 1. Business
Overview
KnowBe4, Inc. (the “Company” or “KnowBe4”) has developed the leading security awareness platform enabling organizations to assess, monitor and
minimize the ongoing cybersecurity threat of social engineering attacks. We are pioneering an integrated approach to security awareness that incorporates
cloud-based software, machine learning, artificial intelligence, advanced analytics and insights with engaging content. Our platform is purpose-built to
drive awareness, change human behavior and enable a security-minded culture that results in a reduction of social engineering risks.
We believe every organization’s greatest asset is also its greatest security risk – its people. As investments in security products grow significantly,
attackers are increasingly leveraging social engineering to circumvent the traditional layers of cybersecurity defense. Social engineering relies on the
manipulation of human behavior and can range from enlisting unsuspecting employees in schemes to defraud their employers to gaining access to systems
during the initial phase of broader, multi-stage cyberattacks that can result in devastating breaches. Because these attacks are low-cost and high-volume and
have a high probability of success, they enable the attacker to achieve a significant return on investment. Social engineering represents a universal
cybersecurity risk, as it specifically targets the employees rather than the infrastructure of an organization. As such, social engineering risks affect every
organization, regardless of the sophistication of their security infrastructure.
Historically, organizations have invested significantly in cybersecurity defenses with the belief that infrastructure-centric tools alone could provide
adequate protection. Despite significant amounts spent each year, security breaches continue to be reported with increasing frequency. Additionally, recent
trends, including globally distributed workforces, work from home and the technological complexity of the modern digital workplace have vastly expanded
the attack surface. A single click on a phishing email, insecure disposal of a sensitive document, use of a weak password and a host of other employee
behaviors can prove disastrous to an organization. These effects are far-reaching, ranging from incident response costs and lost productivity to negative
media coverage, loss of revenue and impacted customer confidence. More often than not, the difference between a secure and insecure interaction comes
down to human behavior.
We believe security awareness is the most effective way for organizations to manage the unaddressed risk of social engineering. Security awareness
has historically been isolated to information security and IT professionals and focused on compliance and simplistic content delivery. Our platform is
designed to promote awareness, change human behavior and drive a security-minded culture. The foundation of our security awareness platform combines
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automation, machine learning, artificial intelligence and continuous testing with data analysis and relevant and interactive content. Our products enable
customers to strengthen their overall security posture by creating a security-minded culture characterized by active user participation with a focus on
mitigating the human element of security risk across their entire organization. We enable organizations to effectively enhance the security awareness of
their workforce, converting their employees into a critical last line of defense against cyberattacks.
Our platform currently includes:
•

Security Awareness: enables continuous assessment of employees through simulated social engineering attacks across multiple mediums and
remediation through real-time delivery of highly engaging modules that are curated based on relevant and specific risks;

•

Security Orchestration, Automation and Response (SOAR): enables security professionals to prioritize and automate security workstreams in
order to respond to and remediate social engineering attacks; and

•

Governance, Risk and Compliance: enables organizations to analyze security risk and automate the management of compliance and audit
functions.

We designed our platform to meet the needs of IT administrators, as effective, scalable, quick to deploy and easy to use for organizations of all sizes.
Our platform design allows us to scale from small businesses to large enterprises and our products are deployed on a common data platform with embedded
analytical tools and reporting APIs, resulting in seamless integration. Additionally, our products are designed to bring substantial amounts of data into an
organization’s existing security stack allowing our customers to continually assess and monitor ongoing risks to the organization. With our recent
acquisition of SecurityAdvisor, we believe we will be able to address an entirely new category of risk associated with human behavior through the
introduction of Human Detection and Response or HDR. Through integrations with an organizations’ existing security layers, we expect to be able to take
real-time corrective action against insecure human behaviors based on data obtained through existing technical security controls.
As the behavior of any employee could represent a threat, our customers tend to adopt our platform across the entire organization to protect all
employees from social engineering threats. We have developed an effective go-to-market strategy that has been proven to help us reach both small and
midsized businesses and large enterprises. We employ an efficient inside sales model that translates across all customer segments, complimented by
channel partnerships that provide significant sales leverage and have enabled us to further penetrate the enterprise market.
Key Strengths of Our Platform
We provide an integrated platform that enables organizations to assess, monitor and mitigate the persistent threat of social engineering. Our cloudbased platform employs a differentiated combination of software, machine learning, artificial intelligence, analytics, insights, content and security
workstreams that is designed to meaningfully impact human behavior and continually improve an organization’s security posture in response to social
engineering threats. The key strengths of our platform include:
Targeted Focus on Human Behavior
Our platform is exclusively focused on human behavior, as we believe that elevating the security awareness of an organization’s employees is essential
to managing the risk associated with social engineering. We believe that infrastructure-based security controls alone are inadequate, requiring humans to
become the critical last line of defense for an organization. In growing the category for security awareness, we are focused on building a platform capable
of changing insecure behaviors and reinforcing secure behaviors of individuals. This allows us to invest in technology and development resources to drive
innovation and differentiation in products designed to address the human layer of security. We believe our focus has helped us establish market leadership
and will position us favorably to capitalize on market opportunities as the scope of the human layer of security expands.
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Continuous Intelligence and Analytics
Our platform continuously assesses users and monitors social engineering risk, creating an active feedback loop that enables organizations to drive
improvements in employee security awareness and overall security posture. Frequent training, knowledge checks and behavior-based intervention all
reinforce secure behaviors and provide critical data for measuring, improving and maintaining security awareness within an organization.
The advanced analytics delivered by our platform enable security administrators to identify, monitor and manage the social engineering risk of the
organization as a whole, or of individual employees or groups of employees. Our platform analyzes a broad and extensive set of risk data to assess the level
of social engineering risks within an organization and provides security professionals with actionable insights to modify and improve security awareness
programs based on risk profiles at the individual or group level. Through the learner experience dashboard, our platform also provides employees visibility
into their individual susceptibility to social engineering threats, which promotes continuous engagement and improvement in security awareness.
Effective and Efficient Security Awareness Administration
Our platform is designed to enable security administrators to mitigate social engineering risk through automated, machine learning-driven
administration of training specifically customized to an individual user or group of users. The platform analyzes users’ behavior and allows organizations to
categorize employees based on dynamic or custom groupings to tailor simulated social engineering campaigns, assignments and analytical reporting based
on identified potential vulnerabilities. Our platform leverages a machine learning engine to provide administrators with targeted recommendations based on
the results of simulated tests and users’ risk scores prompting the delivery of relevant content designed to reduce the risks associated with social
engineering.
The platform also includes embedded SOAR functionality to prioritize and automate security operations related to user-reported social engineering
threats. With these capabilities, security professionals can minimize risk to the organization by quickly responding to and effectively remediating the most
severe social engineering threats. All together, these capabilities are designed to reduce the administrative burden of security awareness management and
operations on resource-constrained IT and security professionals.
Expansive Library of Engaging and Effective Content
We have built an expansive library of differentiated security awareness content that is continuously refreshed to ensure that our offerings always reflect
the expanding range of social engineering threats. We leverage our extensive proprietary data set on human behavior and social engineering attacks, firstparty threat environment research and crowd-sourcing methods to update our simulated threat templates, in order to convincingly emulate real-world social
engineering methods.
We believe the range and sophistication of our content library and technology makes our platform highly effective in changing human behavior to
reduce social engineering risk. We employ dedicated content centers of excellence across geographies to produce differentiated content that reflects themes
based on the broader global threat environment, but is highly localized and culturally relevant. The breadth and scope of our content enables it to fully meet
the needs of large global enterprises with geographically diverse workforces, driving increased customer satisfaction and retention.
Ease of Platform Deployment and Use
We have designed our platform to be easy to deploy and use, enabling our customers to achieve rapid time-to-value and cost efficiency in security
awareness operations. Our cloud-based platform requires minimal implementation efforts, enabling customers to quickly onboard and complete an initial
baseline simulated social engineering campaign. We have also developed integrations with mainstream identity platforms, including Active Directory and
SCIM, that further streamline platform deployment and ongoing user administration. Our management console offers simple and automated administration
of security awareness programs and related workstreams, reducing the resource and expertise requirements on the organization. For employees, the user
interface of our platform has also been designed to deliver an intuitive, easy-to-use and high quality experience.
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Designed to Serve the Entire Market
The ability to scale our technology to meet the needs of all organizations has been a central tenet of our platform design philosophy from the
beginning. As a result, we have designed our products to be both accessible to smaller organizations without dedicated IT departments and scalable to
organizations with hundreds of thousands of users and multiple security teams dispersed across the world. Our cloud-based delivery model, scalable multitenant architecture and global content centers of excellence allow us to regularly introduce new content and platform features to our customers quickly and
seamlessly.
Our Market Opportunity
We estimate the total market opportunity for our platform currently to be approximately $23.0 billion. For our KMSAT, PhishER and Compliance Plus
products, we calculate our market opportunity by applying a per employee price by size of business, based on internally generated customer spend data, to
an estimated total number of employees across over 50 addressable geographies. For KCM, in the U.S., we apply an average contract value to a set number
of organizations using internally generated customer spend data. Internationally, we estimate the size of the market as a multiple of the U.S. market. Our
total market opportunity also includes an estimate of the market opportunity related to our future product that will be developed utilizing technology
obtained through our acquisition of SecurityAdvisor and integrated into our platform. The sum of the calculated values across KMSAT, PhishER,
Compliance Plus, KCM and our future product, as described herein, represents our total estimated market opportunity.
Our Growth Strategy
We believe we have significant opportunities to extend our market leadership. Key elements of our growth strategy include:
Expand Our Customer Base
We believe there is a significant opportunity to invest in our sales and marketing activities to drive broader market knowledge of the importance of
security awareness. Increasing category awareness of our market enables us to expand our customer base with less education effort and more efficient goto-market execution. We believe that businesses of all sizes are exposed to the risks of social engineering and that there is a large opportunity to help both
small and medium sized businesses (“SMBs”), and large enterprises defend against this threat. In addition to growing the small to medium sized customer
base that we have focused on since inception, we believe that there is significant opportunity to increase penetration in the enterprise segment, which we
define as customers with 1,000 or more employees.
Expand Internationally
The international market represents an expansion opportunity for us. To pursue this opportunity, we are rapidly expanding our international operations
and increasing our physical presence through headcount additions in Europe, the Middle East, Asia-Pacific and South America. We are also investing in
further localizing our platform through foreign language translation and customized content. Our platform is currently accessible in over 30 languages and
we plan to expand this language support in the future, along with increasing our region-specific content offerings.
Grow Our Partner Network
We plan to increase our channel partnerships to help us efficiently reach new territories and opportunities. Growing our international channel
partnerships will help us reach new jurisdictions where we have not yet developed extensive brand awareness and local customer relationships. We believe
managed service providers or MSPs, and channel partners represent an efficient way to sell to smaller customers, as organizations with limited or no IT
departments often rely on MSPs to provide specialized security skills or knowledge. As our business becomes more mature, we believe the revenue
contribution from channel partners and MSPs will continue to increase.
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Expand Our Existing Customer Relationships
We plan to continue cross-selling products and upselling subscription tiers within our existing customer base. Our extensive existing customer base
provides substantial opportunity to expand use of our platform offerings as well as upgrade existing subscriptions to higher tiers. We believe that our
integrated platform and the strength of our customer success program are key to our ability to cross-sell and upsell to our existing customers. We plan to
create new adjacencies and use cases through investments in our technology and platform and customer success personnel to retain existing customers and
drive increased product attachment rates.
Invest in Our Platform and Content
We believe that continued investment in our technology platform and content is important to our ability to maintain and extend our market leadership.
We invest in technology and development activities to continuously strengthen our platform and release additional features and products to the market.
These development efforts stay true to our core principles that the human layer in cybersecurity is important and that the human layer can be addressed
without adding significant complexity to the end user or IT security professional. We believe that our ability to leverage the immense amount of data
collected from our customers’ usage and to incorporate their feedback into our platform and content offerings have contributed to our market-leading
position. We continue to explore methods to monetize our data assets in the future and to integrate customer feedback into future product development
opportunities.
Selectively Pursue Strategic Acquisitions
We plan to pursue strategic acquisitions that we believe will be complementary to our existing platform, enhance our technology and our content, and
increase the value proposition we deliver to our customers. For example, we may pursue acquisitions that we believe will help us add new features,
accelerate customer growth, enter new markets and add talent and expertise to our organization.
Our Platform
The KnowBe4 security awareness platform consists of:
•

Kevin Mitnick Security Awareness Training, or KMSAT, our security awareness training product, which enables continuous assessment of
employees through simulated social engineering attacks across multiple mediums and remediation through real-time delivery of highly engaging
modules that are curated based on relevant and specific risks;

•

Compliance Plus, our compliance training product, which enables organizations to provide their employees with relevant, timely and engaging
compliance content across a broad range of topics from data privacy to diversity, equity and inclusion;

•

PhishER, our SOAR product, which enables security professionals to prioritize and automate security workstreams in response to attacks targeted
at the human layer; and

•

KnowBe4 Compliance Manager, or KCM, our governance, risk and compliance product, which enables organizations to analyze security risk and
automate the management of compliance and audit functions.

All of our products are built on a cloud-based architecture designed to be easy to deploy across organizations of all sizes. We also build machine
learning and artificial intelligence into our products to increase the product’s ability to enable behavioral change and to allow the administration of our
products to be streamlined and efficient.
Our platform features integrated capabilities that are designed to enhance the overall value proposition to our customers and their employees. Through
advanced analytics and risk scoring capabilities, our platform enables customers to proactively identify social engineering risk within their organizations.
When a customer is onboarded, our platform provides a baseline risk assessment based on the performance of individual users in an initial simulated
phishing campaign. Based on the risk assessment, our platform can enable the automatic administration of high quality, effective training aimed at
mitigating identified risk. Organizations are then able to continuously simulate a
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wide array of social engineering attacks, giving users the ability to fail safely, adjust their behavior and learn through action. This continuous cycle creates
an active feedback loop and increases engagement which helps prevent users from reverting to risky behavior.
As users become more effective at identifying and reporting potential social engineering attacks, our orchestration, automation and response
capabilities help security professionals efficiently manage the workstreams associated with user-reported threats. We leverage a vast repository of
proprietary data gathered from user-reported threats that have bypassed infrastructure-based security defenses to evolve our platform, automation
capabilities and security content to reflect the latest threat environment. Our dataset continually expands and becomes more valuable as the number of users
on the platform and the security awareness of those users increase. This greatly enhances our ability to leverage the data derived from our customer base in
improving our platform.
Our platform’s underlying features and capabilities include AI and machine learning, advanced analytics, risk scoring, reporting dashboards and
flexible APIs. Organizations utilize these tools to continuously assess the ongoing risk of social engineering, respond to these threats and ultimately
automate the enterprise’s defense against human-based cyberattacks. We also offer several free tools that provide IT professionals with the ability to
identify and respond to a wide range of social engineering threats as well as to assess general end-user security behaviors. These free tools provide us with
lead generation capabilities to focus on exposing organizations to our platform in a cost-efficient way. The capabilities of these tools are distinct from our
paid products and focus on highlighting the need for effective security awareness.
Our Products
Kevin Mitnick Security Awareness Training (KMSAT)
Our flagship Security Awareness Training product, KMSAT, is named after our Chief Hacking Officer, Kevin Mitnick. Kevin’s history as a hacker and
as a security consultant gave him unique insights into the social engineering techniques that are used by hackers to target employees and gain access to
corporate networks, credentials and information. KMSAT has been recognized by independent industry research firms, including Gartner and Forrester
Research, as a leader in Security Awareness Training.
KMSAT is a “new-school” security awareness product that combines automated phishing and social engineering simulation tests with engaging and
curated content spanning across a variety of mediums, including email, SMS and voice. Our robust machine learning and data analytics capabilities allow
our cyberattack simulations and training curriculum to automatically adapt to learner needs. We have developed advanced technological features including
a full randomization feature that simulates the real world – every employee receives a random template at a random time, designed to eliminate the
“prairie-dog effect” which occurs when co-workers alert each other of a test. Our patented Smart Groups feature allows organizations to categorize
employees based on dynamic or custom groupings to tailor phishing campaigns, training assignments and analytical reporting. The data analysis
capabilities offered by our Advanced Reporting features allow organizations to review the outcomes of social engineering and training campaigns across
several dimensions and use enterprise-grade APIs to allow for customization of reports, integration with other business systems and ease of executive
reporting.
We have also developed a machine learning engine that provides administrators with training recommendations based on the results of simulated social
engineering tests and users’ risk scores. Our Virtual Risk Officer ingests and calculates data across a multitude of sources, evaluates the data using machine
learning and provides dynamic Risk Scores — assigned to users, groups and organizations as a whole — empowering customers to make data-driven
decisions. Calculated using both internal and external factors, including training history, simulation history, breach data and job function, the Risk Score is
designed to measure how likely the user is to be targeted with a phishing or social engineering attack, how they would react to these types of events and
how severe the consequences would be if they fell for an attack. The user Risk Score dashboard is continually updated to reflect the users’ completion of
training and responses to simulated phishing emails, with the goal of providing an accurate view of the individual’s and organization’s overall susceptibility
to social engineering attacks over time.
We believe we offer the world’s largest library of security awareness training with over a thousand items of content, including interactive modules,
videos, games, posters and newsletters. Our content library is constantly
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being updated with new materials created based on the latest social engineering tactics. Our training portal is intuitive and easy to use, and the production
value of our premium content is comparable to that of a TV series or film.
KMSAT is offered on a SaaS subscription basis to serve the varying needs of our diverse customer base, from small businesses to large enterprises. We
offer a range of subscription tiers at different pricing levels, which provide access to varying levels of functionality and content. Our basic tiers – Silver and
Gold – offer access to features that are essential to an organization’s security awareness needs, including unlimited simulated social engineering tests, basic
training content, machine learning-based individual security risk scoring and access to add-on features such as the Phish Alert button and phishing email
reply tracking. Our Platinum tier provides users access to advanced reporting capabilities, such as reporting APIs and user event APIs, as well as advanced
administrative functions, such as Smart Groups and Security Roles that help manage users, groups and various security roles within organizations. Our
Platinum users also receive priority-level customer support. Our Diamond tier is our most popular subscription tier and includes access to our Artificial
Intelligence-driven Agent, AIDA™, and additional pieces of premium content, including our award-winning The Inside Man series. The vast majority of
our KMSAT customers subscribe to our Platinum and Diamond tiers.
Compliance Plus
The Compliance Plus product brings the “new-school” approach we pioneered with security awareness into the compliance market. Compliance Plus
provides organizations’ employees with relevant and engaging content as well as training modules that address compliance topics ranging from data
privacy to business ethics to diversity, equity and inclusion. Compliance Plus is accessible through the existing KnowBe4 platform which allows
administrators access to robust, existing customization and automation features, such as automatic enrollment and advanced reporting. Additionally, we
believe the Compliance Plus product will bring valuable behavioral data to our already data-rich platform, enabling organizations to further focus on
mitigating risks presented by their employees. Compliance Plus is offered as a subscription that is paired with a customer’s new or existing KMSAT
subscription.
PhishER
PhishER was created to help security administrators deal with the influx of user-reported social engineering attacks from an employee base that was
made increasingly knowledgeable with KMSAT. PhishER allows the IT security team to analyze suspected attacks that employees report by clicking the
Phish Alert Button, or PAB, within their email applications. PhishER integrates with major email platforms and related mobile applications, including
Microsoft Outlook, Office 365 and G Suite. PhishER continues the remediation work-cycle by providing security incident response teams with a powerful
platform to analyze reported emails and respond to threats faster and more effectively.
We designed PhishER to give security teams the ability to evaluate reported threats by using standard prioritization rules embedded in the platform or
by creating custom rules to more closely align to their individual organization’s needs. These rules are applied to reported threats to automatically
categorize them into “Emergency Rooms.” PhishER Emergency Rooms are built into the platform to show security teams pre-filtered views of reported
messages, allowing drill down capabilities to take bulk actions on groups of messages. PhishER leverages our PhishML machine learning engine to
analyze, categorize, evaluate threat levels and respond to each reported threat.
A key to the success of PhishER is that the emails used to train PhishML have already made it through email filters and security gateways to land in
the end-users’ inboxes. This means that the machine learning model is being fed a unique stream of data that other security measures have failed to address,
thereby improving the model’s accuracy and allowing more automated prioritization and decisioning. If an email is determined to be a threat, PhishER
searches and, if directed, quarantines similar messages across all inboxes in the organization. Matching messages present in other users’ inboxes are then
queued for further analysis, quarantine, or permanent deletion via our PhishRIP feature, which seamlessly integrates with major email platforms. If the
user-reported email is determined to be safe and legitimate, it can be returned to the user. We believe the PhishER platform allows the IT Security team to
close-the-loop on social engineering with the end-user and protect the organization.
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KnowBe4 Compliance Manager (KCM)
KCM was designed to help our customers save time and resources by providing an intuitive user interface with streamlined workflows that enables
visibility into the ongoing audit and compliance processes at all levels of the business. To further simplify the user experience, we developed workflow
templates that are applicable to a variety of common compliance needs, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA),
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS), among others. These templates, along with the
ability for users to create their own custom workflows, allow the KCM product to easily scale across a variety of different compliance needs and programs.
A recent addition to the KCM product is the Vendor Risk Management module, which allows our customers to centralize their vendor management
process. This includes the onboarding of new vendors in a streamlined manner and tracking a vendor’s compliance with policies and procedures throughout
the vendor lifecycle. Additionally, KCM dashboards have been specifically designed with automated reminders to equip users with the tool in the timely
completion and tracking of compliance activities.
Product Pipeline
Our current product pipeline includes Security Coach, our future product that will incorporate technology gained through the SecurityAdvisor
acquisition to address human behavior risks through HDR. Security Coach will utilize a cloud interface to download and aggregate security alerts from our
customers’ existing security products, analyze those alerts and provide actionable messages to users through standard email and messaging applications.
These messages are designed to address insecure behaviors in real-time. Additionally, our product code-named PasswordIQ will be used to mitigate risk
related to password hygiene issues, such as weak or breached passwords. This product will monitor security risks detected with users’ passwords, organize
this risk data on a dashboard and facilitate automatic employee training based on the risks identified.
Free Tools
As part of our go-to-market strategy, we offer a robust set of free tools that add value to our customers and help generate leads for our sales teams. Our
free tools help users assess their security vulnerabilities and protect themselves against emerging security threats and challenges. Our strategy is to leverage
the free tools as our lead generation engine to drive awareness, increase brand exposure and convert more users to long-term paying customers on our core
products. Our free tools also provide important usage data and user feedback for our new product development. Oftentimes, we convert free tools into paid
products after adding more functionalities. Our free tools include phishing tools, password tools, email security tools and other security awareness training
tools. These tools are designed help organizations assess their vulnerability to various formats of phishing attacks, benchmark their security awareness
levels, evaluate password-related risks, assess email-related security threats and help IT teams create and deploy security awareness programs.
Competition
We operate within the broader cybersecurity market and we believe we are one of the only companies that is primarily focused on the human layer of
cybersecurity. The security awareness market is largely a greenfield market. Certain larger enterprise providers attempt to address the security awareness
market through their own infrastructure-centric product offerings; however, these offerings are often tied to other products within their portfolio and do not
focus on changing human behavior. While there are some smaller security awareness focused companies in the market, none have grown to a meaningful
scale to be considered a material competitor.
We believe that we compete primarily on the following factors:
•

our ability to provide an integrated platform for organizations to assess, monitor and mitigate the persistent threat of social engineering;

•

the incorporation of artificial intelligence, machine learning, automation and integrations into our platform;

•

the overall strength of our sales, marketing and channel relationships;
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•

our brand awareness and reputation within the market;

•

the perceived value of our products relative to the subscription cost;

•

the quality and breadth of our content offerings; and

•

our ability to provide a seamless customer experience for both IT personnel and individual users of our platform within the organization.

Although certain of our competitors may enjoy greater resources and recognition and customer relationships outside of security awareness, we believe
that we compete favorably within our market with respect to these factors.
Customers
We define a customer as a separate and distinct buying entity, such as a company, an educational or government institution, or a distinct business unit
of a large company that has an active contract with us to access our platform. As security awareness is a fundamental need for all organizations, we
represent virtually all industry verticals. We have experienced success in industries where cybersecurity is of particular importance, such as financial
services, technology, professional services, healthcare and the public sector. Additionally, we have received Federal Risk and Authorization Management
Program, or FedRAMP, authorization to sell our KMSAT product to federal government agencies. We plan to apply for additional FedRAMP certifications
for other products on our platform in the future. None of our customers accounted for more than ten percent of our revenues during the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019. In addition, we do not have any material dependencies on any specific product, service or particular group or groups.
Sales and Marketing
Sales
We operate an inside sales model as well as a network of MSPs and channel partners, both domestically and internationally. Our inside sales
representatives and partners are collectively responsible for our initial customer acquisition. Customers typically deploy our platform to their entire end
user base upon initial subscription. We utilize our team of customer success managers to ensure onboarding to our platform and help drive adoption of
additional features and products. Dedicated pricing specialists are tasked with negotiating customer renewals, along with upselling and cross-selling. Our
cloud-based platform enables our inside sales team to seamlessly upgrade subscription tiers and activate additional products on behalf of customers.
Additionally, we offer transparent and competitive pricing, which we believe translates into an efficient sales cycle.
Marketing
Our marketing strategy is highly focused on demand generation driving our opportunity pipeline. This strategy is intended to be applied broadly across
all organization sizes and industries; however, some verticals like finance, healthcare and manufacturing have been exceptionally receptive. We offer over a
dozen free tools that add value to our customers and help generate leads for our sales teams. Many of these tools integrate directly into our platform to
provide additional layers of intelligence and risk data to our customers. These tools increase our sales velocity and are a testing ground for future paid
products on our platform. Additionally, we run hundreds of webcasts annually, participate in cybersecurity industry events and utilize our product
evangelist team to drive market awareness. We anticipate further building our marketing team and are investing in channel relationships to further penetrate
up-market accounts.
Research and Development
Our research and development team is responsible for the design, development, testing and quality of our cloud-based platform. In addition to
improving on our features and functionality, this team works to ensure that our platform is available, reliable and stable. We invest substantial resources in
research and development to enhance our platform features and functionalities and develop new products designed to expand our presence in the security
awareness market. We believe the timely development of new features and the enhancement of our existing platform
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is essential to maintaining our competitive position. Our research and development team works closely with our customer success team to collect user
feedback to enhance our development process as we continually incorporate suggestions and feedback from our customers into our platform. We also
believe our research and development teams’ focus on developing new products that address the continuously evolving risks of social engineering and
security awareness will help us maintain our market leading position. We utilize an agile development process to deliver numerous releases, fixes and
feature updates each year and capitalize qualifying costs of developing larger scale projects. Our research and development team is primarily based in
Clearwater, Florida, but we continue to build out additional research and development capabilities in certain international jurisdictions who supplement our
core team.
Government Regulation
We are subject to various federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations, including those relating to data privacy, protection and security,
intellectual property, employment and labor, workplace safety, consumer protection, anti-bribery, import and export controls, economic sanctions,
immigration, federal securities, and tax. In addition, we are subject to various laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration, and
performance of contracts with our customers in heavily regulated industries and the public sector, which affect how we and our partners do business with
such customers. Additional laws and regulations relating to these areas likely will be passed in the future, and these or existing laws and regulations may be
interpreted or enforced in new or expanded manners, each of which could result in significant limitations on how we operate our business. New and
evolving laws and regulations, and changes in their enforcement and interpretation, may require changes to our platform, offerings or business practices,
and may significantly increase our compliance costs and otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. As our
business expands to include additional platform functionalities and offerings, and our operations continue to expand internationally, our compliance
requirements and costs may increase, and we may be subject to increased regulatory scrutiny.
See the sections titled “Risk Factors,” including the subsections titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Taxation—
Complying with evolving privacy and other data related laws and requirements may be expensive and force us to make adverse changes to our business,
and failure to comply with such laws and requirements could result in substantial harm to our business,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Governmental
Regulation and Taxation—We are subject to laws and regulations, including governmental export and import controls, sanctions, anti-boycott regulations
and anti-corruption laws that could impair our ability to compete in our markets and subject us to liability if we are not in full compliance with applicable
laws,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Taxation—Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business
could subject us to fines and penalties,” and “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Taxation—Sales to government entities are
subject to a number of challenges and risks” for additional information about the laws and regulations we are subject to and the risks to our business
associated with such laws and regulations.
Intellectual Property
We believe that our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on trademarks, patents, copyrights, trade secrets and
know-how, license agreements, intellectual property assignment agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements and employee nondisclosure and invention assignment agreements to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Though we rely in part upon these legal and contractual
protections, we believe that factors such as the skills and ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent enhancements to our solutions are
larger contributors to our success in the marketplace.
As of December 31, 2021, we had 71 issued patents in the United States, 62 patent applications pending in the United States and 5 patent applications
pending internationally. Our issued patents expire between February 2037 and September 2040, and 3 of our pending patent applications have been
allowed. These patents and patent applications seek to protect our proprietary inventions relevant to our business. We intend to pursue additional
intellectual property protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property
rights, they may not be respected in the future or may be invalidated, circumvented, or challenged. Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large
number of patents and
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frequent claims and related litigation based on allegations of patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We believe that
competitors will try to develop products that are similar to ours and that may infringe our intellectual property rights. Our competitors or other third-parties
may also claim that our security platform and other products infringe their intellectual property rights. In particular, some companies in our industry have
extensive patent portfolios. From time to time, third parties have in the past and may in the future assert claims of infringement, misappropriation and other
violations of intellectual property rights against us or our customers, with whom our agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims.
Successful claims of infringement by a third party could prevent us from offering certain products or features, require us to develop alternate, noninfringing technology, which could require significant time and during which we could be unable to continue to offer our affected products or solutions,
require us to obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, or force us to pay substantial damages, royalties, or other fees.
Human Capital Resources
Our corporate culture is built on the goal of creating an environment where employees feel safe, feel they belong, in an inclusive team environment
where they can rise to their full potential, and deliver their top performance in a sane, fun work environment. We strive to reach this goal by placing a focus
on recruiting team-oriented, hardworking individuals, training those individuals, developing strong teams and creating an organized, efficient workplace.
We believe that retaining employees who consistently contribute to the organization’s success in measurable ways is key to sustaining strong teams. We
drive employee retention through our market-based compensation philosophy and the adoption of a holistic employee benefits package. In addition, our
strong commitment to promoting diversity and inclusion has fostered a highly collaborative and motivated workforce. As of December 31, 2021, we had
1,366 full-time employees, of which 264 were located outside the United States.
Culture and Employee Engagement
We recognize that people are at the heart of our success and we leverage the broad diversity of our teams’ knowledge and identities to build quality
products that reflect the collective experience of our users and surrounding communities. We believe our efforts in managing our workforce have been
effective, as evidenced by recent awards including the 2022 Top Workplaces USA award for our size category, which was based solely on employee
feedback, 2021 Fortune Best Workplaces for Women and Millennials and 2021 Mogul Top 100 Workplaces for D&I Initiatives, among others. We receive
feedback on our culture directly from our employees through our annual, anonymous employee engagement survey. We also monitor external feedback,
such as Glassdoor, where we were named on Glassdoor’s 2021 list of “Best Places to Work”.
Recruitment and Talent Development
As part of our recruiting initiatives, we sponsor several scholarship opportunities, including scholarships focused on increasing the presence of women,
military veterans and other historically underrepresented minorities within the cybersecurity industry. We also sponsor various development programs to
assist with our recruitment efforts including both sales-focused and technical-focused career development programs and internships focused on providing
practical skills. training and relevant work experience.
We believe that a positive onboarding experience is foundational to positive employee engagement and rapid productivity. Our onboarding process is
dedicated to ensuring all employees understand our culture, policies and products. We focus on the continuous education of our entire employee base by
providing opportunities for real-time learning.
Compensation and Benefits
We provide competitive compensation and benefits packages to attract and retain our leading talent, including overall team incentive bonuses and stock
compensation. We also offer a wide range of health and well-being programs designed to meet our employees’ physical and mental needs. We believe fair
pay is essential to our ability to attract and motivate the highly qualified and diverse employees who are at the center of our current and future success.
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Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
We understand the work needed to support and foster a culture of inclusivity and belonging. This is continuous and relies on our three components of
(1) building diverse workforces and the accompanying knowledge bases to support our employees, (2) conquering bias, discrimination and inequity, and (3)
celebrating diversity and all the intersections of identities that make us who we are. Our diversity, equity, and inclusion programs continue to advance a
culture of inclusivity. We have seven employee resource groups or ERGs, including Knowster Parents, Black Knowsters Network, Women in Technology,
LGBTQIA+, LatinX, Asian and Asian Pacific Islanders and the Military and Veterans Resource Group, which are employee-led groups that play a vital
role in building understanding and awareness. The diversity of our workforce is an example of this vision in action. In 2021, females represented 40.6% of
our workforce and approximately 25% of our workforce was made up of underrepresented groups, which we define as employees who identify as Black,
Latinx, Indigenous, Multiracial, Asian, American Indian or Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander.
We have also created four “Start” programs which allow individuals from underrepresented groups or non-traditional backgrounds to transition into
our technical support, customer success and research and development teams. These programs are (1) Jump Start, for high school or GED graduates, (2)
Re-Start, for individuals looking for a career change, (3) New Start, for members of the military transitioning into civilian life, and (4) Code Start, for
individuals interested in engineering careers who do not have traditionally required experience.
Sustainability and Environmental Responsibilities
We take environmental responsibility seriously and are committed to sustainability for the good of our customers, employees and the planet. We are
committed to doing our part to reduce environmental impacts of our business. In 2021, we committed to achieve net zero carbon emissions across our
business by 2040, to increase our use of clean, renewable energy to at least 25% for all of our offices globally by 2025 and to reach an overall annual
average waste diversion rate of 80% in 2022 and 90% by 2023. We also value our role as a good corporate citizen and are dedicated to making a positive
social impact through various employee-led initiatives.
Corporate Information
We were formed as a limited liability company in Delaware in August 2010 under the name SEQRIT, LLC and subsequently changed our name to
KnowBe4, LLC. We then converted into a Delaware corporation under the name KnowBe4, Inc. in January 2016. Our headquarters is located at 33 N.
Garden Avenue, Suite 1200, Clearwater, FL 33755 and our telephone number is (855) 566-9234.
Available Information
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), and all amendments to these filings, can be obtained free of charge from our website at www.knowbe4.com or by contacting our
Investor Relations department at our office address listed above following our filing of any of these reports with the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet
site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.
The contents of these and other websites referenced throughout the filing are not incorporated and do not constitute a part of this filing. Further, the
Company’s references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
We announce material information to the public about us, our products and other matters through a variety of means, including filings with the SEC,
press releases, public conference calls, webcasts, the investor relations section of our website (investors.knowbe4.com), our Twitter account (@KnowBe4)
and our blogs (including blog.knowbe4.com) in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public and for complying with
our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
An investment in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the
other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before deciding whether to invest in our Class A
common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects could be adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could
decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risk Factor Summary
Our business is subject to a number of risks, including those outside of our control, that may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and prospects. These risks are discussed more fully below and include, but are not limited to:
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
•

Our limited operating history including history of losses;

•

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods and could experience difficulties managing our future growth;

•

Our long-term focus on growth;

•

Our ability to attract new customers and retain our existing customers;

•

Failure to effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities or maintain successful relationships with our channel partners;

•

Our exposure to risks related to international operations and plans for future international expansion;

•

A network, systems or data security incident may allow unauthorized access to our network, systems or data or our customer’s data;

•

Our reliance upon Software-as-a-Service, or “SaaS”, technologies from third parties to operate our business;

•

The delayed reflection of new sales in our results due to recognizing revenue over the term of our customer contracts;

•

The application of or changes in complex accounting rules;

• We must maintain an effective system of internal controls over our financial reporting in order to produce timely and accurate financial statements
and comply with applicable regulations;
•

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention;

Risks Related to Our Platform and Products
•

Our ability to develop or acquire new products and/or provide successful updates, enhancements and features to our technology;

•

Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers;

•

Failure of our platform and/or our products to perform properly;
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
•

An exposure to an infringement claim or a claim that results in a significant damage award;

•

Our ability to protect our proprietary rights;

•

Usage of open source software in our products;

•

Usage of third party technology and software in our platform and products;

Risks Related to Government Regulations and Taxation
•

Our failure to comply with evolving data privacy and other data related laws and requirements;

•

Our failure to comply with laws and regulations, including governmental export and import controls, economic sanctions or anti-boycott laws;

•

Adverse changes in tax laws or regulations in the various jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation;

Governance Risks and Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
• The dual-class structure of our common stock, which has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital
stock prior to the completion of our IPO;
•

The volatility of the market price of our Class A common stock;

•

We have no intention of paying dividends in the foreseeable future;

• Potential dilution to our existing stockholders due to the issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, or
our equity incentive and employee stock purchase plans;
Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions
•

Adverse economic conditions or reduced IT security spending; and

•

The unpredictability of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to forecast our revenue and evaluate our business and future prospects.
We have been in existence since 2010 and much of our growth has occurred in recent periods. As a result of our limited operating history, our ability to
forecast our future results of operations and model future growth is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties. We have encountered and will
continue to encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries. Accordingly, we may be unable
to prepare accurate internal financial forecasts or replace anticipated revenue that we do not receive as a result of these risks and uncertainties, and our
results of operations in future reporting periods may be below the expectations of investors. If we do not address these risks successfully, our results of
operations could differ materially from our estimates and forecasts or the expectations of investors, causing our business to suffer and our stock price to
decline.
We have a history of losses and may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
We have incurred net losses in all annual periods since our inception, and we expect we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. We
experienced net losses of $11.8 million, $2.4 million, and $124.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and as of
December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $173.1 million. Because the market for our platform and products has not yet reached widespread
adoption, it is difficult for us to predict our future results of operations. We expect our operating expenses to increase significantly over the next several
years, as we continue to hire additional personnel,
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particularly in sales and marketing, expand our operations and infrastructure, both domestically and internationally, and continue to develop our platform
and products. In addition to the expected costs to grow our business, we also expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses as a
newly public company. If we fail to increase our revenue to offset the increases in our operating expenses, we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the
future.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and if we do not manage our future growth, our business and results of operations will be
adversely affected.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods and we expect to continue to invest broadly across our organization to support our growth.
Although we have experienced rapid growth historically, we may not sustain our current growth rates nor can we assure you that our investments to support
our growth will be successful. The growth and expansion of our business will require us to invest significant financial and operational resources and will
require the continuous dedication of our management team. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently
experienced by rapidly growing companies in evolving industries, including market acceptance of our platform and products, adding new customers,
intense competition and our ability to manage our costs and operating expenses. Our future success will depend in part on our ability to manage our growth
effectively, and if we fail to do so, our ability to ensure uninterrupted operation of our platform and products, comply with the rules and regulations
applicable to our business and adequately address competitive challenges could be impaired. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We believe our long-term value as a company will be greater if we focus on growth, which may negatively impact our profitability in the near term.
Part of our business strategy is to primarily focus on our long-term growth. As a result, our profitability may be lower in the near term than it would be
if our strategy were to maximize short-term profitability. Significant expenditures on sales and marketing efforts, growing our platform and products and
expanding our research and development, each of which we intend to continue to invest in, may not ultimately grow our business or cause long-term
profitability. If we are ultimately unable to achieve profitability at the level anticipated by industry or financial analysts and our stockholders, our stock
price may decline.
If we do not expand our current customer base by attracting new customers and retaining our existing customers our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be harmed.
Since our customers tend to adopt our platform across their entire organization, to increase our revenue and achieve and maintain profitability, we must
expand our customer base by attracting new customers and retaining our existing customers. To attract new customers, we must drive a broader awareness
of the pervasive risks of social engineering. We will continue to invest in our inside sales force complemented by a channel strategy designed to increase
brand awareness and to enable us to reach new territories and acquire new customers. Numerous factors, however, may impede our ability to acquire new
customers, including our failure to recruit talented sales and marketing personnel and to retain and motivate our current sales and marketing personnel, to
develop or expand relationships with effective channel partners and managed service providers, or MSPs, to successfully deploy products for new
customers, to provide quality customer support once deployed and to execute on our marketing strategies.
Further, our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our platform and products after the expiration of their contractual period,
which is typically one to three years, and in the normal course of business, some customers have elected not to renew. In addition, our customers may
renew for fewer products, renew for shorter contract lengths or switch to a lower-cost subscription. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions, we
could incur impairment losses related to our deferred contract acquisition costs. It is difficult to accurately predict long-term customer retention because of
our varied customer base and given the length of our subscription contracts. Our customer retention and expansion may decline or fluctuate as a result of a
number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction with our products, our customer support, our prices and pricing plans, our customers’
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spending levels, mergers and acquisitions involving our customers, competition and deteriorating general economic conditions.
Failure to effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities or maintain successful relationships with our channel partners could
harm our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our products.
Our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our platform and products will depend to a significant extent on
our ability to expand our sales and marketing operations and to maintain successful relationships with our channel partners. We plan to continue expanding
our direct inside sales force and engaging additional channel partners, both domestically and internationally. This expansion will require us to invest
significant financial and other resources and our business will be harmed if our efforts do not generate a corresponding increase in revenue. We may not
achieve anticipated revenue growth from expanding our direct sales force if we are unable to hire and develop talented direct inside sales personnel, if our
new direct inside sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or if we are unable to retain our existing
direct inside sales personnel.
In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on our relationships with our channel partners who we rely on, in addition
to our direct sales force, to sell and support our products. We utilize channel partners to efficiently increase the scale of our marketing and sales efforts and
increase our market penetration to customers who we otherwise might not reach on our own. Our agreements with our channel partners are generally nonexclusive, meaning our channel partners may offer customers competitive products from different companies, and generally allow the channel partner to
terminate its agreements with us for any reason upon 30 days’ notice. For example, some of our channel partners also sell or provide integration and
administration services for our competitors’ products, and if such channel partners devote greater resources to marketing, reselling and supporting
competing products, this could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. If our channel partners do not effectively market and sell
our products, choose to use greater efforts to market and sell their own products or those of others or fail to meet the needs of our customers, our ability to
grow our business, sell our products and maintain our reputation may be adversely affected. The loss of key channel partners, our possible inability to
replace them or the failure to recruit additional channel partners could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. If we are unable to maintain
our relationships with these channel partners, our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows could be adversely affected.
Our international operations and plans for future international expansion expose us to significant risks, and failure to manage those risks could
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We derived 15.9%, 11.9%, and 9.7% of our total revenue from international customers for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. We are continuing to adapt to and develop strategies to address international markets and our growth strategy includes expansion into various
international jurisdictions, but there is no guarantee that such efforts will be successful. We expect that our international activities will continue to grow in
the future, as we continue to pursue opportunities in international markets. These international operations will require significant management attention and
financial resources and are subject to substantial risks, including but not limited to:
•

greater difficulty in negotiating contracts with standard terms, enforcing contracts and managing collections and longer collection periods;

•

higher costs of doing business internationally, including costs incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and equipment for our
international operations;

•

management communication and integration problems resulting from cultural and geographic dispersion;

•

risks associated with trade restrictions and foreign legal requirements, including any importation, certification and localization of our platform and
products that may be required in foreign countries;

•

greater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory practices, tariffs and tax laws and treaties;
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•

compliance with anti-bribery laws;

•

heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements;

•

the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

•

general economic and political conditions or events in these foreign markets, including, but not limited to, sanctioned countries, governments and
industries around the world and other geopolitical uncertainty and instability, such as the ongoing geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions
in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries, and retaliatory actions taken by Russia in response to such
sanctions;

•

foreign exchange controls or tax regulations that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned outside the United States;

•

double taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in the tax laws of the United States or the
foreign jurisdictions in which we operate;

•

unexpected costs for the localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices and regulatory
requirements;

•

requirements to comply with foreign privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations, and the risks and costs of
noncompliance;

•

greater difficulty in identifying, attracting and retaining local qualified personnel, and the costs and expenses associated with such activities;

•

greater difficulty identifying qualified channel partners and maintaining successful relationships with such partners; and

•

differing employment practices and labor relations issues.

As we continue to develop and grow our business globally, our success will depend in large part on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage
these risks. The expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional international markets will require significant management
attention and financial resources. Our failure to successfully manage our international operations and the associated risks could limit the future growth of
our business.
A network, systems or data security incident may allow unauthorized access to our network, systems or data or our customers’ data, harm our
reputation, create additional liability and adversely impact our financial results.
Increasingly, companies are subject to a wide variety of attacks on their networks and systems on an ongoing basis. These attacks include, but are not
limited to, hacking, the use of phishing and other forms of social engineering, attempts to introduce malicious code (such as viruses, ransomware or other
malware) into the systems and networks used in our business, employee or contractor error or intentional acts, including theft or misuse, denial of service
or other brute force attacks, and sophisticated attacks perpetrated by nation-state and nation-state supported actors. Despite significant efforts to create
security barriers to such threats, it is virtually impossible for us to entirely mitigate these risks, in particular, as the frequency and sophistication of
cyberattacks increases. For example, cybersecurity researchers anticipate an increase in cyberattack activity in connection with the Russia’s actions in
Ukraine. The security measures we have integrated into our internal networks and systems, and into our platform and products may not function as
expected or may not be sufficient to protect our internal networks, platform and products against certain attacks. In addition, techniques used to sabotage or
to obtain unauthorized access to networks in which data is stored or through which data is transmitted change frequently and generally are not recognized
until launched against a target. As a result, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate measures to prevent an electronic
intrusion into our networks or systems, unauthorized access to, loss or unavailability of, or unauthorized alteration, use or disclosure of data or other
security breaches or
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incidents. We also may face difficulties or delays in identifying, remediating and responding to attacks and actual or perceived security breaches and
incidents.
Third parties also may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers into disclosing sensitive information such as user names, passwords or
other information or otherwise compromise the security of our networks, electronic systems and/or physical facilities in order to gain access to our data or
our customers’ data, which could result in significant legal and financial exposure, the loss, alteration or compromise of our sensitive or otherwise critical
business information, a loss of confidence in the security of our platform and products, interruptions or malfunctions in our operations, and, ultimately,
harm to our future business prospects and revenue. As a well-known provider of products in the security awareness market, we may be a particularly
attractive target for these and other forms of attacks. Further, with many of our employees and other personnel working remotely, the security risks we and
our service providers face are heightened.
Our customers’ storage and use of data concerning, among others, their employees, contractors, customers and partners is essential to their use of our
platform and products, which stores, transmits and processes customers’ proprietary information and personally identifiable information. If a security
breach or incident compromising the security of customer data were to occur or to be perceived to occur, as a result of third-party action, employee or
contractor error, malfeasance or otherwise, and the confidentiality, integrity or availability of our customers’ data was disrupted or believed to have been
disrupted, we could face claims by and incur significant liability to our customers and to individuals or businesses whose information was being stored by
our customers. In addition, a network, systems or other security breach or incident, whether or not impacting or being perceived to impact the
confidentiality, integrity or availability of our customers’ data, could result in the loss of customers and make it more challenging to acquire new customers.
In addition, security breaches and incidents impacting our platform and products could result in a risk of loss, unavailability or unauthorized access to
or alteration, use, disclosure, or other processing of information maintained on or processed by our platform and products, which, in turn, could lead to
claims, litigation, governmental audits and investigations and possible liability, damage our relationships with our existing customers and have a negative
impact on our ability to attract and retain new customers. These breaches or incidents or any perceived breach or incident, of our employees, contractors,
networks or systems, in particular, because of our position as a security awareness company, may also undermine confidence in our platform or products
and result in damage to our reputation, negative publicity, loss of channel partners, customers and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem and costly
litigation. In addition, a security breach or incident impacting one of our key channel partners or independent software vendors could result in the
exfiltration of confidential corporate information or other data that may provide additional avenues of attack. If a high profile security breach or incident
occurs with respect to another SaaS provider, our customers and potential customers may lose trust in the security of the SaaS business model generally,
which could adversely impact our ability to retain existing customers or attract new ones, potentially causing a negative impact on our business. Any of
these negative outcomes could adversely impact market acceptance of our products and could harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
We may be required to expend significant capital and financial resources to protect against the foregoing threats and to alleviate problems caused by
actual or perceived security breaches or incidents. While we maintain insurance that may cover certain liabilities relating to security breaches or incidents,
subject to applicable deductibles and policy limitations, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all liabilities incurred, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we cannot be certain that insurance coverage will continue to be
available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.
We rely upon SaaS technologies from third parties to operate our business, and interruptions or performance problems with these technologies may
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We rely on hosted SaaS applications from third parties in order to operate critical functions of our business, including platform delivery, enterprise
resource planning, customer relationship management, billing, project management and accounting and financial reporting. If these services become
unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms, our expenses could

21

increase, our ability to manage finances could be interrupted and our processes for managing sales of our platform and products and supporting our
customers could be impaired until equivalent services, if available, are identified, obtained and implemented, all of which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We recognize revenue from subscriptions over the term of our customer contracts, and as such, our reported revenue and related metrics may differ
significantly in a given period, and our revenue in any period may not be indicative of our financial health and future performance.
A substantial majority of our revenue is recognized over the term of our customer contracts. As a result, much of the revenue we report each quarter is
derived from contracts that we entered into with customers in prior periods. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any quarter will not
be fully reflected in revenue or other results of operations in that quarter but will negatively affect our revenue and other results of operations across future
quarters. Any increases in the average term of subscriptions would result in revenue for those contracts being recognized over longer periods of time with
less positive impact on our results of operations in the near term. Accordingly, our revenue in any given period may not be an accurate indicator of our
financial health and future performance.
The market in which we participate is competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be harmed.
The market for our platform and products is rapidly evolving and fragmented, and we expect competition to increase in the future. Although we
believe competitors who specifically attempt to manage the ongoing problem of social engineering are currently limited, a number of companies have
developed, or are developing, products that currently are, or in the future may be, competitive with our offerings. For example, certain larger enterprise
providers, such as Proofpoint, Mimecast and Cofense, all attempt to address human risk through a product offering that is often tied to other products and is
not given a singular focus. Nevertheless, competition continues to increase in the market segments in which we operate, and we expect competition to
further increase in the future. Larger competitors with more diverse product and service offerings may reduce the price of products or subscriptions that
compete with ours or may bundle them with other products and subscriptions. These competitive pressures may cause our subscription prices to decline for
a variety of reasons, including competitive pricing pressures, discounts, anticipation of the introduction of new products by competitors or promotional
programs offered by us or our competitors. As a result, as competition in our market increases, it could result in increased pricing pressure, decreased
revenue, increased sales and marketing expenses and loss of market share for us, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations due to a number of factors, including increasing variability in our sales cycles.
These fluctuations make our future results difficult to predict and could cause our results of operations to fall below analyst or investor expectations.
Our quarterly results of operations fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict,
including, but not limited to:
•

the level of demand for our platform and products;

•

the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive landscape of our market;

•

pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;

•

the length and predictability of our sales cycle;

•

seasonal buying patterns for IT spending;

•

errors in forecasting the demand for our products, which could lead to lower revenue, increased costs or both;
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•

increases in and timing of sales and marketing and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain
competitive;

•

credit or other difficulties confronting our channel partners;

•

adverse litigation judgments, settlements or other litigation-related costs;

•

changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy, data protection and security and enforcement by
government regulators, including fines, orders or consent decrees;

•

system failures or actual or perceived security breaches;

•

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

•

costs related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies or intellectual property, including potentially significant amortization costs and
possible write-downs; and

•

general economic conditions in either domestic or international markets, including geopolitical uncertainty and instability, such as the ongoing
geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries, and retaliatory
actions taken by Russia in response to such sanctions.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. As we continue to focus on sales to larger
organizations, we expect our sales cycles to lengthen and become less predictable. You should not rely on our past results as an indicator of our future
performance. The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other metrics for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such
expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits,
including securities class action suits.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls over our financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial
statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq and other applicable securities rules and regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended and anticipate we will continue to expend significant resources,
including accounting-related costs, and provide significant management oversight. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties
encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result
in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls also could adversely affect
the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that we will file with the SEC under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and we are therefore not required
to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for that purpose. As a public company, we are required to
comply with certain rules, which require management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual
management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additionally, our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting until after we are no
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longer an emerging growth company. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is
not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative
effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq
and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Among other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with
respect to our business, financial condition and results of operations and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult,
time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined
in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. In addition, as a public company, we may be subject to stockholder activism, which
can lead to additional substantial costs, distract management and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently
anticipate. As a result of disclosure of information in the filings required of a public company, our business, financial condition and results of operations
will become more visible, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. These new obligations and
constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our
business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We depend on our executive officers and other key employees, the loss of whom could adversely affect our business.
We believe that our success is substantially dependent on our ability to attract, retain and motivate the members of our management team and other key
employees throughout our organization. Although we have entered into employment agreements with our leadership team, our employees, including our
executive officers, work for us on an “at-will” basis, which means they may terminate their employment with us at any time. In particular, we depend on
the services of Stu Sjouwerman, our founder and Chief Executive Officer, who is critical to our future vision and strategic direction. We rely on our
leadership team in the areas of research and development, operations, security, marketing, sales, customer support and general and administrative functions.
If Mr. Sjouwerman or one or more of our key employees or members of our management team resigns or otherwise ceases to provide us with their service,
and if we fail to have in place and execute an effective succession plan for key executives, our business could be harmed.
In addition, because our future success is dependent on our ability to continue to refresh and enhance our library of differentiated security awareness
content and expand our platform features, we are heavily dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite background
and industry experience to drive content creation and product development. As we expand our business domestically and globally, our continued success
will also depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified content development personnel capable of creating localized, culturally relevant security
awareness content, as well as to attract and retain qualified sales, marketing and operational personnel capable of supporting a larger and more diverse
customer base. The loss of the services of a significant number of our content, technology or sales personnel could be disruptive to our content and product
development efforts, which could harm our ability to retain existing customers and to expand our global customer base.
The nature of our business requires the application of complex accounting rules, including revenue and expense recognition rules, and any significant
changes in current rules, or interpretations thereof, could affect our financial statements and results of operations.
The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or the FASB, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting
principles. Recent actions and public
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comments from the FASB and the SEC have been focused on the integrity of financial reporting and internal controls over financial reporting. Many
companies’ accounting policies and practices are being subject to heightened scrutiny by regulators and the public. In addition, the accounting rules and
regulations are continually changing in ways that could materially impact our financial statements. We cannot predict the impact of future changes to
accounting principles or our accounting policies on our financial statements going forward, which could significantly affect our reported financial results
and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of the change. Further, if we were to change our critical accounting
estimates, our results of operations could be significantly affected.
Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.
We may become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims brought by our customers in
connection with commercial disputes or employment claims made by our current or former employees. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may
divert management’s attention and resources, which might seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Insurance might not
cover such claims, might not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims and might not continue to be available on
terms acceptable to us (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements). A claim brought against us that is
uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, potentially harming our business, financial position and results of operations. In addition, we
cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that our
insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.
Acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, or alliances could be difficult to identify, pose integration challenges, divert the attention of
management, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have in the past and may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, joint ventures, products and platform capabilities, or technologies that
we believe could complement or expand our platform and product offerings, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities.
Any such acquisition or investment may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and
pursuing suitable opportunities, whether or not the transactions are completed, and may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures.
Specifically, we may encounter difficulties integrating the businesses, technologies, platform and product capabilities, or operations of any acquired
companies, particularly if the key personnel of an acquired company choose not to work for us, their software is not easily adapted to work with our
platform, or we have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired business due to changes in ownership, management or otherwise. Additionally, any
such transactions that we are able to complete may not result in the synergies or other benefits we had expected to achieve, which could result in
impairment charges that could be substantial. In addition, we may not be able to find and identify desirable acquisition targets or business opportunities or
be successful in entering into an agreement with any particular strategic partner. These transactions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, if the resulting business from such a transaction fails
to meet our expectations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected or we may be exposed to unknown risks or
liabilities.
We may need to raise additional capital to expand our operations and invest in new products, which capital may not be available on terms acceptable to
us, or at all, and which could reduce our ability to compete and could harm our business.
While we expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities, available borrowings under our revolving line of
credit, and unbilled amounts related to contracted non-cancelable subscription agreements, which are not reflected on the balance sheet, will be sufficient to
meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months, retaining or expanding our current levels of
personnel and product offerings may require additional funds. Our failure to raise additional capital or generate the significant capital necessary to expand
our operations, invest in new products or acquire complementary
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businesses and technologies could reduce our ability to compete and could harm our business. Accordingly, we may need to engage in additional equity or
debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership
interests and the market price of our Class A common stock could decline. If we engage in debt financing, the holders of debt may have priority over the
holders of our Class A common stock, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict our operations or our ability to incur additional indebtedness or
to take other actions that would otherwise be in the interests of the debt holders. Any of the above could harm our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Our Revolving Credit Facility contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions that may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise
adversely affect our results of operations.
The terms of our Revolving Credit Facility include a number of covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things,
incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate with other companies or sell substantially all of our assets, pay dividends, make
redemptions and repurchases of stock, make investments, loans and acquisitions, or engage in transactions with affiliates. These terms may restrict our
current and future operations and could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs. In addition, complying with these
covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy, including potential acquisitions, and compete against companies
which are not subject to such restrictions.
A failure by us to comply with the covenants or payment requirements specified in our credit agreement could result in an event of default under the
agreement, which would give the lenders the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans and to declare all borrowings outstanding,
together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. If debt under our Revolving Credit Facility were to be accelerated,
we may not have sufficient cash or be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance the debt or sell sufficient assets to repay the debt, which could
immediately adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations, and financial condition. As of December 31, 2021, there were no amounts
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.
If we fail to enhance our brand cost-effectively, our ability to expand our customer base will be impaired and our business, financial condition and
results of operations may suffer.
We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our
existing and future products and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the importance of brand recognition will
increase as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on
our ability to provide reliable and useful products at competitive prices. In the past, our efforts to build our brand have involved significant expenses. Brand
promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our
brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our
brand, we may fail to attract new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building
efforts, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.
If we cannot maintain our company culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion and focus on execution that we believe
contribute to our success and our business may be harmed.
We believe that our corporate culture has been a contributor to our success, which we believe fosters innovation, teamwork, passion and focus on
building and marketing our platform and products. As we grow and develop the infrastructure of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain our
corporate culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel, innovate and
operate effectively, attract new customers, retain existing customers and execute on our business strategy. Additionally, our productivity and the quality of
our products may be adversely affected if we do not integrate and train our new employees quickly and effectively. Any of these effects could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Platform and Products
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If we are not able to develop or acquire new products and/or provide successful updates, enhancements and features to our technology, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our industry is marked by rapid technological developments and demand for new and enhanced products and features to address the evolving risks
associated with social engineering. In particular, cybersecurity threats are becoming increasingly sophisticated and responsive to the new security measures
designed to thwart them. If we fail to update our products, through internal development or acquisition, to address such threats, our business and reputation
will suffer. Our ability to increase revenue depends in large part on our ability to develop compelling new products to sell to new customers and to crosssell and upsell to our existing customer base. To do so, we must continue to invest in our technology and platform in order to create new adjacencies and
use cases. The success of any new product developments, enhancements, or features that we introduce depends on several factors, including the timely
completion, introduction and market acceptance of such enhancements, features or products and integration with our existing platform and products.
We may not be successful in either developing these modifications and enhancements or in bringing them to market in a timely fashion. Furthermore,
modifications to existing technologies will increase our research and development expenses. If we are unable to successfully enhance our existing products
to meet customer requirements, increase adoption and usage of our products or develop new products, enhancements and features, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be harmed.
Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery of our platform and
products, expose us to litigation and negatively impact our relationships with customers, adversely affecting our business.
We host our platform using Amazon Web Services, or AWS, data centers, a provider of cloud infrastructure services, and, therefore, we are vulnerable
to service interruptions at AWS, which could impact the ability of our customers to access our platform. All of our products reside on hardware in these
locations. Our operations depend on protecting the virtual cloud infrastructure hosted in AWS by maintaining its configuration, architecture and
interconnection specifications, as well as the information stored in these virtual data centers, which third-party internet service providers transmit. Although
we have disaster recovery plans that utilize multiple AWS locations, any incident affecting their infrastructure that may be caused by fire, flood, severe
storm, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices, hacking and other security
attacks, natural disasters, war, criminal acts, military actions, terrorist attacks and other similar events beyond our control could negatively affect the
security or availability of our platform and products. A prolonged AWS service disruption affecting our platform and products for any reason could damage
our reputation with current and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers or otherwise harm our business. We may also incur
significant costs for using alternative equipment or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the AWS services we use.
AWS enables us to order and reserve server capacity in varying amounts and sizes distributed across multiple regions. AWS provides us with
computing and storage capacity pursuant to an agreement that continues until terminated by either party. AWS may terminate the agreement by providing
30 days prior written notice and may, in some cases, terminate the agreement immediately for cause upon notice. In addition, the failure of AWS data
centers or third-party internet service providers to meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform and
products or impede our ability to scale our operations. In the event that our AWS service agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service,
interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to such facilities, we could experience interruptions in access to our platform and products
as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services.
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If our platform and products fail to perform properly, our reputation could be adversely affected and our market share could decline, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our platform and products are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors. In the future we may experience website disruptions,
outages and other performance problems. These problems may be caused by a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors
or negligence, viruses, hacking and other security attacks, fraud, increased resource consumption from expansion or modification to our code and spikes in
customer usage. In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time.
If we do not accurately predict our infrastructure requirements, our existing customers may experience service outages and our operations infrastructure
may fail to keep pace with increased sales, causing new customers to experience delays. We provide service level commitments under our customer
contracts, under which we guarantee specified availability of our platform and products. If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we could be
obligated to provide credits for future service, or face contract termination with refunds of prepaid amounts related to unused subscriptions, which could
harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In light of our historical experience with meeting our service level commitments, we do
not currently have any material liabilities accrued on our balance sheet for these commitments. Additionally, any defects in functionality or that cause
interruptions in the availability of our platform and products could result in:
•

loss or delayed market acceptance and sales;

•

breach of warranty or other contractual claims for damages incurred by customers;

•

loss of customers;

•

diversion of development and customer service resources; and

•

injury to our reputation;

any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the costs incurred in
correcting any material defects or errors might be substantial.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our results of operations may be harmed if we are subject to a protracted infringement claim or a claim that results in a significant damage award.
A key tenet of our security awareness platform and products is the ability for our customers to perform simulated social engineering attacks on their
users as part of our comprehensive training program. These social engineering attacks, typically in the form of simulated phishing emails, often use actual
third-party names, logos, marks and other content in order to enhance the effectiveness of the simulation. Although we do not believe that the use of such
names, logos, marks and other content for our customers’ internal training purposes infringes upon the trademark rights or other intellectual property rights
of others, some third parties have objected to such use in our training program. These third parties have sent requests or demands to remove their names,
logos, marks and other content from our platform and products, alleging that such use infringes upon their trademark rights and copyrights, creates
actionable claims under state law or causes consumer confusion resulting in harm to their goodwill or reputation.
From time to time, we also register domain names containing typos, third-party names or marks, or variations thereof, to be used in connection with
our simulated phishing emails. We register these domain names to serve a limited and specific purpose, and similar to the above-referenced simulated
phishing emails, we do not believe that the limited manner and purpose in which any such third-party names, marks and other content are used in the
registered domain names infringes upon their trademark rights or intellectual property rights. Some third parties
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have, however, sent a privacy service request or initiated a proceeding to cease use of and/or transfer the domain containing their name, mark or variations
thereof, including intentional typos, that have been resolved. To date, we have taken a case-by-case approach and worked to resolve all brand-owner
demands directly with the individual brand owners. Nonetheless, there is no assurance that legal actions will not result in the future from objecting brand
owners.
Additionally, as our presence in the market expands, we may experience such requests or demands with increasing frequency. Any legal action,
regardless of their merit, may: require us to expend significant financial resources and attention of management and other personnel; result in injunctions
against us that prevent us from using third-party names, logos, marks and other content on our platform and products; or require us to pay monetary fees to
third parties; and/or require transfer of the domain name registrations.
Furthermore, because any legal action would likely involve novel questions of law regarding simulated phishing activities for which there is very little
or no precedent to date, and, because the outcomes of any such actions may depend on questions of laws that vary from state to state, the outcomes of any
such legal actions are uncertain and may ultimately vary widely based on the jurisdictions in which actions are brought. Any such outcomes may adversely
impact our relationship with our customers, including prompting them to discontinue their business relationship with us. From time to time, third parties
have asserted, or may assert, claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights against us or our customers, with
whom our agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims. Successful claims of infringement by a third party may prevent us from offering
certain products or features, or require us to develop alternate non-infringing technology, which may require significant time, during which we may be:
unable to continue offering the affected products or solutions; required to obtain a license that may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all; or forced
to pay substantial damages, royalties, or other fees. The occurrence of any of these results may also materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets, generate reduced
revenue and incur costly litigation to protect our rights.
Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our proprietary information and technology. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights,
trademarks, service marks, trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our proprietary rights. However, the steps we take to
protect our intellectual property may be inadequate. We will not be able to protect our intellectual property if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do
not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Despite the precautions we have implemented, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to
copy our products and use information that we regard as proprietary to create products that compete with ours. Some license provisions protecting against
unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of our products may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries.
Further, the laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States or the mechanisms for enforcement
of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to the
unauthorized use of our products and proprietary information may increase. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties
from infringing upon or misappropriating our technology and intellectual property.
We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. Although we enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements with the parties with
whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances, no assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in controlling access to, and
distribution of, our products and proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our competitors from independently developing
technologies that may be substantially equivalent or superior to our products.
To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation may be costly, time consuming and
distracting to management and may result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our
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intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property
rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our
management’s attention and resources, may delay further sales, introductions of new products or implementation of existing products; may impair the
functionality of our products; or may result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our products that may injure our reputation. In
addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new products, and we cannot assure customers we
will be able to license that technology on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and our inability to license this technology may harm our ability to
compete.
We use open source software in our products, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our products and subject us to litigation or other actions.
We use open source software in our products and may use more open source software in the future. From time to time, there have been claims
challenging the ownership of open source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their products. However, the terms of
many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses may be construed in a way that could impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming
ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, potentially resulting in negative effects on our
business, financial condition and results of operations or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our products. In
addition, if we were to combine our proprietary software products with certain open source software in a certain manner, we may, under their specific terms
and conditions, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar products
with less development effort and time. If we inappropriately use open source software, or if the license terms for open source software that we use should
change, we may be required to re-engineer our products, incur additional costs, discontinue the sale of some or all of our products or take other remedial
actions.
In addition to risks related to open source software license requirements, usage of open source software may lead to greater risks than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurances of title or controls as to the origin of the software. Many
of the risks associated with usage of open source software, such as the lack of warranties or assurances of title, cannot be eliminated, and could, if not
properly addressed, negatively affect our business. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening
requests from our development organizations for the use of open source software, but we cannot guarantee that all of our use of open source software is in a
manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures, or will not subject us to liability.
We incorporate technology from third parties into our platform and products, and our inability to obtain or maintain rights to the technology could
harm our business.
We license software and other technology from third parties that incorporate into, or integrate with, our platform and products. We cannot be certain
that our licensors are not infringing on the intellectual property rights of third parties or that our licensors have sufficient rights to the licensed intellectual
property in all jurisdictions in which we may offer our platform and products. In addition, many licenses are non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors
may have access to the same technology licensed to us. Some of our agreements with our licensors may be terminated for convenience by them, or
otherwise provide for a limited term. If we are unable to continue to license any of this technology for any reason, our ability to develop and offer our
platform and products containing such technology may be negatively impacted. Similarly, if we are unable to license necessary technology from third
parties now or in the future, we may be forced to acquire or develop an alternative technology, which we may be unable to do in a commercially feasible
manner, or at all, and we may be required to use alternative technology of lower quality or performance standards. This may limit or delay our ability to
offer new or competitive products and increase our costs of production. As a result, our business and results of operations may be significantly harmed.
Additionally, as part of our longer-term strategy, we plan to open our platform and products to third-party developers and applications to further extend
their functionality. We cannot be certain that such efforts to grow our business will be successful.
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Risks Related to Governmental Regulations and Taxation
Complying with evolving privacy and other data related laws and requirements may be expensive and force us to make adverse changes to our business,
and failure to comply with such laws and requirements could result in substantial harm to our business.
Laws and regulations governing data privacy and protection, information security, the use of the Internet as a commercial medium, the use of data in
artificial intelligence and machine learning and data sovereignty requirements are rapidly evolving, extensive, complex and include inconsistencies and
uncertainties. Examples of recent and anticipated developments that have or could impact our business include the following:
•

The General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, took effect in May 2018 and established several requirements applicable to the handling of
personal data of individuals in the European Economic Area, or EEA. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements
on companies that process personal data, including imposing accountability obligations requiring data controllers and processors to maintain a
record of their data processing and implement policies and procedures as part of its mandated privacy governance framework. It also requires data
controllers to be transparent and disclose to data subjects how their personal data will be used; establishes rights for individuals with respect to
their personal data, including rights of access and deletion in certain circumstances; imposes limitations on retention of personal data; establishes
data breach notification requirements; and sets standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent for certain data
processing activities.

•

The GDPR and substantially equivalent legislation in the United Kingdom, or UK, also imposes strict rules applied to the transfer of personal data
out of the EEA, Switzerland and the UK to third countries deemed to lack adequate privacy protections (including the United States), unless an
appropriate safeguard is implemented, such as the Standard Contractual Clauses, or SCCs, approved by the European Commission, or a derogation
applies. The Court of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, deemed the SCCs valid in July 2020. However, the CJEU ruled that transfers made
pursuant to the SCCs and other alternative transfer mechanisms must be analyzed on a case-by-case basis to ensure European Union, or EU,
standards of data protection are met in the jurisdiction where the data importer is based, and concerns remain about the potential for the SCCs and
other mechanisms to face additional challenges. European regulators have issued guidance following the CJEU ruling that imposes significant new
requirements on transferring data outside the EEA and Switzerland, including under an approved transfer mechanism. On June 4, 2021, the
European Commission issued new SCCs that account for the CJEU’s decision and other developments, which need to be put in place for new
contracts involving the transfer of personal data from the EEA and Switzerland to a third country as of September 27, 2021. Complying with these
obligations and applicable guidance could be expensive and time consuming, may require us to modify our data handling policies and procedures
and undertake additional measures, including new contractual negotiations, and may ultimately prevent or restrict us from transferring personal
data outside the EEA and the UK, which could cause significant business disruption.

•

The EU has proposed the Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications, or ePrivacy Regulation, which, if adopted, would impose new
obligations on the use of personal data in the context of electronic communications, particularly with respect to online tracking technologies and
direct marketing.

•

In January 2020, the UK formally left the EU. The UK’s withdrawal from the EU, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” became effective December
31, 2020. The UK has implemented legislation that implements and complements the GDPR, and which provides for the implementation of GDPR
requirements, including those related to cross-border data transfer. In June 2021, the European Commission announced a decision of “adequacy”
concluding that the UK ensures an equivalent level of data protection to the GDPR, which provides some relief regarding the legality of continued
personal data flows from the EEA to the UK. Some uncertainty remains, however, as this adequacy determination must be renewed after four
years and may be modified or revoked in the interim. Further, on February 2, 2022, the UK’s Information Commissioner’s Office issued new
standard contractual clauses to support personal data transfers out of the UK. If approved by the UK Parliament, these standard contractual clauses
will become effective March 21, 2022. We cannot
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predict how UK data protection laws or regulations may develop in the longer term, including those relating to data transfers. We may be required
to take steps to ensure the lawfulness of our data transfers and otherwise to address UK data protection law.
•

In January 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, took effect, providing California residents increased privacy rights and
protections, including the ability to opt out of sales of their personal information. The CCPA went into effect in January 2020 and became
enforceable by the California Attorney General in July 2020. Among other things, the CCPA requires covered companies to provide new
disclosures to California consumers and afford such consumers new rights with respect to their personal information, including the right to request
deletion of their personal information, the right to receive the personal information on record for them, the right to know what categories of
personal information generally are maintained about them, as well as the right to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA
provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal
information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation.

•

California voters also approved a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, in the November 3, 2020 election. Effective
January 1, 2023, the CPRA imposes additional obligations on covered companies and will significantly modify the CCPA, including by expanding
consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will have authority to
implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. The effects of the CCPA and the CPRA are significant. They increase our potential exposure to
regulatory enforcement and/or litigation and may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices and policies and to incur
substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Other U.S. states are considering, and in certain cases have adopted, similar laws. For
example, in March 2021, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act, and in July 2021, Colorado enacted the Colorado Privacy
Act. These both are comprehensive privacy statutes that will become effective in 2023 and share similarities with the CCPA, the CPRA and
legislation proposed in other states. Recently proposed and enacted state privacy legislation beyond the CCPA and CPRA may add additional
complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of resources in compliance programs,
impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business practices
and policies.

Global governments are considering implementing regulations that would restrict cross-border data processing. Additionally, global governments are
considering regulating artificial intelligence, machine learning and other technologies. These and other similar legal and regulatory developments could
contribute to legal and economic uncertainty, affect how we design, market, sell and operate our platform and products, how our customers process and
share data, how we process, transfer and use data, which could negatively impact demand for our platform and products. We may incur substantial costs to
comply with such laws and regulations, to meet the demands of our customers relating to their own compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to
establish and maintain internal policies, self-certifications, and third-party certifications supporting our compliance programs. Our customers may bind us
to certain obligations pursuant to the GDPR or other laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, and we may be or
become bound by other contractual obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security. We may be required to expend substantial
resources to comply with these obligations. In addition, any actual or perceived non-compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, certifications or
contractual or other actual or asserted obligations could result in proceedings, investigations or claims against us by regulatory authorities, customers or
others, leading to reputational harm, significant fines, litigation costs and damages. For example, if regulators assert that we have failed to comply with the
GDPR or the UK’s legislation implementing the GDPR, we may be subject to fines of up to EUR 20 million (or GBP 17.5 million) or 4% of our worldwide
annual revenue, whichever is greater, as well as potential data processing restrictions. Authorities have shown a willingness to impose significant fines and
issue orders preventing the processing of personal data on non-compliant businesses. Moreover, individuals can claim damages resulting from infringement
of the GDPR and other European and UK data protection laws. The GDPR also introduces the right for non-profit organizations to bring claims on behalf
of data subjects. In addition to the foregoing, an actual or alleged
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breach of the GDPR or other applicable laws, regulations or other actual or asserted obligations related to privacy, data protection or information security
could result in regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders to change our use of data, enforcement notices, or potential civil claims including
class action type litigation. All of these impacts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We publish privacy policies and other documentation regarding our collection, processing, use and disclosure of personal information, credit card
information or other confidential information. Although we endeavor to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection,
and information security, and our related policies, certifications, representations and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or may be perceived to
have failed to do so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving or maintaining compliance if our employees or service providers
fail to comply with our policies, certifications, representations and documentation. Such actual or perceived failures can subject us to potential claims,
litigation and international, local, state and federal action if they are found or alleged to be deceptive, unfair or to misrepresent our actual practices.
We also collect information about cyber threats from open sources, intermediaries and third parties that we make available to our customers in our
industry publications. While we have implemented certain procedures to facilitate compliance with applicable laws and regulations in connection with the
collection of this information, we cannot assure you that these procedures have been effective or that we, or third parties, many of whom we do not control,
have complied with all laws or regulations in this regard. Failure by our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or
other third parties to comply with applicable laws and regulations in the collection of this information also could have negative consequences to us,
including reputational harm, government investigations and penalties. Although we take precautions to prevent our information collection practices and
services from being provided in violation of such laws, our information collection practices and services may have been in the past, and could in the future
be, provided in violation of such laws.
We are subject to laws and regulations, including governmental export and import controls, sanctions, anti-boycott regulations and anti-corruption
laws that could impair our ability to compete in our markets and subject us to liability if we are not in full compliance with applicable laws.
We are subject to laws and regulations, including governmental export controls, that could subject us to liability or impair our ability to compete in our
markets. Our products are subject to U.S. export controls, including the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations, and we and
our employees, representatives, contractors, agents, intermediaries and other third parties are also subject to various economic and trade sanctions
regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic
sanctions prohibit the export and provision of certain cloud-based solutions to, and other transactions and dealings with, countries, governments, entities
and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions.
In connection with our March 1, 2021 acquisition of MediaPro Holdings, LLC, we identified potential violations related to limited dealings by
MediaPro Holdings, LLC in 2016 with Sudatel, a Sudanese telecommunications and internet service provider. As a condition of closing, MediaPro
Holdings, LLC filed voluntary self-disclosures with the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) and the Office of Antiboycott Compliance (“OAC”).
OFAC issued us a cautionary letter but did not pursue any penalties or take enforcement action. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the
OAC case is pending. Although we have technical controls, policies and procedures in place designed to ensure our compliance, there is no guarantee that
we will not inadvertently provide our products and services, including our publicly available online free tools, to persons targeted by U.S. sanctions, despite
our reasonable efforts to prevent it.
If we or our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties fail to comply with these laws and
regulations, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export privileges and fines. We may also be adversely affected
through reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets, government investigations or otherwise. Obtaining the necessary authorizations including any
required license for a particular transaction may be time-consuming, is not guaranteed and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.
Various countries regulate the export and import of certain encryption technology, including through export and import permit and license
requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products
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or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our products in those countries. Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations
may create delays in the introduction of our products into international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our
products globally or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries, governments, entities or persons altogether. Any
change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the
countries, governments, entities or persons or technologies targeted by such regulations could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased
ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential customers with international operations. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our
ability to export or sell our products would likely adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are also subject to the FCPA, Bribery Act and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws in the United States and
other countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, which have been enforced aggressively and are interpreted broadly,
prohibit companies and their employees, agents, intermediaries and other third parties from promising, authorizing, making or offering improper payments
or other benefits to government officials and others in the private sector. We leverage third parties, including intermediaries, agents and channel partners, to
conduct our business in the United States and abroad to sell subscriptions to our products and to collect information about cyber threats. We and these third
parties may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may be
held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party business partners and intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors,
channel partners, agents, intermediaries and other third parties, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. While we have policies and
procedures to address compliance with the FCPA, Bribery Act and other anti-corruption, sanctions, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws,
we cannot assure you that they will be effective, or that all of our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other
third parties have taken, or will not take, actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. As we
increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. Noncompliance with these laws could subject us to investigations,
severe criminal or civil sanctions, settlements, prosecution, loss of export privileges, suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracts, other
enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, whistleblower complaints,
adverse media coverage and other consequences. Any investigations, actions or sanctions could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business could subject us to fines and penalties.
Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including, but not limited to, agencies
responsible for monitoring and enforcing privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations, employment and labor laws, workplace
safety, product safety, environmental laws, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws, import and export controls, economic sanctions, federal securities
laws and tax laws and regulations. In certain jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be more stringent than in the United States. Actual or alleged
noncompliance by us, our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties with applicable regulations
or requirements could subject us to:
•

investigations, enforcement actions and sanctions;

•

mandatory changes to our platform, products or business practices;

•

disgorgement of profits, fines and damages;

•

civil and criminal penalties or injunctions;

•

claims for damages by our customers or channel partners;

•

termination of contracts;
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•

loss of intellectual property rights; and

•

temporary or permanent debarment from sales to government organizations.

In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase in
professional fees. If any governmental sanctions or enforcement actions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
In addition, we endeavor to properly classify employees as exempt versus non-exempt under applicable law. Although there are no pending or
threatened material claims or investigations against us asserting that some employees are improperly classified as exempt, the possibility exists that some
of our current or former employees could have been incorrectly classified as exempt employees.
Sales to government entities are subject to a number of challenges and risks.
A number of our customers are U.S., state or foreign government entities. Such entities may demand contract terms that are less favorable than
standard arrangements with private sector customers and may have statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts with us or our partners
for convenience or for other reasons. Generally, the laws, regulations and policies that govern our ability to contract with government customers impose
added costs on our business, and failure by us, our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties to
comply with applicable regulations and requirements could lead to claims for damages, penalties, termination of contracts, loss of exclusive rights in our
intellectual property and temporary suspension or permanent debarment from government contracting. Any such damages, penalties, disruptions or
limitations in our ability to do business with the public sector could result in reduced sales of our products, reputational damage, penalties and other
sanctions, any of which could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, as a vendor for government entities, we must comply with laws, regulations and policies governing such governmental bodies, including
those related to their cybersecurity practices. For example, the State of California Office of Information Security Phishing Exercise Standard (SIMM 5320A), released in October 2020, established specific requirements for California state entities and agencies to coordinate phishing exercises with the
California Department of Technology Office of Information Security and the California Cybersecurity Integration Center and other requirements for
execution. Other states and jurisdictions may adopt versions of this standard or consider other new cybersecurity or data protection measures in the future,
imposing additional compliance burdens on us and our customers.
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender
offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the market price of our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our
company more difficult, including the following:
•

our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms, and directors are only able to be removed from
office for cause;

•

certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation require the approval of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of the
outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class;

•

our dual class common stock structure provides pre-IPO stockholders with the ability to significantly influence the outcome of matters requiring
stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding capital stock;

•

our stockholders are only able to take action at a meeting of stockholders and are not able to take action by written consent for any matter;
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•

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting;

•

vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by our board of directors and not by stockholders;

•

a special meeting of our stockholders may only be called by the chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer or a majority of
our board of directors;

•

certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware;

•

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of
which may be issued without further action by our stockholders; and

•

advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual meeting of
stockholders.

In addition, while we have opted out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation contains similar provisions providing that we may not engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a
three year period following the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
•

prior to such time, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the votes of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding certain shares; or

•

at or subsequent to that time, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 662/3% of the votes of our outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with that person’s affiliates and associates, owns, or within
the previous three years owned, 15% or more of the votes of our outstanding voting stock. For purposes of this provision, “voting stock” means any class or
series of stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that any interested
stockholder who became an interested stockholder prior to our IPO and Mr. Sjouwerman and any of their respective direct or indirect designated transferees
(other than in certain market transfers and gifts) and any group of which such persons are a party do not constitute “interested stockholders” for purposes of
this provision.
Under certain circumstances, this provision will make it more difficult for a person who would be an “interested stockholder” to effect various business
combinations with our company for a three year period. This provision may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with
our board of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if our board of directors approves either the business combination or
the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our
board of directors and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
These provisions, alone or together, could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions
could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate
actions they desire, any of which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our
Class A common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.

36

Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United
States as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary
duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a
claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have
jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware), in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as
defendants. Our amended and restated bylaws further provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving
any complaints asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this
provision. This exclusive forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. This exclusive forum
provision will not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have
exclusive jurisdiction. Further, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ charter documents has been challenged in legal
proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. For example, the Court of Chancery of
the State of Delaware recently determined that a provision stating that U.S. federal district courts are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act is not enforceable. However, this decision may be reviewed and ultimately overturned by the
Delaware Supreme Court. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable
in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
As of December 31, 2021, we had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $59.6 million and $41.8 million, respectively, and we had
a U.S. federal research and development credit carryforward of $2.7 million. Realization of these net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards depends on future income, and there is a risk that our existing carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income
tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
In addition, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a
greater than 50% change (by value) in ownership by “5 percent shareholders” over a rolling three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change
net operating loss carryovers and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research and development credits, to offset its post-change income or taxes may
be limited. We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our
ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially
result in increased future tax liability to us.
Changes in tax laws or regulations in the various tax jurisdictions we are subject to that are applied adversely to us or our customers could increase the
costs of our products and harm our business.
New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time. Those enactments could harm our
domestic and international business operations, and our business and financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or
ordinances could be interpreted, changed,
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modified or applied adversely to us. These events could require us or our customers to pay additional tax amounts on a prospective or retroactive basis, as
well as require us or our customers to pay fines and/or penalties and interest for past amounts deemed to be due. Additionally, new, changed, modified or
newly interpreted or applied tax laws could increase our customers’ and our compliance, operating and other costs, as well as the costs of our products.
Further, these events could decrease the capital we have available to operate our business. Any or all of these events could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Our business may be subject to additional obligations to collect and remit sales tax and other taxes, and we may be subject to tax liability for past sales.
Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to collect additional or past sales tax could harm our business.
States and some local taxing jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject
to varying interpretations that may change over time. In particular, the applicability of sales taxes to our platform and products in various jurisdictions is
unclear. It is possible that we could face sales tax audits and that our liability for these taxes could exceed our estimates as state tax authorities could still
assert that we are obligated to collect additional amounts as taxes from our customers and remit those taxes to those authorities. Liability for past taxes may
also include substantial interest and penalty charges. Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to compel us to collect and remit sales, use
or other taxes, either retroactively, prospectively or both, could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are a multinational organization faced with increasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictions, and we could be obligated to pay additional taxes
in various jurisdictions.
As a multinational organization, we may be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax laws, the
application of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable
tax principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity and results of operations. Furthermore, one or more jurisdictions in which we do not believe we are currently subject to tax
payment, withholding or filing requirements could assert that we are subject to such requirements. Any of these claims or assertions could have a material
impact on us and our financial condition and results of operations.
Governance Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital stock prior to
the completion of our initial public offering (IPO), which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change
in control.
Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock, has one vote per share. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio
between our Class B common stock and Class A common stock, as of December 31, 2021 the holders of our Class B common stock collectively held
approximately 94.2% of the combined voting power of our outstanding capital and will therefore, if acting together, be able to control all matters submitted
to our stockholders for approval until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the filing and effectiveness of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or the affirmative vote of the holders of 66-2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding Class B common stock. This concentrated control
will limit or preclude a potential investor’s ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval.
In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one
of our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of shares of our Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to
limited exceptions, including but not limited to, transfers effected for estate planning purposes and transfers among affiliates, to the extent the transferee
continues to remain an affiliate. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of
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increasing the relative voting power of those individual holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our Class A common stock could be subject to fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control
and could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our Class A common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the market price of our
Class A common stock include the following:
•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

•

volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;

•

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;

•

sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders;

•

failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow our company or our
failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or our failure to meet those projections;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new offerings or platform features;

•

the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

•

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

•

short selling of our Class A common stock or related derivative securities;

•

actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;

•

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;

•

announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, offerings or technologies by us or our competitors;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;

•

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

•

system failures or actual or perceived privacy or security incidents;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;

•

any significant change in our management; and

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, the stock market has experienced substantial price and volume volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline. Furthermore, the trading price
of our Class A common stock may be adversely affected by third-parties trying to drive down the price. In addition, in the past, following periods of
volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action
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litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, would result in substantial costs and a diversion of our
management’s attention and resources.
We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various
requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our
periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an
emerging growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company upon the earliest to occur of: (i) the first fiscal year following the fifth
anniversary of our initial public offering; (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenue is $1.07 billion or more; (iii) the date on which we have,
during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; or (iv) the date we qualify as a “large accelerated
filer,” which means the end of any fiscal year in which the market value of our Class A common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of
the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive because we may rely on
these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our Class A common stock adversely, the market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock
could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. The analysts’ estimates are based upon their own opinions and are often different from our estimates or
expectations. If any of the analysts who cover us change their recommendation regarding our Class A common stock adversely, provide more favorable
relative recommendations about our competitors or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the price of our securities would likely
decline. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us
regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets and demand for our securities could decrease, which could cause the price and trading volume of
our Class A common stock to decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. As a result, stockholders
must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all other
stockholders.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, up to 500,000,000
shares of Class B common stock and up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board of
directors. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, we may issue shares of Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares
of our Class A common stock from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition, investment, our equity incentive plans, or otherwise. Any such
issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.
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We cannot predict the impact our dual class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.
We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A common stock or in adverse
publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures
in certain of their indexes. In July 2017, FTSE Russell and Standard & Poor’s announced that they would cease to allow most newly public companies
utilizing dual or multi-class capital structures to be included in their indices. Affected indices include the Russell 2000 and the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400
and S&P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S&P Composite 1500. Under these policies, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible
for inclusion in certain indices, and as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track those
indices will not be investing in our stock. Because of our dual class structure, we will likely be excluded from certain of these indexes and we cannot assure
you that other stock indexes will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that seek to track certain
indexes, exclusion from stock indexes would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A common stock less attractive
to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.
Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions
Adverse economic conditions and reduced IT security spending may adversely impact our revenue and profitability.
Our operations and performance depend in part on worldwide economic conditions and the impact these conditions have on levels of spending on IT
networking and security solutions. Our business depends on the overall demand for these solutions and on the economic health and general willingness of
our current and prospective customers to purchase our platform and products. Weak economic conditions, including conditions resulting from financial and
credit market fluctuations, changes in economic policy, trade uncertainty, including changes in tariffs, sanctions, international treaties and other trade
restrictions, the occurrence of a natural disaster or global public health crisis, or armed conflicts, such as the ongoing geopolitical tensions related to
Russia’s actions in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the U.S. and other countries, and retaliatory actions taken by Russia in response to such
sanctions, and a reduction in IT security spending could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in a
number of ways, including by reducing sales, lengthening sales cycles and lowering prices for our platform and products.
We are unable to predict with certainty the extent to which the global COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact our business, financial condition or
results of operations.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate its impact have caused social and economic disruption and financial market volatility.
Concerns over the ultimate economic impact of COVID-19 have caused and may continue to cause extreme volatility in financial and other capital markets,
which may adversely affect our stock price and our ability to access capital markets in the future.
We believe that the conditions caused by the pandemic have not significantly affected demand for our platform and products; therefore, although the
COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to experience, in some cases, longer sales cycles and an increase in certain prospective and current customers seeking
lower prices or other more favorable contract terms, we do not believe these developments have been substantial enough to cause a significantly negative
impact on our results of operations. Additionally, we have not seen significant negative impacts on collections of accounts receivable or attrition rates of
our customers. Conversely, the long term work-from-home policies, which have stemmed from the COVID-19 pandemic, have resulted in employees
accessing their companies’ systems remotely, which has increased cybersecurity, privacy and data protection risks for these companies and may lead to
heightened interest in our platform and products. There is no assurance that the levels of interest, demand and use of our platform and products will
continue or will not decrease in the future. Any such decrease could have an adverse effect on our growth and the success of our platform and products.
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We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Today, our international contracts are sometimes denominated in local currencies; however, the majority of our international costs are denominated in
local currencies. Over time, an increasing portion of our international contracts may be denominated in local currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value
of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may affect our results of operations when translated into U.S. dollars. We do not currently engage in currency
hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. However, in the future, we may use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency
forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not
offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are
in place. Moreover, the use of hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.
Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.
Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may cause damage or disruption to our operations, international commerce and the global economy, and
thus could harm our business. We have a large employee presence in Clearwater, Florida and the east coast of the United States is often subject to seasonal
hurricanes. In the event of a major hurricane, earthquake or other catastrophic event such as fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, cyber-attack, acts
of war, including Russia’s actions in Ukraine, or terrorist attack, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure system interruptions,
reputational harm, delays in our application development, lengthy interruptions in our products, breaches of data security and loss, alteration or
compromise of critical data, all of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the insurance we maintain may
not be adequate to cover our losses resulting from disasters or other business interruptions.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our corporate headquarters is located in the Tampa Bay, Florida area, where we currently lease approximately 154,300 square feet of space under lease
agreements that expire between 2022 and 2027. We also maintain offices in multiple international locations, including Australia, Brazil, Germany, Japan,
the Netherlands, Norway, Singapore, South Africa, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom. We lease all of our offices and do not own any real
property. We expect to add additional office space as we grow our employee base and expand geographically. We believe that our offices are adequate to
meet our needs for the immediate future and that, should it be needed, suitable additional space will be available to accommodate expansion of our
operations.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition, from time to time, third parties may
assert intellectual property infringement claims against us in the form of letters and other forms of communication. As of the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K , we are not a party to any litigation the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate be reasonably
expected to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, prospects, cash flows, financial position, or brand.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Part II
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Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock
Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, or Nasdaq, under the symbol “KNBE” since April 26, 2021. Prior to that
date, there was no public market for our Class A common stock. There is no public market for our Class B common stock.
Holders of Record
As of March 4, 2022, we had 45 and 49 holders of record of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, respectively. Because many of our
shares of Class A common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of
beneficial owners of our Class A common stock represented by these holders.
Dividend Policy
We anticipate that we will retain any earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business. Accordingly, although
we paid a one-time special dividend in the year ended December 31, 2019, we do not expect to pay cash dividends on our Class A common stock or Class
B common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of our Revolving Credit Facility contain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay cash
dividends on our capital stock.
Use of Proceeds
On April 26, 2021, we completed an IPO of our Class A common stock, in which we issued and sold 10,425,000 shares of Class A common stock,
including 1,425,000 shares resulting from the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at an IPO price of $16.00 per share
for net proceeds to the Company of $156.0 million. Upon recording the proceeds from the transaction, we reclassified $2.2 million of offering costs into
stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO. All of the shares issued and sold in our IPO were registered under
the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333‑254518), which was declared effective by the SEC on April 21, 2021.
There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from those disclosed in the final prospectus for our IPO dated as of April
16, 2019 and filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on April 23, 2021.
Stock Performance Graph
The graph below compares the cumulative total return to our shareholders between April 22, 2021 (the date our Class A common stock commenced
trading on the Nasdaq stock exchange) through December 31, 2021 in comparison to Nasdaq Global Select Index and Nasdaq CTA Cybersecurity Index.
The graph assumes $100 was invested in each of our Class A common stock, the Nasdaq Global Select and the Nasdaq CTA Cybersecurity. The
comparisons are based on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to, forecast the future performance of our Class A common stock.
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This performance graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On November 1, 2021, we issued 1,194,957 shares of Class A common stock to SecurityAdvisor Technologies, Inc. (“SecurityAdvisor”) in connection
with our acquisition of SecurityAdvisor for cash and equity consideration.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. [ Reserved ]
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial
information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a
result of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
KnowBe4 has developed the leading security awareness platform enabling organizations to assess, monitor and minimize the ongoing cybersecurity
threat of social engineering attacks. We are pioneering an integrated approach to security awareness that incorporates cloud-based software, machine
learning, artificial intelligence, advanced analytics and insights with engaging content. Our platform is designed to drive awareness, change human
behavior and enable a security-minded culture that results in a reduction of social engineering risks.
KnowBe4 was founded in 2010 by cybersecurity veterans based on the observation that social engineering tactics targeted at the human level often
allowed attackers to bypass and evade security infrastructure defenses. Attackers often use low-cost, high-volume social engineering methods to gain
access to systems during the initial phase of broader, multi-stage cyberattacks that can result in devastating security breaches. Social engineering
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represents a universal cybersecurity risk, as it specifically targets the employees rather than the infrastructure of an organization. As such, social
engineering affects organizations of all sizes and across all industries, regardless of their level of security infrastructure spend.
We began selling our initial product, which was the precursor to our Kevin Mitnick Security Awareness Training product, or KMSAT, in 2011 and
began experiencing more significant market adoption in 2014, which coincides with the emergence of ransomware attacks spread via social engineering
tactics. Our initial product provided the foundation for our future offerings, as it focused on enabling organizations to assess their social engineering risks
and provided security awareness training to mitigate these risks. Over time, we have developed additional functionality to enhance management and risk
assessment capabilities of our platform, as well as additional content to improve the efficacy of our security awareness modules. We later released
KnowBe4 Compliance Manager, or KCM, a product enabling organizations to manage compliance and audit cycles. In December 2018, we released
PhishER, our security orchestration and automation product, that enables security operations teams to prioritize and automate security workstreams in order
to respond to and remediate social engineering attacks. Compliance Plus, our most recent product, was launched in June 2021 and expands our platform to
include compliance training, with relevant and engaging content and training modules addressing compliance topics ranging from data privacy to diversity,
equity and inclusion. We generate substantially all of our revenue from the sale of subscriptions to access our cloud-based platform. Our platform is priced
individually by product then based on the subscription tier and number of subscribed users.
Our platform is designed to be powerful, yet highly scalable, intuitive and easy to deploy, in order to reduce the administrative burden of managing
social engineering risk on security and IT professionals. Customers typically deploy our platform quickly across their entire organization to monitor and
reduce the cybersecurity risk associated with their employees’ behavior. Because our products are designed to change human behavior within the entire
organization, rollout of our products is performed organization-wide at the onset of a contract rather than focused on certain departments or portions of an
organization. We utilize our team of customer success managers to ensure successful adoption and use of our products, while dedicated pricing specialists
are tasked with negotiating customer renewals, along with upselling and cross-selling.
We sell our products to customers of all sizes both directly through our dedicated inside sales teams for enterprise and small and medium businesses
(“SMBs”), and indirectly through channel partners and managed service providers, or MSPs. Our deeply integrated ecosystem of channel partners
significantly expands our market reach and ability to expand our sales efforts. Our inside sales representatives work alongside our network of channel
partners to engage in joint marketing activities. As a result of our ongoing MSP and channel development efforts, our partners have increasingly driven net
new business, particularly in our international markets.
We have established a significant market presence, with more than 47,000 customers as of December 31, 2021, across virtually all industries and
multiple geographies. No single direct customer represented more than 10% of our annual revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Our business has experienced significant growth with total revenue of $246.3 million, $174.9 million and $120.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of the ends of the same periods, we had annual recurring revenue, or ARR, of $285.4 million, $198.4
million and $145.4 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we had net losses of $11.8 million, $2.4 million, and
$124.3 million, respectively, which included $29.3 million, $5.2 million and $118.1 million of stock compensation expense, respectively. See the sections
titled “—Key Business Metrics—Annual Recurring Revenue” for additional information regarding ARR.
We have built our business with a focus on cash flow generation. Our net cash provided by operating activities was $76.8 million, $44.9 million and
$29.7 million and our free cash flow was $71.2 million, $36.7 million and $18.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. See the sections titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures—Free Cash Flow” for additional information regarding free cash flow and for a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.
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Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
Market Adoption and Technology Leadership
Our future success depends in large part on the growth in the market for security awareness which encompasses all products designed to address the
risks of social engineering. Many organizations have yet to deploy technology to address the risks associated with the human layer; as such, we view this
market as a largely greenfield opportunity.
Maintaining our market-leading position in the emerging market for security awareness is a key to our future success. Our position is, in large part,
attributable to the combination of software, content and data analytics on our platform, thoughtful design of our products, prioritization of content
development and a focus on customer service. To maintain our position as a market leader, we intend to continue to innovate our existing product features
and develop new products that complement our existing offerings and further address the ongoing risks of social engineering. Additionally, we plan to
generate training content that is responsive in near real-time to the current threat environment and is localized to the geographies where we plan to expand.
Investment in Customer Acquisition and Retention
Our results of operations depend significantly on our ability to acquire new customers, which we plan to do by continuing to make significant
investments in sales and marketing and brand awareness. Our ability to attract new customers will depend on a number of factors, including our success in
recruiting, training and retaining talented salespeople while scaling our sales and marketing organization and competitive dynamics in our target markets.
We intend to expand both our direct inside sales force and our channel partnerships, with a focus on increasing sales to enterprise customers, which we
define as customers with greater than 1,000 employees. We expect new customer acquisition, which is measured through number of customers and ARR, to
drive significant growth in the near term.
Our potential for growth further depends on our ability to retain existing customers. Our dollar-based net retention rate as of December 31, 2021 was
108.4% representing an increase over our dollar-based net retention rates as of December 31, 2020 of 102.8%. We do not believe our dollar-based net
retention rate as of December 31, 2019 provides a meaningful comparison to more current rates based on the evolution of our product offerings and
customer adoption of our products since that time. We calculate our dollar-based net retention rate as ARR at the end of the current reporting period for
customers who were also active at the end of the same reporting period in the prior year divided by ARR for the same reporting period in the prior year.
Our dollar-based net retention rate measures our ability to increase revenue across our existing customer base through expanded use of our platform, offset
by customers whose subscriptions with us are not renewed or are renewed at a lower amount. We believe the momentum in dollar-based net retention over
prior periods reflects the investments we have made across our platform and within our customer success teams. Our management believes dollar-based net
retention is an indicator of our ability to cross sell our products and has become increasingly important as we have expanded our platform through the
introduction of new products.
We employ a business model centered around offering products that are easy to adopt and have a very short time to value. As of December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, approximately 22.1%, 13.7% and 7.7%, respectively, of our customers were using more than one product. We believe these metrics indicate
strong momentum in the uptake of our newer products.
Expansion of International Operations
A substantial portion of our revenue from international customers has been generated through the establishment of our international sales operations
and MSPs and channel partnerships. Additionally, our recent acquisitions have resulted in further international revenue growth. We believe that there is
significant opportunity to continue to grow our international business through these sales operations and further development of our international channel
partnerships. We believe that global demand for our platform and products will continue to increase as international market awareness grows. We have
invested, and plan to continue to invest, ahead of this potential demand, in sales, marketing and support personnel.
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Key Business Metrics
We regularly monitor a number of financial and operating metrics, including the following key metrics, in order to measure our current performance
and estimate our future performance, as follows:
2021

Number of customers
Year-over-year growth
Annual recurring revenue
Year-over-year growth

December 31,
2020
(annual recurring revenue in thousands)

47,174
28.4 %
285,437
$
43.9 %

$

36,753
21.5 %
198,369
$
36.5 %

2019

30,259
34.4 %
145,369
64.0 %

Number of Customers
We believe that our ability to increase and retain the number of customers on our platform is an indicator of our market penetration, the growth of our
business and potential future business opportunities. Increasing awareness of our platform and products, combined with further overall awareness of the
need to address the human risk within cybersecurity, has continued to expand our customer base to include organizations of all sizes across all industries.
We define a customer as a separate and distinct buying entity, such as a company, an educational or government institution or a distinct business unit of a
large company that has an active contract with us to access our platform. We do not consider our channel partners as separate customers as our contracts are
executed with the end user, and we treat MSPs, who may purchase our products on behalf of multiple companies, as a single customer. Our number of
customers increased on an absolute basis, but there has been a decrease in growth rate since December 31, 2019 as a result of an increased focus on
enterprise customers and MSPs, which are subject to longer sales cycles. Additionally, as our customer base grows and as our market penetration increases,
we do not expect to continue to grow at the same year-over-year rate.
Annual Recurring Revenue
We believe that ARR is a key metric to measure our business performance because it is driven by our ability to acquire new customers and to maintain
and expand our relationship with existing customers. We define ARR as the annualized value of all contractual subscription agreements as of the end of the
period. We perform this calculation on an individual contract basis by dividing the total dollar amount of a contract by the total contract term stated in
months and multiplying this amount by twelve to annualize. Calculated ARR for each individual contract is then aggregated to arrive at total ARR. ARR
does not have a standardized meaning and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. ARR should be
viewed independently of revenue, deferred revenue and remaining performance obligations and is not intended to be combined with or to replace any of
those items. Specifically, ARR, as calculated under the definition herein, does not adjust for the timing impact of revenue recognition for specific
performance obligations identified within a contract. ARR is not a forecast and the active contracts at the date used in calculating ARR may or may not be
extended by our customers. We expect ARR in total dollars to continue to grow as we execute on our growth strategies and increase our market penetration,
but we do not expect to continue to grow at the same year-over-year rate as we become a larger, more mature business.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP measures are useful in evaluating our operating
performance. We believe that non-GAAP financial information, when taken collectively, may be helpful to investors because it provides consistency and
comparability with past financial performance. However, non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has
limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP.
Other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate similarly-titled non-GAAP measures differently or may use other measures to
evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison. A reconciliation is
provided below for each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial
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measure stated in accordance with GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these nonGAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures and not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our
business.
Non-GAAP Gross Profit
We define non-GAAP gross profit as GAAP gross profit excluding stock compensation expense, amortization of acquired technology and intangible
assets and acquisition and integration related costs. Costs associated with acquisitions and integration include legal, accounting and other professional fees,
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration obligations and other costs related to the transition of the acquired business. We believe non-GAAP
gross profit provides our management and investors consistency and comparability with our past financial performance and facilitates period-to-period
comparisons of our results of operations, as this metric generally eliminates the effects of certain variables unrelated to our overall operating performance.
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

2021

Gross profit
Add: Stock compensation expense
Add: Amortization of acquired technology and intangible assets

$

Non-GAAP gross profit

$

211,183
470
848
212,501

$

$

148,156
188
240
148,584

2019

$

99,996
83
164
100,243

$

Non-GAAP Operating Income (Loss)
We define non-GAAP operating income (loss) as GAAP operating loss excluding stock compensation expense, amortization of acquired technology
and intangible assets and acquisition and integration related costs. Costs associated with acquisitions and integration include legal, accounting and other
professional fees, as well as changes in the fair value of contingent consideration obligations and other costs related to the transition of the acquired
business. We believe non-GAAP operating income (loss) provides our management and investors consistency and comparability with our past financial
performance and facilitates period-to-period comparisons of operations, as this metric generally eliminates the effects of certain variables unrelated to our
overall operating performance.
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

2021

Operating loss
Add: Stock compensation expense
Add: Amortization of acquired technology and intangible assets
Add: Acquisition and integration related costs
Non-GAAP operating income (loss)

$

$

(6,588) $
29,345
1,397
4,271
28,425 $

(1,542) $
5,234
332
—
4,024 $

2019

(125,532)
118,105
247
292
(6,888)

Free Cash Flow
We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP, less purchases of property and equipment, amounts capitalized for internal-use software and principal payments on finance leases. We believe that
free cash flow is a meaningful indicator of liquidity to management and investors about the amount of cash generated from our operations that,
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after the investments in property, equipment and capitalized internal-use software, can be used for strategic initiatives.
2021

Net cash provided by operating activities
Less: Purchases of property and equipment
Less: Capitalized internal-use software
Less: Principal payments on finance leases

$

$

Free cash flow

Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

76,778 $
(3,010)
(2,506)
(40)
71,222 $

44,864 $
(5,426)
(2,682)
(35)
36,721 $

2019

29,718
(5,573)
(5,223)
—
18,922

Components of Our Operating Results
Revenue
We derive substantially all of our revenue from subscription services fees paid by customers for access to our cloud-based platform, which includes
support services and feature upgrades throughout the duration of the customer’s contract. While contracts with our customers do not provide the customer
with the right to take possession of software operating on our global cloud-based platform, certain arrangements allow our customers the ability to
download and use our content within their own learning management systems. Our content is only available to customers throughout the duration of their
subscription and is accessed through our cloud-based platform. Subscription services fees and access to content for download are considered separate
performance obligations. Invoiced amounts are allocated between subscription services fees and access to content and are recorded as deferred revenue and
revenue, respectively. Deferred revenue primarily consists of amounts invoiced to customers for our subscription services and is generally recognized
ratably over the subscription period while revenue related to content downloads is recognized at contract inception.
Subscription terms typically range from one year to three years and generally begin on the date access to our platform is made available to the
customer. Our subscriptions are generally invoiced upfront for the duration of the contract term or in annual installments. Our arrangements are primarily
noncancellable and nonrefundable. We collect our receivables in advance of the subscription service period and often issue renewal invoices in advance of
the renewal service period.
Because we recognize revenue ratably over the terms of our subscription contracts, a substantial portion of the revenue that we report in each period is
attributable to the recognition of deferred revenue relating to agreements that we entered into during previous periods. Consequently, increases or decreases
in new sales or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected as revenue for that period. Accordingly, the effect of downturns in sales and
market acceptance of our platform, and potential changes in our rate of renewals, may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Cost of revenues consists of costs associated with delivering our platform and providing support. These costs include employee-related costs such as
salaries and bonuses, stock compensation expense and benefits costs associated with our operations and support personnel, costs associated with third-party
hosting services, amortization of acquired technology, amortization of capitalized internal-use software and content and allocated overhead. We expect cost
of revenues to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue, relative to the extent of the growth of our business and reflective of the impacts
of wage inflation seen in the market as a whole.
Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of total revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by various factors,
including the timing and amount of costs associated with supporting our platform, the extent to which we expand our customer success team and the rate at
which we develop or acquire new products, significant features and additional content to be added to our platform. We intend to continue to invest

49

additional resources in our platform, content development and support services which we expect to result in steady gross margin over time.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs, including salaries and wages, stock compensation expenses and sales
commissions, costs of general marketing programs and promotional activities, travel-related expenses and allocated overhead. Sales commissions earned by
our sales force that are considered to be incremental to the cost of acquiring a customer are deferred and amortized over the estimated period of benefit.
Marketing programs consist of advertising, events, including our KB4-CON customer conference, which has historically been held during the second
quarter of each year, corporate communications, brand building and product marketing activities. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase
on an absolute dollar basis as we continue to make significant investments in our sales and marketing organization to drive additional revenue, increase
market share and expand our global customer base.
Technology and Development
Technology and development costs consist primarily of research and development activities, non-capitalizable costs of developing platform features
and content and certain overhead allocations. These costs include employee-related costs, including salaries and wages and stock compensation expenses,
consulting services, expenses related to the design, development, testing and enhancements of our subscription services. Technology and development costs
are expensed as incurred. From a unit cost standpoint, our technology and development costs are lower primarily due to favorable costs of living in the
geographic locations in which our offices are based but could be impacted in the future by the ongoing trend towards remote work and overall wage
inflation. We expect that our technology and development expenses will increase in absolute dollars and may increase as a percentage of our revenue as we
continue to enhance our platform functionality and develop new content and features. Additionally, our technology and development expense may fluctuate
as a percentage of our revenue from period to period depending on the timing and nature of development activities.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs for accounting, finance, legal, IT and human resources personnel and
also include expenses related to consulting services, audit fees, tax services, legal services and other general corporate items. Our general and
administrative costs also include our investment in internal initiatives and tools which we believe promotes our corporate culture and helps us attract and
retain talent. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we continue to expand our operations,
hire additional personnel, see the ongoing impact of overall wage inflation and incur costs to support the requirements of being a public company.
Interest and Other Income
Interest and other income primarily consists of interest earned on overnight cash deposits and fluctuates with market rates of interest and overall cash
balances.
Interest Expense
Interest expense primarily relates to imputed interest calculated on certain contingent consideration obligations arising from our historical business
combinations along with fees associated with our revolving line of credit.
Income Tax (Expense) Benefit
Income tax (expense) benefit consists of federal and state income taxes in the United States and income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions. Our
provision for income taxes has not historically been significant to our business as we have incurred operating losses to date. We maintain a valuation
allowance on our U.S. federal, state and certain
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foreign deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is not more likely than not that the deferred assets will be realized.
Results of Operations
The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

2021

Revenues, net
Cost of revenues(1)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(1)
Technology and development(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (loss) income
Loss before income tax (expense) benefit
Income tax (expense) benefit

$

Net loss

$

246,298
35,115
211,183

$

2019

174,886
26,730
148,156

107,519
28,110
82,142
217,771
(6,588)

$

120,575
20,579
99,996

82,188
19,804
47,706
149,698
(1,542)

57
(396)
(1,030)
(7,957)
(3,888)
(11,845) $

69,090
10,662
145,776
225,528
(125,532)

197
(60)
807
(598)
(1,832)
(2,430) $

799
(47)
90
(124,690)
367
(124,323)

________________
(1) Amounts include stock compensation expense as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)
$
188
1,579
896
2,571
$
5,234

2021
Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative

$

470
8,474
1,706
18,695
29,345

$

Total stock compensation expense

2019
$

83
5,750
162
112,110
118,105

$

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Revenues, net

$

246,298

$

174,886

$

71,412

40.8 %

Revenues increased by $71.4 million, or 40.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Due to the
nature of our subscription-based business model, a large portion of our revenues in a given period results from the recognition of revenues deferred in prior
periods. As such, $37.7 million of the year-over-year increase in revenue is related to the recognition of deferred revenues from the accumulation of
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contracts entered into during prior periods. Revenues earned in foreign jurisdictions has increased by $18.3 million compared to the prior year. The
remaining increase is attributable to revenues from new customers combined with revenues from cross-selling additional products into our existing
customer base. Our customer base grew by 28.4% and the number of customers with active subscriptions to more than one of our products has increased to
22.1% of our total customer base.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues
Gross margin

$

35,115
$
85.7 %

26,730
$
84.7 %

8,385

31.4 %

Cost of revenues increased by $8.4 million, or 31.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. The
overall increase in cost of revenues is in line with our increase in revenues over the same period, while maintaining our margin position. The total dollar
value increase in cost of revenues is primarily driven by approximately $6.3 million of additional personnel and other allocated costs related to a
combination of headcount expansion, comparatively higher performance bonuses resulting from the growth in revenues over the period and higher
overhead allocations. Additionally, $1.2 million of the increase relates to increased costs of hosting our platform with the remaining cost increases
attributable the amortization of both our acquired and internally developed technology and content. Gross margin slightly increased compared to the prior
year period as we continue to scale our customer support functions.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Sales and marketing

$

107,519

$

82,188

$

25,331

30.8 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $25.3 million, or 30.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31,
2020. The increase in sales and marketing expenses primarily relates to increased personnel costs of $21.2 million, including salaries, commissions and
performance bonus costs primarily driven by a corresponding increase in headcount which is consistent with our overall business growth. These personnel
costs include an increase in stock compensation expense of $6.9 million, the majority of which relates to the issuance of RSUs to certain executives in
conjunction with our initial public offering or IPO in April 2021. Additionally, $2.6 million of the increase primarily relates to marketing campaigns to
support new product launches and public relations efforts to evangelize the need to address the human risk in cybersecurity. The remaining increases are
attributable to overall growth in the business, including overhead allocations, of approximately $1.3 million.
Technology and Development
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Technology and development

$

28,110

$

19,804

$

8,306

41.9 %

Technology and development expenses increased by $8.3 million, or 41.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. The increase in technology and development costs is primarily driven by $7.5 million of additional personnel costs as we increase
developer headcount to support our
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product development initiatives combined with higher performance bonuses. The increased developer headcount has also led to higher subscription costs
and overhead allocations which make up the remaining increase. These expenses have remained consistent as a percentage of revenue as they align to
growth in our business.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

General and administrative

$

82,142

$

47,706

$

34,436

72.2 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $34.4 million, or 72.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase is driven by $29.6 million of additional personnel costs, which includes additional stock compensation expense of $16.1
million the majority of which relates to the issuance of RSUs to certain executives in conjunction with the completion of our IPO in April 2021. The
remaining increase in personnel costs is driven by increases in headcount across our administrative functions, such as legal, finance and human resources,
to support overall business growth and costs of operating as a public company. An additional $2.7 million of the increase relate to consulting and
professional fees incurred primarily to support the completion of our IPO, secondary offerings and the two business combinations completed during the
year ended December 31, 2021.
Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Income tax expense

$

(3,888) $

(1,832) $

(2,056)

112.2 %

Income tax expense increased by $2.1 million, or 112.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.
This increase is due to additional deferred tax expense recognized in our foreign jurisdictions due to growth in our international operations.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Revenues, net

$

174,886

$

120,575

$

54,311

45.0 %

Revenues increased by $54.3 million, or 45.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. Due to the
nature of our subscription-based business model, a large portion of our revenues in a given period results from the recognition of revenues deferred in prior
periods. As such, $39.0 million of the year-over-year increase in revenue is related to the recognition of deferred revenues from the accumulation of
contracts entered into during prior periods. The remaining increase is attributable to revenues from new customers combined with revenues from crossselling additional products into our existing customer base, including substantial increases in revenues earned in foreign jurisdictions. Our customer base
grew by 21.5% and the number of customers with active subscriptions to more than one of our products has increased to 13.7% of our total customer base.

53

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues
Gross margin

$

26,730
$
84.7 %

20,579
$
82.9 %

6,151

29.9 %

Cost of revenues increased by $6.2 million, or 29.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. The
overall increase in cost of revenues is primarily driven by increased headcount to support our overall business growth combined with increases in
amortization related to our developed technology and content assets. The year-over-year increase in cost of revenues is slightly less than the increase in
revenues over the same period due to efficiencies experienced in our customer support functions which contributed to the increase in gross margins for the
year ended December 31, 2020 when compared to December 31, 2019.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Sales and marketing

$

82,188

$

69,090

$

13,098

19.0 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $13.1 million, or 19.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31,
2019. The increase in sales and marketing expenses relates to a $8.4 million increase in employee-related costs, including salaries and commissions,
primarily driven by increased headcount during the year, a $2.6 million increase in software license fees and additional increases in expenditures for
marketing and promotional activities and allocated overhead.
Technology and Development
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Technology and development

$

19,804

$

10,662

$

9,142

85.7 %

Technology and development expenses increased by $9.1 million, or 85.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019. The increase in technology and development costs is driven by an $8.0 million increase in employee-related research and development
costs associated with the development of new platform features and preliminary development activity related to new products. The increase is further
attributable to increased overhead allocations and production expenses which are in line with the overall growth of our business.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

General and administrative

$

47,706

$

145,776

$

(98,070)

(67.3)%

General and administrative expenses decreased by $98.1 million, or (67.3)%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019. The decrease is primarily due to $110.6 million of stock compensation expense recognized in conjunction with the Series C and C-1
Preferred Stock transactions during the
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year ended December 31, 2019. Excluding the impact of these transactions, the change in general and administrative expenses was an increase of $12.5
million or 35.4%. These increases in general and administrative expenses as compared to the prior year relate to $9.4 million in additional employee-related
expenses within our administrative functions along with an additional $3.1 million of costs to support overall growth in the business including professional
fees and other general operating costs, such as depreciation and amortization expenses, lease and utilities costs.
Income Tax Benefit (Expense)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Change
$

%

(in thousands)

Income tax (expense) benefit

$

(1,832) $

367

$

(2,199)

(599.2)%

Income tax expense increased by $2.2 million, or (599.2)%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.
This increase is primarily due to a $2.7 million valuation allowance recorded as a result of continuing losses generated at our German subsidiary.
Quarterly Results of Operations
The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for each of the eight quarters ended December 31, 2021, as
well as the percentage of total revenue that each line item represents for each quarter. The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the
same basis as the audited annual consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, in the opinion of
management, includes all adjustments, which consist only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations
for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our audited
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consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These quarterly results are not necessarily
indicative of our results of operations to be expected for any future period.
December 31,
2021
Revenues, net
Cost of revenues (1)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (1)
Technology and development (1)
General and administrative (1)
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Income (loss) before income tax
(expense) benefit
Income tax (expense) benefit

$

Net income (loss)

$

Number of customers
Annual recurring revenue(2)
Free cash flow(2)

$
$

September 30,
2021

69,307
9,572
59,735

$

64,091
9,609
54,482

June 30, 2021
$

59,350
8,591
50,759

Three Months Ended
December 31,
September 30,
March 31, 2021
2020
2020
(in thousands, except customer data)
$
53,550 $
49,287 $
44,932
7,343
7,466
6,918
46,207
41,821
38,014

June 30, 2020
$

41,489
6,303
35,186

March 31, 2020
$

39,178
6,043
33,135

25,207
8,029
19,377
52,613
7,122

27,731
7,579
19,852
55,162
(680)

31,510
6,760
28,284
66,554
(15,795)

23,071
5,742
14,629
43,442
2,765

21,934
5,685
13,170
40,789
1,032

20,752
4,822
13,440
39,014
(1,000)

19,875
4,391
10,976
35,242
(56)

19,627
4,906
10,120
34,653
(1,518)

16
(67)
(585)

16
(67)
114

7
(66)
(416)

18
(196)
(143)

38
(15)
665

20
(16)
29

14
(16)
80

125
(13)
33

(617)
(963)
(1,580) $

(16,270)
(593)
(16,863) $

1,720
(1,516)
204 $

(967)
(735)
(1,702) $

22
407
429

$

(1,373)
12
(1,361)

33,056
169,003
11,201

$
$

31,823
157,919
10,386

6,486
(2,088)
4,398 $
47,174
285,437
19,562

$
$

44,319
262,172
17,910

$
$

41,601
240,595
12,789

2,444
(244)
2,200 $
38,975
222,270
20,961

$
$

$
$

36,753
198,369
4,117

$
$

34,604
181,924
11,017

$
$

________________
(1) Amounts include stock compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended
December 31,
2021

September 30,
2021

June 30, 2021

December 31,
2020

March 31, 2021

September 30,
2020

June 30, 2020

March 31, 2020

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues
$
Sales and marketing
Technology and
development
General and
administrative
Total stock compensation
$
expense

217
1,197

$

124
726

$

76
5,662

$

53
889

$

66
754

$

70
423

$

31
251

$

21
151

1,176

242

148

140

573

153

100

70

3,483

1,652

12,983

577

588

588

934

461

6,073

$

2,744

$

18,869

$

1,659

$

1,981

$

1,234

$

1,316

$

703

(2) See the sections entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Annual Recurring
Revenue” for additional information regarding ARR and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP
Financial Measures—Free Cash Flow” for additional information regarding free cash flow and for a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.”
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Percentage of Revenues Data
All values from the statement of operations, expressed as percentage of total revenues are as follows:
Three Months Ended

Revenues, net
Cost of revenues
Gross margin
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Income (loss) before income
tax (expense) benefit
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income (loss)

December 31, 2021

September 30, 2021

100.0 %
13.8 %
86.2 %

100.0 %
15.0 %
85.0 %

100.0 %
14.5 %
85.5 %

%
%
%
%
%

43.3 %
11.8 %
31.0 %
86.1 %
(1.1)%

53.1 %
11.4 %
47.7 %
112.1 %
(26.6)%

—%
(0.1)%
(0.8)%

—%
(0.1)%
0.2 %

—%
(0.1)%
(0.7)%

9.4 %
(3.0)%
6.3 %

(1.0)%
(1.5)%
(2.5)%

(27.4)%
(1.0)%
(28.4)%

36.4
11.6
28.0
75.9
10.3

June 30, 2021

March 31, 2021

December 31, 2020

September 30, 2020

100.0 %
15.1 %
84.9 %

100.0 %
15.4 %
84.6 %

100.0 %
15.2 %
84.8 %

100.0 %
15.4 %
84.6 %

%
%
%
%
%

46.2 %
10.7 %
29.9 %
86.8 %
(2.2)%

47.9 %
10.6 %
26.5 %
84.9 %
(0.1)%

50.1 %
12.5 %
25.8 %
88.5 %
(3.9)%

—%
(0.4)%
(0.3)%

0.1 %
—%
1.3 %

—%
—%
0.1 %

—%
—%
0.2 %

0.3 %
—%
0.1 %

4.6 %
(0.5)%
4.1 %

3.5 %
(3.1)%
0.4 %

(2.2)%
(1.6)%
(3.8)%

0.1 %
1.0 %
1.0 %

(3.5)%
—%
(3.5)%

100.0 %
13.7 %
86.3 %
43.1
10.7
27.3
81.1
5.2

%
%
%
%
%

44.5
11.5
26.7
82.8
2.1

June 30, 2020

March 31, 2020

Quarterly Trends
Our quarterly revenue increased in each of the periods presented due to the combination of increases in the number of new customers, contract
renewals with existing customers and sales of our newer products. Additionally, our fourth quarter has historically been our strongest quarter for new
business and renewals, driven by the overall timing of existing customer contract renewals and customer budget timing. The effect of this seasonality in
both invoicing patterns and overall new and renewal business causes the value of invoices that we generate in the fourth quarter for both new business and
renewals to increase as a proportion of our total annual invoices.
Cost of revenues has increased in the majority of the periods presented. This overall increase in cost of revenues is in line with our increase in revenue
and is primarily driven by increased headcount to support our overall business growth, particularly within our customer success team, combined with
increases in amortization related to both our internally developed and acquired assets and costs of hosting our technology platform. Gross margin has
slightly improved over the periods presented due to achieving some scale with our customer success team. We expect margins to remain steady in the future
as we continue to build out our customer support structure to support our overall business growth.
Our operating expenses have generally increased over the periods presented primarily due to increases in headcount and other related expenses to
support our growth. Any periods in which operating expenses have not increased sequentially were due to variability in our stock compensation expense.
Additionally, our technology and development expenses fluctuate quarter to quarter based on the timing and extent of research and development and
content production activities while our sales and marketing expenses can be impacted by the timing of industry events. Excluding the impact of the nonrecurring stock compensation expense, our general and administrative expenses remain relatively consistent quarter over quarter when considering the
growth in our business and impact of non-recurring transactions, such as business combinations and public offerings.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents totaling $273.7 million and accounts receivable of $54.1
million. Our cash and cash equivalents are comprised of time deposits with financial institutions. To date, we have financed our operations primarily
through payments received from customers using our platform supplemented by proceeds from private placements of our equity securities and our recent
IPO. Our positive cash flows from operations enable us to make continued investments in the growth of our business. We expect our operating cash flows
to further improve over the intermediate to long term as we increase our operational efficiency and experience economies of scale.
We typically invoice our subscription customers annually in advance. Therefore, a substantial source of our cash is from customer prepayments, which
are included on our consolidated balance sheets as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue consists of invoiced fees for our subscription services, prior to
satisfying the criteria for revenue recognition, which are subsequently recognized as revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. As of
December 31, 2021, we had deferred revenue of $265.8 million, of which $81.3 million was recorded as a current liability and is expected to be recorded as
revenue in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
Our remaining performance obligation represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized and includes deferred revenue, which has been
invoiced and is recorded on the consolidated balance sheets, and unbilled amounts that are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets, that will be
recognized as revenue in future periods. As of December 31, 2021, our remaining performance obligation was $323.7 million.
On March 12, 2021, we entered into a three-year $100.0 million revolving credit facility with Bank of America, or the Revolving Credit Facility.
Interest on any borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest, at our option, at (i) a base rate equal to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate
plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such date as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime rate”, or (c) the
eurodollar rate plus 1.0%, provided that such rate will not be less than 0.5%. We are obligated to pay other customary fees for a credit facility of this size
and type, including letter of credit fees, an upfront fee, and an unused commitment fee. The terms of our Revolving Credit Facility include a number of
covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate with
other companies or sell substantially all of our assets, pay dividends, make redemptions and repurchases of stock, make investments, loans and
acquisitions, or engage in transactions with affiliates. We expect to use the revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, including potential
future acquisitions and expansions. As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all covenants and there were no amounts outstanding under this
facility.
On April 26, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we sold 10,925,000 shares of our Class A common stock at a price to the public of $16.00 per
share, including 1,425,000 shares pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares and 500,000 shares of our Class
A common stock sold by certain selling stockholders. We received net proceeds of $153.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions
of $10.8 million and offering expenses paid by us of approximately $3.0 million.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities, available borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, and
unbilled amounts related to contracted non-cancelable subscription agreements, which are not reflected on the balance sheets, will be sufficient to meet our
working capital and capital expenditure needs over the next 12 months. In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in
complementary businesses, products and technologies, and intellectual property rights, though we currently have no agreements or commitments to do so.
To facilitate these acquisitions or investments, we may seek additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on terms favorable to us or at
all, impacting our ability to complete subsequent acquisitions or investments.
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Cash Flows
The following table presents a summary of our consolidated cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities.
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

2021

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

$
$
$

76,778 $
(39,340) $
151,232 $

44,864 $
(8,108) $
(436) $

2019

29,718
(15,766)
(9,612)

Operating Activities
Our largest source of cash flows from operations is cash collections from our customers for subscription services while our primary use of cash for
operating activities is for employee-related expenses, including salaries, commissions and monthly performance bonuses. We have historically generated
positive cash flows from operations as a result of our efficient sales model and period-over-period growth in subscription services.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $76.8 million, which consisted of net loss of $11.8 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $57.7 million and net cash inflows of $30.9 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges primarily consisted of $19.5 million of amortization of deferred commissions, $13.6 million of depreciation and amortization of our capital assets
and $29.3 million of stock compensation expense, which was primarily incurred in conjunction with our initial public offering (IPO). Cash outflows from
changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily resulted from a $14.5 million increase in the total deferred commissions balance, a $15.4 million
increase in the accounts receivable balance and a $4.5 million increase in the prepaid and other assets balance. The increases in our deferred commissions
balance is due to the addition of new customers and renewal of existing contracts during the period while the increase in accounts receivable is due to the
timing of billings and collections combined with growth in sales. The increase in prepaid and other assets is primarily due to a payroll tax credit recorded
during the current year of $3.2 million and additional director and officer insurance costs. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities
primarily relate to a $80.1 million increase in the total deferred revenue balance resulting from the sale of additional subscription services under our
standard advanced invoicing practices and an $18.4 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expense balances due primarily to increases in payroll
related accruals resulting from payment timing and overall headcount growth.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $44.9 million, which consisted of a net loss of $2.4 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $26.9 million and net cash inflows of $20.4 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges primarily consisted of $5.3 million of stock compensation expense, $14.2 million of amortization of deferred commissions and $11.8 million of
depreciation and amortization of our capital assets. Cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily resulted from a $6.7 million
increase in the accounts receivable balance and a $8.0 million increase in the total deferred commissions balance. The increase in both accounts receivable
and deferred commissions balances is due to the addition of new customers and renewal of existing contracts during the period. The accounts receivable
balance is also impacted by the timing of cash collections received. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily relate to an
$46.7 million increase in the total deferred revenue balance resulting from the sale of additional subscription services under our standard advanced
invoicing practices.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $29.7 million, which consisted of a net loss of $124.3 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $131.3 million and net cash inflows of $22.7 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges primarily consisted of $118.1 million of stock compensation expense, $12.3 million of amortization of deferred commissions and $7.9 million of
depreciation and amortization of our capital assets. Cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily resulted from an $11.8 million
increase in the accounts receivable balance and a $10.1 million increase in the total deferred commissions balance. The increase in both accounts receivable
and deferred
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commissions balances is due to the addition of new customers and renewal of existing contracts during the period. The accounts receivable balance is also
impacted by the timing of cash collections received. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily relate to a $55.3 million
increase in the total deferred revenue balance resulting from the sale of additional subscription services under our standard advanced invoicing practices.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily related to the $11.2 million of net cash paid for the acquisition
of MediaPro Holdings, LLC, which closed on March 1, 2021, and the $22.6 million of net cash paid for the acquisition of SecurityAdvisor Technologies,
Inc., which closed on November 1, 2021, combined with $2.5 million and $3.0 million of capital expenditures for internal-use software and the purchase of
property and equipment, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 related to $2.7 million and $5.4 million of capital expenditures for
internal-use software and the purchase of property and equipment, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to $5.0 million of business combinations completed during the
year, combined with $5.2 million and $5.6 million of capital expenditures for internal-use software and the purchase of property and equipment,
respectively.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily related to $156.0 million of net proceeds received from
the issuance of common stock in connection with the IPO, as well as $5.8 million of cash received upon the issuance of common stock from the exercise of
stock options and $3.3 million cash received from the issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan. These financing activities
proceeds were offset by $12.3 million paid for taxes related to the net share settlement of our outstanding equity instruments and $1.2 million paid to
repurchase shares of our common stock, prior to the IPO.
Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily related to $4.9 million paid for the repurchase of common
stock and options offset by $4.3 million of cash received upon the issuance of common stock from the exercise of stock options.
Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily related to a $10.0 million one-time dividend payment issued
to our existing shareholders offset by the net impact of the Series C and C-1 Preferred Stock transactions where we received proceeds of $340.4 million for
the issuance of preferred stock and paid $339.9 million to repurchase existing common stock and outstanding stock options.
Backlog
Our backlog is made up of remaining performance obligations associated with our customer contracts. These remaining performance obligations
represent all future revenue under contract that has not yet been recognized which includes deferred revenue and unbilled amounts.
Indemnification Agreements
Our subscription agreements generally contain standard indemnification obligations. Pursuant to these agreements, we will indemnify, defend and hold
the other party harmless with respect to a claim, suit, or proceeding brought against the other party by a third party alleging that our intellectual property
infringes upon the intellectual property of the third party, or results from a breach of our representations and warranties or covenants, or that results from
any acts of negligence or willful misconduct. The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after the execution of the
agreement. Typically, these indemnification provisions do not provide for a maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make.
However, in the past we have not been obligated to make significant payments for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these
obligations on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.
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We also indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while the officer is or was serving at our
request in such capacity. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited. However, our director and officer insurance policy limits
our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Historically, we have not been obligated to make any payments for these
obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, we are
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and related disclosures. To
the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our financial condition or results of operations would be affected.
We base our estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates
on an ongoing basis. We refer to accounting estimates of this type as critical accounting policies and estimates, which we discuss below.
Revenue Recognition
We account for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 606 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and
apply the following five-step approach for considering contracts:
1.

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer.

2.

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract.

3.

Determination of the transaction price.

4.

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

5.

Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

We recognize revenue at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the service to a customer in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services, net of any sales or other tax. Our subscription contracts typically vary from one
year to three years and are generally noncancellable and nonrefundable.
Subscription services revenue consists of subscription fees earned from providing access to our cloud-based platform, including support services and
feature upgrades, if and when available. Our cloud-based platform also includes training content which can be downloaded by the customer during their
subscription term. Our subscription service contracts do not provide customers with the right to take possession of the software operating on the cloud
platform and, as a result, are accounted for as service arrangements. Our customers’ ability to access our platform represents a series of distinct services,
which fulfills our performance obligation over the subscription term. Accordingly, the amounts invoiced related to the ratable portion of subscription
revenue are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term, beginning on the date that the service is made
available to the customer.
Additionally, our customers’ ability to access and download the content hosted within our KMSAT product is considered distinct and accounted for as
a separate performance obligation, as our customers benefit from the use of the content independent of the KMSAT product through the download. The
portion of the transaction price allocated to the downloadable content performance obligation is recognized as revenue at contract inception when the
customer gains access to the downloadable content.
The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative stand-alone selling price, or SSP, basis. The SSP for the ratable
portion of subscription revenue is determined using observable stand-alone sales data, including adjustments for standard discounting practices. As it
relates to the content available for download, we determine SSP using an adjusted market assessment approach , which requires significant judgment.
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The calculation of SSP primarily utilizes suggested royalty rates, assumptions regarding content production costs and other industry pricing data.
Deferred Commissions
We capitalize sales commissions and associated payroll taxes and benefits paid to internal sales personnel that are considered incremental to the
acquisition of customer contracts. These costs are recorded as deferred commissions on the consolidated balance sheets upon invoicing to the customer and
are paid upon cash collection from the customer. We determine whether costs should be deferred based on sales compensation plans if the commissions are
incremental and would not have occurred absent the customer contract. Sales commissions related to an initial subscription contract are considered
incremental to the acquisition of the customer contract to the extent that they exceed commissions earned on renewal sales. Sales commissions related to
the renewal of a subscription contract are not considered commensurate with the commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract
given the substantive difference in commission rate between new and renewal contracts.
The portion of commissions paid upon the initial acquisition of a contract that are incremental to acquisition of the customer contract are amortized
over an estimated period of benefit of six years. The portion of commissions paid upon initial acquisition that are commensurate with those paid on a
renewal contract and commissions paid related to renewal contracts are amortized over the average length of the related revenue contract. An estimate of
the portion of commissions related to the downloadable content performance obligation is made, which is recognized at contract inception consistent with
the pattern of revenue recognition. This estimate is made in a consistent manner to the SSP allocated to the related portion of revenue, which requires
judgment. Judgment is also required when determining the period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract. We
evaluate both qualitative and quantitative factors including the initial estimated customer life, the technological life of our platform and related significant
features, customer attrition and industry practices.
Business Combinations
We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired based on their
estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant
estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, trade
names from a market participant perspective, useful lives and discount rates. Additionally, contingent consideration arrangements are considered to be part
of the purchase consideration and are measured at their acquisition date fair value which is determined using complex valuation methodologies. The inputs
to the valuation methodologies used to determine management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which
are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is one year from
the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.
Stock Compensation
Prior to our IPO and before there was an active market for our Class A common stock, we primarily issued stock options and estimated the fair value
of those stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The most significant estimate utilized in the model was the fair value of our common
stock which was historically determined by the board of directors who exercised judgment and considered numerous objective and subjective factors to
determine the best estimate of the fair value of our common stock including (i) valuations performed at or near the time of grant; (ii) rights, preferences,
and privileges of our redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; (iii) our actual operating and financial performance at
the time of the option grant; (iv) likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO or a merger or acquisition of our business; (v) the value of
comparable companies with respect to industry, business model, stage of growth, financial risk or other factors; (vi) our stage of development and future
financial projections; (vii) market transactions at or near the time of grant;
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and (viii) the lack of marketability of our common stock. Following the IPO, there is an active market for our Class A common stock, and we are no longer
estimating the fair value of our common stock.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for more information.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We have operations in the United States and internationally and we are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of business.
Interest Rate Risk
Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments in money market funds, including overnight
investments. As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $273.7 million. The carrying amount of our cash equivalents reasonably
approximates fair value, due to the short maturities of these instruments. The primary objectives of our investment activities are the preservation of capital,
the fulfillment of liquidity needs and the fiduciary control of cash and investments. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes.
Our investments are exposed to market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates, which may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our
investments. However, due to the short-term nature of our investment portfolio, we do not believe an immediate 10% increase or decrease in interest rates
would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio. We therefore do not expect our operating results or cash flows to be materially
affected by a sudden change in market interest rates.
Foreign Currency Risk
The vast majority of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, with a small number of contracts denominated in foreign currencies. A portion
of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States, denominated in foreign currencies and subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the British Pound, Euro, Brazilian Real and South African Rand. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations. During the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have had a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements. As the impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical operating
results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency becomes more
significant.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
KnowBe4, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of KnowBe4, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ KPMG
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
Tampa, Florida
March 10, 2022
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
Current portion of deferred commissions
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Deferred commissions, net of current portion
Capitalized software and content, net
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right of use assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets

$

Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Current portion of deferred revenue
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value, 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 114,164,600
shares authorized, issued and outstanding (Liquidation value $384.5 million) at December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, $0.00001 par value, 0 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 176,000,000
shares authorized; and 42,279,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, Class A, 0.00001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; and 66,335,930 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2021 and 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, Class B, $0.00001 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized; and 107,936,779 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2021 and 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

273,723
54,071
17,842
10,580
356,216
33,869
27,074
9,120
12,998
7,992
89,329
1,080
537,678

$

85,582
38,664
13,177
6,124
143,547
24,022
15,523
10,284
12,067
2,985
8,605
1,177
218,210

37,642
184,496
2,938
225,076

19,265
127,043
2,651
148,959

81,278
10,484
3,573
320,411

58,653
9,766
3,991
221,369

—

—

—

—

1

—

2
391,803
(173,148)
(1,391)
217,267
537,678 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, 2020

—
158,483
(161,303)
(339)
(3,159)
218,210

KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Revenues, net
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Loss before income tax (expense) benefit
Income tax (expense) benefit

$

Net loss

$
$

Net loss per share, basic and diluted(1)
Weighted-average shares used in calculating basic and diluted net loss per
share

246,298
35,115
211,183

$

107,519
28,110
82,142
217,771
(6,588)
57
(396)
(1,030)
(7,957)
(3,888)
(11,845) $
(0.10) $
116,938,683

174,886
26,730
148,156

$

82,188
19,804
47,706
149,698
(1,542)

120,575
20,579
99,996
69,090
10,662
145,776
225,528
(125,532)

197
(60)
807
(598)
(1,832)
(2,430) $

799
(47)
90
(124,690)
367
(124,323)

(0.06) $

(1.91)

42,049,840

________________
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2021, basic and diluted loss per share for Class A and Class B common stock are the same.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

66,958,400

KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)
2021

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2019

Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Net change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

$

(11,845) $

(2,430) $

(124,323)

Total comprehensive loss

$

(1,052)
(1,052)
(12,897) $

90
90
(2,340) $

23
23
(124,300)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except shares)
Convertible Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2018
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock
options
Repurchase of common stock
Dividends paid
Issuance of Preferred Stock, Series C
Issuance of Preferred Stock, Series C-1
Stock compensation expense
Other comprehensive income, net
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2019
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock
options
Issuance of common stock
Repurchase of common stock
Stock compensation expense
Other comprehensive income
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2020
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stock
options
Issuance of common stock under the employee
stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock for business
combinations
Repurchase of common stock

Amount

Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2021

Shares

Common Stock, Class A

Amount

Shares

Amount

Shares

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Common Stock, Class B
Amount

55,245,840

$

—

92,097,360

$

—

—

$

—

—

$

—

$

45,523

$

—
—
—
6,511,400
52,407,360
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

9,402,120
(59,412,200)
—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

353
(339,880)
(10,000)
31,163
309,230
117,898
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

114,164,600

$

—

42,087,280

$

—

—

$

—

—

$

—

$ 154,287

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—

328,600
731,760
(868,640)
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

220
4,274
(5,579)
5,281
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

114,164,600

$

$

$

$

—

$ 158,483

$

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

(452) $ (34,550) $
—
—
—
—
—
—
23
—

$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$ (124,323)

(429) $ (158,873) $
—
—
—
—
90
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
(2,430)

10,521

$
353
$ (339,880)
$ (10,000)
$
31,163
$ 309,230
$ 117,898
$
23
$ (124,323)
(5,015)

$
$
$
$
$
$

220
4,274
(5,579)
5,281
90
(2,430)

(339) $ (161,303) $

(3,159)

—

42,279,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

274,720

—

—

—

4,333,816

1

5,773

—

—

5,774

—

—

—

—

239,937

—

—

—

3,339

—

—

3,339

—
—

—
—

1,245,440
(97,600)

—
—

1,194,957
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

53,653
(181)

—
—

—
—

53,653
(181)

—

(43,701,560)

—

—

—

157,866,160

2

—

—

—

2

10,425,000

—

—

—

153,796

—

—

153,796

Conversion of convertible preferred stock and
previously authorized common stock to Class
(114,164,600)
B common stock
Issuance of common stock, Class A in connection
with initial public offering, net of underwriting
—
discounts and issuance costs
Issuance of common stock from vesting of
—
restricted stock units
Conversion of Class B common stock to Class A
—
common stock
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity
—
awards
Stock compensation expense
—
Other comprehensive loss

Common Stock

—
—
—

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,016,959

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

53,900,456

1

(53,900,456)

(1)

—

—

—

—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(441,379)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(362,741)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
(1,052)
—

—
—
—
(11,845)

(12,253)
29,193
(1,052)
(11,845)

—

—

—

66,335,930

1

107,936,779

$

$

$

2

(12,253)
29,193
—
—
$ 391,803

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(1,391) $ (173,148) $

217,267

KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
$
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:
Additions to capitalized content
Depreciation and amortization expense
Deferred commissions amortization
Stock compensation expense
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Deferred commissions
Prepaid and other assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Business combinations, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized internal-use software costs
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase
plan
Repurchase of common stock and options
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Acquisition-related contingent consideration payments
Proceeds from finance lease obligations
Payments for finance lease obligations
Taxes paid for the net share settlement of restricted stock units
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
$
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
$
$
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

(11,845) $

(2,430) $

(124,323)

(6,914)
13,639
19,474
29,347
2,155

(5,215)
11,762
14,238
5,281
848

(6,368)
7,898
12,279
118,147
(664)

(14,415)
(34,340)
(6,200)
9,292
76,585
76,778

(6,978)
(22,161)
679
2,328
46,512
44,864

(11,403)
(22,375)
(3,645)
4,938
55,234
29,718

(33,824)
(3,010)
(2,506)
(39,340)

—
(5,426)
(2,682)
(8,108)

(4,970)
(5,573)
(5,223)
(15,766)

—
5,774

—
220

(10,000)
353

3,339
(1,171)
—
155,958
(375)
—
(40)
(12,253)
151,232
(529)
188,141 $
85,582 $
273,723 $

—
(4,857)
—
4,274
(252)
214
(35)
—
(436)
398
36,718 $
48,864 $
85,582 $

—
(339,880)
340,393
—
(478)
—
—
—
(9,612)
(49)
4,291
44,573
48,864

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

2019

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for taxes

$

2,637

$

101

$

16

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures and other assets included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

$

574

$

875

$

1,723

Stock compensation recorded as liability

$

—

$

991

$

249

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNOWBE4, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Description of Business
KnowBe4, Inc. (“KnowBe4” or the “Company”), was incorporated in Delaware in January 2016 and is the successor to operations which began in
August 2010. The Company is currently headquartered in Clearwater, Florida.
The Company provides a comprehensive platform incorporating security awareness training and simulated phishing with advanced analytics and
reporting that helps organizations manage the ongoing problem of social engineering. Additional offerings on the Company’s platform include a security
orchestration, automation and response or “SOAR” tool and a governance, risk and compliance or “GRC” product, both of which further the Company’s
goal of providing products focused on meeting the needs of information security professionals. KnowBe4 conducts business globally and its platform is
available as a software as a service (“SaaS”) subscription.
Stock Split
On April 9, 2021, the Company effected a 40-for-1 forward stock split of its authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock. All share and per share
amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the forward stock split for all
periods presented.
Initial Public Offering
As further described in Note 11 “Stockholders’ Equity”, in April 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its Class A
common stock.
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
and have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior period amounts within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets reflect an
immaterial error correction and have been reclassified. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 differs from the previously filed Form S-1
as they reflect an adjustment to reclassify amounts from noncurrent deferred revenue to current deferred revenue.
b.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions used by
management primarily affect revenue recognition, deferred commissions, fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations, common stock
valuations (prior to the Company's IPO) and stock compensation expense.
These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates
these assumptions, judgments and estimates. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates.
c.

Operating Segments

The Company operates as a single operating segment, which engages in the development, marketing and sale of the Company’s SaaS-based security
awareness platform. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is evaluated regularly by the
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the
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Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for evaluating the Company’s financial results, evaluating the Company’s resources and assessing the
performance of the operations on a consolidated basis.
d.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
include $180.2 million and $22.5 million of overnight money market mutual funds at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The carrying amount of
such cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the short-term and highly liquid nature of these instruments.
e.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represents amounts owed to the Company for subscriptions to the Company’s platform and unbilled receivables representing the
Company’s unconditional right to consideration for subscription contracts for which revenue has been earned in excess of the amount invoiced. Accounts
receivable balances are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest bearing.
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on future expected credit losses measured over the contractual term of the
receivable. Management regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts by considering various factors including the age of each
outstanding invoice, each customer’s expected ability to pay, historical loss rates and expectations of forward-looking loss estimates to determine whether
the allowance is appropriate. The Company writes off accounts receivable balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when the Company has
exhausted all collection efforts. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
Allowance activity for the periods was not material to the consolidated financial statements.
f.

Deferred Commissions

The Company capitalizes sales commissions and associated benefits and payroll taxes paid to internal sales personnel that are considered incremental
costs to acquire a customer contract. These costs are classified as deferred commissions on the consolidated balance sheets. Sales commissions related to an
initial subscription contract are considered incremental to the acquisition of the customer contract to the extent that they exceed commissions earned on
renewal sales. Sales commissions related to the renewal of a subscription contract are not considered commensurate with the commissions paid for the
acquisition of the initial subscription contract given the substantive difference in commission rate between new and renewal contracts. The portion of
commissions paid upon the initial acquisition of a contract that are incremental to acquisition of the customer contract are amortized over an estimated
period of benefit of six years. The portion of commissions paid upon initial acquisition that are commensurate with those paid on a renewal contract and
commissions paid related to renewal contracts are amortized over the average length of the related revenue contract. An estimate of the portion of
commissions related to the downloadable content performance obligation is made, which is recognized at contract inception consistent with the pattern of
revenue recognition. The estimated period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract is determined based on
qualitative and quantitative factors including the initial estimated customer life, the technological life of the Company’s platform and related significant
features, customer attrition and industry practices. Amortization of deferred sales commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
g.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, as follows:
Computers and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

3 years
5 - 7 years
shorter of lease term or 5 years
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Expenditures which significantly add to productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs to property
and equipment are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation is removed from the
accounts and gains or losses, if any, are recorded in other expenses.
h. Capitalized Software and Content, Net
The Company capitalizes costs incurred related to the development of internal use software during the application development stage. These
capitalized costs are primarily related to the development of the Company’s security awareness platform. Costs are capitalized to develop new internal use
software or to significantly increase the functionality of existing software. Additionally, the Company records acquired internal-use software and
technology assets within the capitalized software and content caption on its consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the software’s estimated useful life of three to six years. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual basis
and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. There were no
impairments of capitalized internal use software during the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
The Company also capitalizes costs related to the production of its training content, which includes interactive modules, movie series, videos, games
and other content. Costs associated with the production of content, including development costs, direct costs and production overhead, are capitalized.
Capitalized content is amortized over the estimated period of use, which generally ranges from three to seven years. The Company’s business model is
subscription based, therefore, capitalized content is reviewed in the aggregate when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected
usefulness of the content. To date, we have not identified any such event or change in circumstances. If such changes are identified in the future, capitalized
content will be stated at the lower of unamortized cost, net realizable value or fair value. In addition, unamortized costs for assets that have been, or are
expected to be, abandoned are written off.
i.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the estimated fair value of identifiable net assets acquired. The
Company evaluates and tests the recoverability of goodwill for impairment at least annually, on October 1, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that
goodwill may not be recoverable. The Company performs the impairment testing by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of
events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its single reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
In assessing the qualitative factors, the Company considers the impact of certain key factors including macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, changes in management, litigation or regulatory matters, changes in enterprise value, and overall financial performance. If, after assessing
the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, the Company calculates the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and any excess of the carrying amount over fair value is recognized as a
goodwill impairment loss. Based on the results of the qualitative goodwill impairment analyses, the Company has determined there were no triggering
events indicating impairment of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
Intangible assets consist of both definite-lived intangible assets, primarily acquired content, customer relationships, patents, trademarks and domain
names, and indefinite-lived trade name intangible assets. Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:
Acquired content
Customer relationships
Other Intangibles
Patents

3 - 4 years
4 - 6 years
3 - 10 years
20 years
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j.

Impairment of Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company performs an impairment review of long-lived assets, including property and equipment and both definite and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, in accordance with the respective accounting
standards. If the Company determines that the carrying value of an asset group may not be recoverable, the Company measures recoverability by
comparing the carrying amount of the asset group to the future undiscounted cash flows it expects the asset group to generate. If the Company considers
any of these assets to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized equals the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. In
addition, the Company periodically evaluates the estimated remaining useful lives of long-lived assets to determine whether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of depreciation or amortization. No impairment indicators were identified and no impairment
charges were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
k.

Leases

The Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception and classifies its leases at commencement. Operating leases with
initial terms of twelve months or greater are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and operating lease liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use underlying assets over the term of the lease and lease liabilities represent the Company’s contractual
obligation to make lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on
the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets also include any unamortized initial direct costs and any
prepayments less any unamortized lease incentives received. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate for use in determining the present
value of future payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. Options to extend or terminate a lease are included in the ROU asset and lease
liability when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option.
Lease expense for minimum lease payments for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in operating
expenses within the consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease costs represent non-lease components, namely common area maintenance and
taxes, that are not fixed and are expensed as incurred.
l.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company’s tax positions are subject to income tax audits by certain tax jurisdictions throughout the world. The Company recognizes the tax
benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the position will be sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority. The tax
benefit recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit which is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement with the taxing
authority. The Company recognizes interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax (benefit) provision.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts that are more likely than not expected to be realized
based on the weighting of positive and negative evidence. Future realization of deferred tax assets ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable
income of the appropriate character (for example, ordinary income or capital gain) within the carryback or carryforward periods available under the
applicable tax law. The Company regularly reviews the deferred tax assets for recoverability based on historical taxable income, projected future taxable
income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and tax planning strategies. The Company’s judgments regarding future
profitability may change due to many factors, including future market conditions and the ability to successfully execute its business plans and/or tax
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planning strategies. Should there be a change in the ability to recover deferred tax assets, the tax provision would increase or decrease in the period in
which the assessment is changed.
m. Foreign Currency Transactions
The functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries is determined based on the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates.
Assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the end of each
period and revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Gains and losses from these translations are recognized as
cumulative translation adjustments and included in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The Company remeasures monetary assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the functional currency at average exchange rates in effect during
each period. Gains and losses from these remeasurement adjustments are recognized within other income (expense).
n. Revenue Recognition
The Company derives substantially all of its revenue from subscription services fees paid by customers for access to the Company’s cloud-based
platform and content. The Company applies the following five-step approach for considering contracts:
•

identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

•

identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

determination of the transaction price;

•

allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company recognizes revenue at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the service to a customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services, net of any sales or other tax. The Company’s subscription
contracts typically vary from one year to three years and are generally noncancellable and nonrefundable.
Subscription service revenue consists of subscription fees earned from providing access to the Company’s cloud-based platform, including support
services and feature upgrades, if and when available. The Company’s cloud-based platform also includes training content which can be downloaded by the
customer during their subscription term. The subscription service contracts do not provide customers with the right to take possession of the software
operating on the cloud platform and, as a result, are accounted for as service arrangements. Access to the platform represents a series of distinct services
that the Company continually provides access to, which fulfills its obligation to the end customer over the subscription term. This series of distinct services
represents a single performance obligation that is satisfied over time. Accordingly, the amounts allocated to the ratable portion of subscription revenue are
recorded as deferred revenue and recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term, beginning on the date that the service is made available to the
customer. Amounts expected to be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date are classified within current liabilities and the remaining portion is
classified in long-term liabilities.
The customers’ ability to access and download content throughout their subscription term is considered distinct and accounted for as a separate
performance obligation. The portion of the transaction price allocated to the downloadable content performance obligation is recognized as revenue at
contract inception when the customer gains access to the downloadable content.
The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative stand-alone selling price, or SSP, basis. The SSP for the ratable
portion of subscription revenue is determined using observable stand-alone sales data, including adjustments for standard discounting practices. As it
relates to the content available for

76

download, we determine SSP using an adjusted market assessment approach , which requires significant judgment. The calculation of SSP primarily
utilizes suggested royalty rates, assumptions regarding content production costs and other industry pricing data.
o.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists of certain direct costs associated with delivering the Company’s platform and includes hosting fees as well as amortization of
capitalized internal-use software and content and allocated overhead. Cost of revenues also includes personnel costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses,
and stock compensation, for employees who provide support services to customers.
p.

Stock Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the estimated fair value of the award on the date of
grant. Following the Company’s IPO, stock awards primarily consist of time and performance-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The grant date fair
value of RSUs is measured at the grant date closing stock price and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award,
which is generally three years, and net of forfeitures, which are recorded as incurred.
Performance-based RSUs vest, if at all, based on internal performance targets in effect during the year of grant. Stock compensation expense related to
these awards is initially based on the number of shares that would vest if the Company achieved 100% of the performance target, which is the intended
outcome at the grant date. Throughout the requisite service period, which is generally three years, management monitors the probability of achievement of
the performance target. If it becomes probable that more or less than the current estimate of awarded shares will vest, an adjustment to stock compensation
expense will be recognized as a change in accounting estimate in the period that such probability changes.
Stock compensation expenses related to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) are based on the grant date fair value using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. These expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis over the offering period, which is generally 6 months unless
otherwise determined by the Company’s board of directors or compensation committee. The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock at a 15.0% discount from the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock on (i) the first trading day of the
applicable offering period or (ii) the last trading day of the purchase period in the applicable offering period.
Prior to the Company’s IPO and before there was an active market for the Company’s Class A common stock, the Company primarily issued stock
options and estimated the fair value of its stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The most significant estimate utilized in the model
was the fair value of the Company’s common stock which was historically determined by our board of directors who exercised judgment and considered
numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our common stock including (i) valuations performed at or near
the time of grant; (ii) rights, preferences, and privileges of our redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; (iii) our actual
operating and financial performance at the time of the option grant; (iv) likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a
merger or acquisition of our business; (v) the value of comparable companies with respect to industry, business model, stage of growth, financial risk or
other factors; (vi) our stage of development and future financial projections; (vii) market transactions at or near the time of grant; and (viii) the lack of
marketability of our common stock. Following the IPO, there is an active market for the Company’s Class A common stock, and the Company is no longer
estimating the fair value of its common stock.
q.

401(k) Plan

The Company maintains a tax-qualified retirement plan, or the 401(k) plan, that provides eligible employees with an opportunity to save for retirement
on a tax-advantaged basis. Eligible employees are able to participate in the 401(k) plan as of the first day of the month following the date they meet the
401(k) plan’s eligibility requirements, and participants are able to defer up to 100% of their eligible compensation subject to applicable annual Internal
Revenue Code limits. All participants’ interests in their deferrals are 100% vested when contributed and the
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Company’s matching contributions are 100% vested following one year of service. The Company contracted with a third-party provider to act as a
custodian and trustee, and to process and maintain the records of participant data. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company
made contributions to the 401(k) Plan of $1.3 million, $2.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
r.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $14.4 million, $13.3 million and $12.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These costs are included within sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
s.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred, except for certain internal-use software development costs, which may be capitalized as
noted above. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related headcount costs, costs of professional services associated with
the ongoing development of the Company’s technology, and allocated overhead and are recorded within technology and development expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
t.

Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is presented in conformity with the two-class method required for participating securities. Prior to the IPO, the
Company considered all series of its convertible preferred stock to be participating securities. Net loss was not allocated to the convertible preferred stock
as the holders of the convertible preferred stock do not have a contractual obligation to share in any losses. Since the completion of the IPO, the Company
considers shares of Class B common stock to be participating securities, since each share of Class B common stock is convertible into one share of Class A
common stock at the option of the holder. Net income is attributed to common stockholders and participating securities based on their participation rights.
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by giving affect to all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents to the extent they are dilutive. As the
Company has reported losses for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive and, accordingly, basic net loss per share equals
diluted net loss per share.
u. Business Combinations
The Company includes the results of operations of the businesses that it acquires as of the respective dates of acquisition. The Company allocates the
fair value of the purchase price of its acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of
acquisition. The excess of the fair value of the purchase price over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such
valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing
certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, the value of trade names
from a market participant perspective, useful lives and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which may be up
to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Upon conclusion of
the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments
are recorded to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Transaction costs associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred,
and are included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
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v.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company’s cash deposits typically exceed the federally insured limits. Collateral is not required for accounts receivable.
No single customer accounted for more than ten percent of total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. Additionally, no
single customer accounted for more than ten percent of accounts receivable at December 31, 2021 or 2020.
w. Fair Value Measurement
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure their fair value. The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the fair value measurement within the
following hierarchical levels:
•

Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

•

Level 2: Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

•

Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value and indicate the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation inputs used (in thousands):
December 31, 2021
Significant Other
Significant
Observable
Unobservable
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Total assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Contingent consideration
Total liabilities

$
$

180,170
180,170

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

180,170
180,170

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

5,000
5,000

$
$

5,000
5,000

December 31, 2020
Significant Other
Significant
Observable
Unobservable
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Total assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Contingent consideration
Total liabilities

Total

Total

$
$

22,479
22,479

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

22,479
22,479

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

350
350

$
$

350
350
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The Company’s contingent consideration liabilities were initially measured using (1) a probability estimate of achieving the contingency and (2) a
Monte Carlo simulation utilizing future revenue projections, a risk-adjusted discount rate and performance volatility assumptions both of which involve
inherent uncertainties.
The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash held in banks, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate fair value
due to their short-term maturities and are excluded from the fair value tables above.
There were no transfers between levels during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.
x.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, (“ASU 2019-12”),
which removes certain exceptions related to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period
and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 also amends other aspects of the guidance to help simplify and
promote consistent application of US GAAP. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early
adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2021 and the adoption was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
Note 3 - Revenue, Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table summarizes revenue recognized from performance obligations delivered to customers which relate to (i) subscription services that
are recognized ratably over the term of the contract and (ii) subscription revenue allocated to downloadable content which is recognized at a point in time,
as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Ratable portion of subscription revenue
Subscription revenue allocated to downloadable content
Total

$

212,128
34,170
246,298

$

$
$

148,977
25,909
174,886

2019

$

100,084
20,491
120,575

$

The following table summarizes the revenue by region based on the shipping address of customers who have contracted to use the Company’s platform
(in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

North America
International
Total

$
$

207,221
39,077
246,298

$
$

154,131
20,755
174,886

2019

$
$

108,835
11,740
120,575

Contract Balances
The Company records unbilled receivables when revenue recognized on a contract exceeds amounts invoiced. Unbilled receivables were not material
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue which represents contractual billings made in advance of performance under the contract. Changes in
deferred revenue were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Beginning balance
Plus: Additions to deferred revenue
Less: Recognition of revenue deferred in the prior year
Less: Recognition of revenue deferred in the current year

$

Ending balance

$

185,696 $
326,376
(136,325)
(109,973)
265,774 $

2019

138,990 $
221,671
(98,657)
(76,308)
185,696 $

83,676
175,636
(59,682)
(60,640)
138,990

Remaining Performance Obligations
The transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes
deferred revenue and unbilled amounts that will be recognized as revenue in future periods. The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation is influenced by several factors, including the timing of delivery of the Company’s products and average contract terms. Unbilled portions of the
remaining performance obligation are subject to future economic risks including bankruptcies, regulatory changes and other market factors. The Company
excludes from the remaining performance obligation amounts related to performance obligations that are billed and recognized as they are delivered. The
majority of the Company’s noncurrent remaining performance obligation is expected to be recognized in the next 13 to 36 months.
Remaining performance obligations consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2021

$

Current

2020

198,134

$

136,382

125,534

Noncurrent
$

Total

323,668

87,395
$

223,777

Deferred Commissions
Changes in deferred commissions were as follows (in thousands):
2021

Beginning balance
Plus: Additions to deferred commissions
Less: Recognition of deferred commissions
Plus: Foreign currency impacts on deferred commissions

$

Ending balance

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020

37,199 $
34,340
(19,474)
(354)
51,711 $

29,176 $
22,161
(14,238)
100
37,199 $

2019

19,080
22,375
(12,279)
—
29,176

Note 4 – Business Combinations
MediaPro
On March 1, 2021, the Company acquired all outstanding equity interests in MediaPro Holdings, LLC (“MediaPro”), a SaaS company that specializes
in security and privacy solutions including production of digital content and custom software. The acquisition was funded using cash consideration of
approximately $11.2 million, net of cash acquired of $1.9 million, and equity consideration of $24.7 million. The acquisition was accounted for as a
business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations and the Company has included the financial results of the acquired business in
the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The
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resulting goodwill, which is deductible for tax purposes, is reflective of synergies the Company expects to realize and the assembled workforce.
The Company has recorded the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date. MediaPro revenues and
losses were not material for the year ended December 31, 2021. Acquisition related costs of $0.5 million are included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. The Company has not presented pro forma results of operations because the acquisition is
not material to the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):
Accounts receivable
Other assets acquired
Trade name
Acquired content
Customer relationships
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities acquired
Total identifiable net assets assumed
Goodwill

$

$

Total net asset value

1,391
4,171
300
1,600
3,300
(3,919)
(3,172)
3,671
34,243
37,914

SecurityAdvisor
On November 1, 2021 the Company acquired all outstanding equity interests of SecurityAdvisor Technologies, Inc., collectively referred to as
“SecurityAdvisor”, a software-as-a-service company providing a real-time, personalized security awareness platform that integrates with its customers’
existing security infrastructure and provides customers the ability to address human layer risks in real-time. The acquisition was funded using cash
consideration of approximately $22.6 million, net of cash acquired of $4.0 million, and equity consideration of $29.0 million.
The purchase agreement also includes earn-out provisions payable in a combination of cash and equity that are contingent upon future events. These
earn-outs include $5.0 million payable in cash upon the first sale of a product incorporating the developed technology and up to $10.0 million payable in
Class A common shares based upon performance targets measured by the achievement of certain annual recurring revenue levels. These earn-out
provisions are classified as contingent consideration liabilities and are subject to recurring fair value measurements. The preliminary fair value of the
contingent consideration is estimated to be $5.0 million.
The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations and the Company has included the
financial results of the acquired business in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The resulting goodwill, which is not
deductible for tax purposes, is primarily attributable to expanded market opportunities and the assembled workforce. The Company has recorded the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date. SecurityAdvisor revenues and losses were not material for the year
ended December 31, 2021. Acquisition related costs of $0.6 million are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2021.
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):
Cash
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Acquired technology
Deferred tax liability
Other liabilities
Total identifiable net assets assumed
Goodwill

$

3,985
938
119
11,900
(3,010)
(221)
13,711
46,849
60,560

$

Total net asset value

The purchase price allocation was based on estimates of the fair value of the net assets acquired and is considered preliminary and subject to change as
the valuation is finalized. Specifically, the Company is continuing to evaluate the valuation of the developed technology and future earn-out provisions. The
Company expects to finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date. The Company has not presented pro
forma results of operations because the acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.
Following the acquisition, the Company also granted certain key employees of SecurityAdvisor restricted stock awards, containing both service and
performance-based vesting conditions, with an aggregate grant date fair value of $15.9 million. The awards are expensed as stock compensation expense
over the requisite service period, assuming the service and performed conditions are achieved.
Note 5 - Capitalized Software and Content, Net
Capitalized software and content, net consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2021

Internally developed capitalized software
Acquired developed technology
Capitalized content

$

Less: Accumulated amortization
$

Total capitalized software and content, net

2020

16,689 $
11,900
23,277
51,866
(24,792)
27,074 $

15,081
—
16,899
31,980
(16,457)
15,523

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 totaled $8.5 million, $8.0 million and $5.6 million, respectively. These
costs are primarily included in cost of revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Internally developed capitalized software and content balances include accumulated costs not yet placed in service of $3.5 million at December 31,
2021. As the related software and content is not yet in service, the costs are
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not included in the following estimated future amortization expenses for capitalized software and content placed in service at the balance sheet dates shown
below (in thousands):
December 31, 2021

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

8,142
5,200
3,273
2,588
2,363
1,977
23,543

$

Total
Note 6 - Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2021

Leasehold improvements
Computers and other equipment
Furniture and fixtures

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation
$

Total property and equipment, net

2020

8,677 $
7,038
2,002
17,717
(8,597)
9,120 $

9,143
5,630
2,107
16,880
(6,596)
10,284

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 totaled $4.1 million, $3.6 million and $2.1 million, respectively.
Additionally, 92.6% and 92.7% of the Company’s property and equipment were located in the United States and 7.4% and 7.3% were located in
various international jurisdictions, as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.
Note 7 - Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Intangible assets
Intangible assets, net consist of the following (in thousands):

Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Acquired content and customer relationships(1)
Domain names
Patents
Trade names and other indefinite-lived intangibles(1)
In-process patents and trademarks
Total intangible assets

December 31, 2021

4.5 years $
2.1 years
18.5 years
Indefinite
Not applicable
$
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Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying Amount

7,124
260
1,761
709
1,231
11,085

$

$

Net Carrying Amount

(2,762) $
(211)
(120)
—
—
(3,093) $

4,362
49
1,641
709
1,231
7,992

Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Acquired content and customer relationships(1)
Domain names
Patents
Trade names and other indefinite-lived intangibles(1)
In-process patents and trademarks
Total intangible assets

December 31, 2020
Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying Amount

3.7 years $
1.3 years
19.1 years
Indefinite
Not applicable
$

2,268
245
1,235
425
873
5,046

$

$

Net Carrying Amount

(1,859) $
(156)
(46)
—
—
(2,061) $

409
89
1,189
425
873
2,985

_______________
(1) - Gross carrying amount includes impact of translation of foreign denominated intangible assets.

Intangible asset amortization for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 totaled $1.1 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
These expenses are primarily presented in operating expenses with a portion allocated to cost of revenue within the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations.
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2021

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

$

Total

1,161
1,107
1,075
739
665
1,305
6,052

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill amounts are not
amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least annually.
The changes in carrying amounts of goodwill were as follows (in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2019
Other adjustments(1)
Balance at December 31, 2020
Acquisitions
Other adjustments(1)

$

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

$

________________
(1) Other adjustments represents the impact of translation of our foreign currency denominated goodwill balances.
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8,873
(268)
8,605
81,092
(368)
89,329

Note 8 - Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2021

Accrued commissions
Accrued payroll
Accounts payable
Contingent consideration
Other accrued expenses

$

$

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

9,302
8,798
5,628
5,000
8,914
37,642

December 31, 2020

$

6,662
4,839
2,530
350
4,884
19,265

$

Note 9 - Leases
The Company primarily enters into operating lease agreements for office space and other property and equipment, some of which include options to
renew or terminate the lease. The options to renew, which extend for up to 5 years, are reviewed on a per lease basis to determine if the renewal option is
considered reasonably certain to be recognized and, therefore, are included in the determination of lease payments. Additionally, during the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Company entered into a finance lease agreement with total future lease payments of $0.2 million, which is not considered material
to the business.
The components of lease costs were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Operating lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost

$

Total lease cost

$

3,565
556
707
4,828

$

$

2,932
656
501
4,089

2019

$

2,133
562
484
3,179

$

Lease costs are primarily included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company
reports the amortization of ROU assets and the change in operating lease liabilities on a net basis in accounts payable and other liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.
Other information related to operating and finance leases is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

5.2
2.0 %
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5.2
5.6 %

2019

3.5
7.8 %

Future lease payments under non-cancellable leases recorded as of December 31, 2021, were as follows (in thousands):
Operating Leases

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: imputed interest

$

3,156
2,742
2,582
1,994
2,045
1,504
14,023
(601)
13,422

$

Total future lease payments under non-cancellable leases
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases

$

3,150

$

2,920

$

2,152

$

3,240

$

3,503

$

2,287

Note 10 – Revolving Credit Facility
The Company has a revolving line of credit (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) that provides for a $100.0 million revolving credit facility, with a letter of
credit and swingline sublimit of $10.0 million each, and an accordion feature under which the Company can increase borrowings under the credit facility
by up to $50.0 million. The Company is also obligated to pay other customary fees for a credit facility of this size and type, including letter of credit fees,
an upfront fee, and an unused commitment fee which are expensed as incurred and included within interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Revolving Credit Facility matures on March 12, 2024 and contains certain financial covenants.
The borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at a base rate equal to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such date as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime rate”, or (c) the eurodollar
rate plus 1.0%, provided that such rate shall not be less than 0.5%. As of December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any outstanding borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Facility, there were no issued letters of credit outstanding from the credit agreement and the Company was in compliance with all
covenant requirements.
Note 11 - Stockholder’s Equity
Initial Public Offering
On April 26, 2021, the Company completed an IPO of its Class A common stock, in which the Company issued and sold 10,425,000 shares of Class A
common stock, including 1,425,000 shares resulting from the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at an IPO price of
$16.00 per share for net proceeds to the Company of $156.0 million. Upon recording the proceeds from the transaction, the Company reclassified
$2.2 million of offering costs into stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO.
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Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company amended its Fifth Charter in the form of the IPO Charter, which authorized capital stock
consisting of 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, 500,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value
$0.00001 per share, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share. The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class
B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion rights. Each share of Class B common stock is entitled to 10 votes and is
convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Additionally, all shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding immediately prior to the IPO,
including all of the Company’s outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock, were reclassified into shares of the Company’s Class B common stock.
Stockholder’s Equity Prior to Initial Public Offering
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the terms of the Company’s equity securities were defined in the Company’s Fifth Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, which was filed with the Secretary of the State of Delaware on July 1, 2019 (the “Fifth Charter”). As described above, the
Company amended and then restated its Fifth Charter. The summary below relates to the Company’s Fifth Charter, inclusive of the amendment, which
included the forward stock split, but prior to the restatement which was filed in conjunction with the IPO.
Common Stock
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company had one class of common stock where each share of common stock entitled the holder to one vote,
together with the holders of preferred stock, on all matters submitted to the stockholders for a vote. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the
holders of the common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers and preference of the holders of the preferred stock set forth below.
Preferred Stock
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company was authorized to issue 114,164,600 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding Series A, A-1, B, C and C-1 Preferred Stock (individually referred to as “Series A, A-1, B, C or C-1” or
collectively “Preferred Stock”) as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
Issue Price per Share

Series A
Series A-1
Series B
Series C
Series C-1
Total

$
$
$
$
$

0.26
0.82
1.67
4.85
5.90

Shares Authorized

30,525,040
6,764,960
17,955,840
6,511,400
52,407,360
114,164,600

Issued and Outstanding

30,525,040
6,764,960
17,955,840
6,511,400
52,407,360
114,164,600

Net Carrying Value

$

$

8,000
5,541
30,000
31,377
309,015
383,933

Liquidation Preference

$

$

8,000
5,541
30,000
31,561
309,400
384,502

As it relates to voting and dividend rights, the rights, preferences, and privileges of the preferred stock did not differ from the rights of the common
stock. Dividends in the amount of $0.07 per share were declared and paid in 2019. No dividends were declared during the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020. In the event of any liquidation or Deemed Liquidation Event as defined in the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of preferred stock were
entitled to the greater of (i) the original issue price of the preferred stock plus any dividends declared and unpaid thereon, or ii) the amount payable had all
classes of shares been converted to common stock.
Additionally, each share of preferred stock was convertible, at the option of the holder at any time, into the number of shares of common stock
determined by dividing the original issue price for such series of preferred stock by the conversion price for such series of preferred share that is in effect at
the time of conversion. Each share of preferred stock was converted to one share of Class B common stock in connection with the IPO.
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Note 12 - Stock Compensation
2016 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective January 19, 2016, the Company established the KnowBe4, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2016 Incentive Plan”). The 2016 Incentive
Plan authorizes the issuance of up to an aggregate of 37,728,000 shares of common stock in the form of stock options and other types of equity awards that
may be granted to officers, employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The Company has only
granted stock options under the 2016 Incentive Plan. These options generally become vested within four years from the date of grant and expire ten years
from the date of grant, with typical vesting of 25% on the first anniversary and monthly thereafter.
The Company (i) amended the 2016 Incentive Plan to clarify that, following the closing of the IPO, outstanding awards under the 2016 Incentive Plan
would cover shares of the Company’s Class B common stock, and (ii) terminated the 2016 Incentive Plan; provided, however, that the 2016 Incentive Plan
continues to govern the terms and conditions of outstanding awards under the 2016 Incentive Plan as of the time of its termination. As of December 31,
2021, a total of 9,104,749 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 2016 Incentive Plan.
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective April 20, 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“2021 Incentive Plan”). The 2021 Incentive Plan authorizes the
issuance of up to an aggregate of 18,400,000 shares of Class A common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to our employees, directors and consultants and any of our
future subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants. As of December 31, 2021, 18,262,924 shares were reserved for future issuance under the 2021
Incentive Plan.
Stock Options
The Company records compensation expense for stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the BlackScholes option-pricing model with the assumptions set forth in the table below.
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Expected term (years)
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Fair value of common stock

6.3
45.0 %
0.8 %
—%
$19.82
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4.0 - 6.3
45.0% - 50.0%
0.2% - 1.7%
—%
$4.14 - $5.84

2019

6.3
40.0% - 45.0%
1.4% - 2.5%
—%
$1.07 - $4.07

The following table summarizes the common stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Options outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Canceled, forfeited or expired
Options outstanding at December 31, 2021
Options vested and exercisable at December 31, 2021

Number of
Shares
10,364,520
5,060,720
(328,600)
(876,840)
14,219,800
40,000
(4,608,536)
(546,515)
9,104,749
6,050,749

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Aggregate
Term
Intrinsic Value
(years)
(in thousands)
8.1 $
18,952

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
$
1.47
$
4.93
$
0.68
$
1.92
$
2.73
12.01
1.78
4.15
$
3.18

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value
$
0.71
$
2.22

$

1.51

6.9 $

123,605

$

$

1.17

8.2 $

21,378

2.51

$

1.25
11.52

$

3,724

7.9 $

131,893
90,492

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised represents the difference between the estimated fair value of our common stock on the date of
exercise and the exercise price of the options.
Share Repurchases
Prior to the completion of its IPO, the Company had repurchased or promised to repurchase shares of common stock from former employees under
pre-existing contingent call options triggered upon termination. The repurchase price paid or promised was in excess of the fair value of the common stock
and options on the repurchase date, which did not result in additional expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 but resulted in additional
compensation expense of $1.9 million and $116.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. During the year ended December
31, 2021, the Company repurchased 97,600 common shares then subsequently completed it’s IPO, establishing a public market for the Company’s shares
and no longer intends to repurchase shares under remaining contingent call options.
Restricted Stock Units
The Company recognizes stock compensation expense associated with restricted stock units (“RSUs”) over the term of the respective awards. The
following table summarizes the RSUs activity during the year ended December 31, 2021:
Weighted-Average GrantDate Fair Value per share

Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited or expired

—
3,468,858
(1,016,959)
(18,218)
2,433,681

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
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$
$
$
$
$

—
19.61
16.70
24.14
20.80

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Effective April 20, 2021, the Company’s 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) allows for the sale of 3,350,000 shares of Class A common
stock. The fair value of the ESPP purchase right is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Expected term (years)
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

0.5
60.9% - 71.0%
0.1% - 0.4%
—%

Stock Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes the components of stock compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total stock compensation expense

$

$

470
8,474
1,706
18,695
29,345

$

$

188
1,579
896
2,571
5,234

2019

$

83
5,750
162
112,110
118,105

$

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $51.8 million of unrecognized stock compensation associated with stock options, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.
Note 13 - Net Loss per Share
The computation of net loss per share is as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Class A
Class B

Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed losses for basic calculation
Reallocation of undistributed losses for diluted calculation
Allocation of undistributed losses for diluted calculation
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic and diluted per share computation
Net loss per share, basic and diluted

$
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$

(1,985) $
—
(1,985) $

(9,860)
—
(9,860)

$

19,600,001
(0.10) $

97,338,682
(0.10)

Year Ended December 31,
2020

Numerator:
Net loss
Less: dividend distribution allocated to preferred stockholders
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

$

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

2019

$

(2,430) $
—
(2,430) $

(124,323)
(3,749)
(128,072)

$

42,049,840
(0.06) $

66,958,400
(1.91)

Potentially dilutive securities that were not included in the diluted per share calculations because they would be anti-dilutive were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Employee stock purchase plan
Preferred shares, Series A
Preferred shares, Series A-1
Preferred shares, Series B
Preferred shares, Series C
Preferred shares, Series C-1

12,399,924
367,270
—
—
—
—
—
—

12,974,400
—
—
30,525,040
6,764,960
17,955,840
6,511,400
52,407,360

2019

12,173,640
—
—
30,525,040
6,764,960
17,955,840
5,102,080
26,131,880

Note 14 - Income Taxes
The domestic and foreign components of income before provision for (benefit from) income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Domestic
International
Loss before income taxes

$

(16,975) $
9,018
(7,957) $

$

2019

(5,274) $
4,676
(598) $

(125,014)
324
(124,690)

The (provision for) benefit from income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Current:
Federal and State
Foreign
Total current tax expense
Deferred:
Federal and State
Foreign
Total deferred tax (expense) benefit
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes

$

$
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2019

(403) $
(2,243)
(2,646)

(90) $
(1,113)
(1,203)

(34)
(270)
(304)

1,543
(2,785)
(1,242)
(3,888) $

(4)
(625)
(629)
(1,832) $

(5)
694
689
385

The following table presents the reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to our effective tax rate:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Tax at federal statutory rate
Foreign income taxes
State income taxes
Permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Research and development tax credit
Other, net

21.0 %
(39.6)%
14.6 %
1.9 %
(61.9)%
15.0 %
0.1 %
(48.9)%

Effective tax rate

2019

21.0 %
113.9 %
(3.7)%
(204.8)%
(447.8)%
192.7 %
22.6 %
(306.2)%

21.0 %
0.3 %
1.6 %
(11.6)%
(9.3)%
—%
(1.8)%
0.3 %

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward
Deferred revenue
Stock compensation
Operating lease liabilities
Research and development tax credit
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Less: Valuation allowances
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred commissions
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Operating lease right of use assets, net
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$
$

$

Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets

2020

15,892 $
21,905
2,451
2,899
2,419
2,602
48,168
(27,601)
20,567 $

12,156
16,007
2,838
2,521
1,151
429
35,102
(21,862)
13,240

(12,282) $
(7,976)
(2,798)
(740)
(23,796)
(3,229) $

(7,398)
(2,918)
(2,440)
(361)
(13,117)
123

The Company has established a valuation allowance against its U.S. net deferred tax assets and deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictions due
to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of those assets. The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of the deferred tax assets by assessing
the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax
assets. When it is determined to be more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets are realizable, the valuation allowance is reduced. The increase in the
valuation allowance of $5.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 resulted primarily from losses generated in the United States.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had indefinite-lived federal net operating loss carryforwards of $59.6 million and $41.3 million,
respectively, which may be available to offset future taxable income for federal income tax purposes. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company
had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of $41.8 million and $33.8 million, respectively, a portion of which will begin to expire
in 2025 if not utilized. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s research and development tax credit
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carryforward was $2.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively. This tax credit was established in 2020 retrospectively to 2017 and is subject to a 20 year
carryforward. This tax credit will begin to expire in 2037, if not used.
Unrecognized Tax Benefits and Other Considerations
The Company records liabilities related to its uncertain tax positions. The Company recognizes the tax benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is
more likely than not that the position is sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority, based on the technical merits. The tax benefit recognized is
measured as the largest amount of benefit which is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. The Company did
not have any unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.
Tax positions for the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to income tax audits by multiple tax jurisdictions throughout the world. Tax years 2018
and forward generally remain open for examination for federal and state tax purposes. Tax years 2016 and forward generally remain open for examination
for foreign tax purposes. The Company is currently under audit in Germany for tax years 2017 - 2019. To the extent utilized in future years’ tax returns,
existing net operating loss carryforwards will remain subject to examination until the respective tax year is closed.
Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company establishes accruals for
specific legal proceedings when it is considered probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Accruals for
loss contingencies are reviewed periodically and adjusted as additional information becomes available. If a loss is not both probable and reasonably
estimable, or if an exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount accrued, the Company assesses whether there is at least a reasonable possibility that a
loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred. If there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred, the Company
discloses the estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or states that such an estimate cannot be made. The evaluation as to whether a loss is reasonably
possible or probable is based on the Company’s assessment, in conjunction with legal counsel, regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter.
The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for the potential impact of loss contingencies that are probable and reasonably estimable. The
Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of any matters to which the Company is presently a party will have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an
unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.
Note 16 - Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and determined that there have been no events
that have occurred that would require adjustments to our disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal
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financial officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding our internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) or an attestation report of our independent registered accounting firm due to a transition
period established by rules of the SEC for newly public companies. Additionally, our independent registered accounting firm will not be required to opine
on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as
defined in the JOBS Act.
Changes in Internal Control
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d)
of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or
our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the
controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Due to inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections
None.
Part III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference. Such Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2021.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2021.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2021.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2021.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Tampa, FL, Auditor Firm ID: 185.
The information required by this item will be included in the 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the year ended December 31, 2021.
Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements
The information concerning our financial statements, and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm required by this Item is
incorporated by reference herein to the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 8, entitled “Financial Statements”
(b) Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the
schedules, or because the information required is included in Item 8, entitled “Financial Statements”
(c) Exhibits
The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

2.1

Merger Agreement, dated October 20, 2021, by and among KnowBe4, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger
Sub II, SecurityAdvisor and Fortis Advisor, LLC

8-K

001-40351

2.1

October 21, 2021

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of KnowBe4, Inc.

10-Q

001-40351

3.1

May 26, 2021

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of KnowBe4, Inc.

10-Q

001-40351

3.2

May 26, 2021

4.1*

Description of Securities of KnowBe4, Inc.

4.2

Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate of KnowBe4, Inc.

S-1/A

333-254518

4.1

April 12, 2021
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4.3*

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2019, by and among
KnowBe4, Inc. and certain holders of its capital stock, as amended August 9, 2021

10.1†

2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and related form agreements

S-1/A

333-254518

10.1

April 12, 2021

10.2†

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and related form agreements

S-1/A

333-254518

10.2

April 12, 2021

10.3†

2016 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and related form agreements

S-1/A

333-254518

10.3

April 12, 2021

10.4†

Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

S-1

333-254518

10.4

March 19, 2021

10.5†
10.6†

Outside Director Compensation Policy
First Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 26, 2020, by and
between Sjoerd Sjouwerman and KnowBe4, Inc.

S-1
S-1

333-254518
333-254518

10.5
10.6

March 19, 2021
March 19, 2021

10.7†

Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 26, 2020, by and between Lars Letonoff and
KnowBe4, Inc.

S-1

333-254518

10.7

March 19, 2021

10.8†

First Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 26, 2020, by and
between Shrikrishna Venkataraman and KnowBe4, Inc.
Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 14, 2022, by and between Robert Reich and
KnowBe4, Inc.

S-1

333-254518

10.8

March 19, 2021

10.10†

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by and between KnowBe4, Inc. and each director
and executive officer

S-1

333-254518

10.9

March 19, 2021

10.11

Lease Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2015, by and between Clearwater Tower, LLC (formerly
known as Wilder Corporation of Delaware) and KnowBe4, Inc., as amended May 27, 2015, March
10, 2016, January 9, 2017, May 17, 2017, August 30, 2017, November 2, 2017, December 4, 2018,
July 28, 2020 and November 6, 2020

S-1

333-254518

10.10

March 19, 2021

10.12

Credit Agreement by and between the registrant and Bank of America, N.A., dated as of March 12,
2021

10-Q

001-40351

10.9

May 26, 2021

10.13*

Separation Agreement and General Release, dated March 10, 2022, by and between Shrikrishna
Venkataraman and KnowBe4, Inc.

21.1*

List of subsidiaries of KnowBe4, Inc.

23.1*

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

24.1*

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1*–

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension
information contained in Exhibits 101)

10.9†*

________________
*
†
–

Filed herewith.
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of KnowBe4, Inc. under the
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Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
Date: March 10, 2022
KnowBe4, Inc.
By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Chief Executive Officer
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Power of Attorney
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Sjoerd
Sjouwerman and Shrikrishna Venkataraman, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for
such individual in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or
the individual’s substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Chief Executive Officer & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 10, 2022

/s/ Shrikrishna Venkataraman
Shrikrishna Venkataraman

Co-President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 10, 2022

/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Jeremiah Daly

Director

March 10, 2022

/s/ Joseph DiSabato
Joseph DiSabato

Director

March 10, 2022

/s/ Kevin Klausmeyer
Kevin Klausmeyer

Director

March 10, 2022

/s/ Stephen Shanley
Stephen Shanley

Director

March 10, 2022

/s/ Gerhard Watzinger
Gerhard Watzinger

Director

March 10, 2022

/s/ Kara Wilson
Kara Wilson

Director

March 10, 2022
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Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following description summarizes certain important terms of the capital stock of KnowBe4, Inc. (the “company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”), as well as
certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws currently in effect. This summary does not
purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws, our amended and restated investors’ rights agreement dated as of July 2, 2019, as amended (the “Investors’ Rights Agreement”), each previously
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which
this Exhibit 4.1 is a part, as well as to the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). We encourage you to read our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws, the Investors’ Rights Agreement and the applicable portions of the DGCL
carefully.
Authorized Capital Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, 500,000,000 shares of Class B
common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share. All of our outstanding shares of
common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.
Common Stock
We have two classes of authorized common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The rights of the holders of Class A common
stock and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion.
Voting Rights
Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Class A common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders, and holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes for each share of Class B common stock held on all matters submitted to a
vote of stockholders, in each case, including the election of directors. Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights.
Under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, approval of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class A
common stock and at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class B common stock, each voting separately as a class, is required (i) to approve
certain merger and change of control transactions and (ii) in order for the Class A common stock and the Class B common stock to be treated differently
with respect to, among other things, dividends, distributions and the consideration paid or distributed to stockholders in a change of control. In addition,
Delaware law could require either holders of our Class A common stock or our Class B common stock to vote separately as a single class in the following
circumstances:
•
•

if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the par value of a class of stock,
then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and
if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences
or special rights of a class of stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be required to vote separately to
approve the proposed amendment.

Dividends
Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then-outstanding preferred stock, holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common
stock are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of legally available funds.
Liquidation
In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock will be entitled to share
ratably in the net assets legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities and the satisfaction of any
liquidation preference granted to the holders of any then-outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Rights and Preferences
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to our common stock.
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Conversion of Class B Common Stock
Each outstanding share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A common stock. Future
transfers by holders of shares of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited
exceptions, including but not limited to, certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes and transfers among affiliates, to the extent the transferor
continues to remain an affiliate. Once converted or transferred and converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock may not be reissued.
All the outstanding shares of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of our Class A common stock upon the earlier of April
26, 2026 or the affirmative vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding Class B common stock. Following such conversion, each
share of Class A common stock will have one vote per share and the rights of the holders of all outstanding common stock will be identical.
Preferred Stock
Our board of directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to
100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof. These rights, preferences
and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption rights, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms and the number
of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common stock. The issuance of
preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive dividend payments
and payments upon liquidation. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in our
control of our company or other corporate action.
Registration Rights
Certain holders of our capital stock or their transferees have the right to require us to register the offer and sale of their shares, or to include their shares
in any registration statement we may file pursuant to the Investors’ Rights Agreement, between us and such stockholders. These stockholders may request
that we file registration statements under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the “Securities Act”), and, upon such request and subject to minimum
size and other conditions, we will be required to effect any such registration. We are generally obligated to bear the expenses, other than underwriting
discounts, sales commissions and applicable stock transfer taxes, of all of these registrations. This summary does not purport to be complete and is
qualified in its entirety by the provisions of the Investors’ Rights Agreement, a copy of which has been filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
The registration rights terminate upon the earliest of (i) April 23, 2026, (ii) immediately prior to the completion of certain liquidation events and (iii) as
to a given holder of registration rights, the date after the completion of this offering when such holder of registration rights can sell all of such holder’s
registrable securities during any 90-day period pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act.
Demand Registration Rights
Certain holders of our capital stock are entitled to certain demand registration rights. The holders of at least 30% of the shares having registration rights
then outstanding can request that we file a registration statement to register the offer and sale of their shares. Each such request for registration must cover
securities the anticipated aggregate gross proceeds of which, after deducting underwriting discounts and expenses, is at least $10 million. These demand
registration rights are subject to specified conditions and limitations, including the right of the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any
such registration under certain circumstances. If we determine that it would be materially detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such a demand
registration, we have the right to defer such registration, not more than once in any twelve-month period, for a period of up to 120 days.
Form S-3 Registration Rights
As soon as reasonably practicable after we are eligible to use Form S-3, we have agreed to use our commercially reasonable efforts to file and cause to
be declared effective a registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Shelf Form S-3”). We are required to provide notice to the holders of the shares having
these rights then outstanding and we have agreed to include any shares requested to be included in response to such notice on the Shelf Form S-3. We are
obligated to maintain the effectiveness of the Shelf Form S-3 until the date on which all the shares having these rights have been sold or have otherwise
ceased to be entitled to such rights.
From time to time after the Shelf Form S-3 has been declared effective, holders of these rights may request to sell their shares they hold as long as the
registration has anticipated aggregate proceeds, after deducing underwriting discounts and expenses, of at least $5 million and that such holder sells all of
the shares held by such holder in an underwritten shelf takedown offering that is registered pursuant to the Shelf Form S-3. We are not obligated to effect
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an underwritten shelf takedown within 90 days of another shelf takedown or, if longer, until the date on which the lock-up obligations from the previous
underwritten takedown expire. Holders of these rights also have the right to request that we facilitate certain underwritten block trades as well.
Piggyback Registration Rights
Certain holders of our capital stock are entitled to certain “piggyback” registration rights. If we propose to register the offer and sale of shares of our
common stock under the Securities Act, these holders of our outstanding shares of our capital stock may request that we include their shares in such
registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations, including the right of the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such
registration statement under certain circumstances. As a result, this right applies whenever we propose to file a registration statement under the Securities
Act, other than with respect to (i) a registration related to any employee benefit plan, (ii) a registration relating to a corporate reorganization or other
transaction covered by Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act, (iii) a registration on any registration form that does not permit secondary sales or
(iv) a registration in which the only common stock registered is that issuable upon conversion of debt securities that are also being registered.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Our Amended and
Restated Bylaws
Certain provisions of Delaware law and certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
summarized below may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder
might consider to be in its best interests, including attempts that might result in a premium being paid over the market price for the shares held by
stockholders.
Dual Class Common Stock
As described above, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a dual class common stock structure, which will provide holders
of our Class B common stock with significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant
corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.
Preferred Stock
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that permit our board of directors to issue, without any further vote or action
by the stockholders, 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares
constituting the series and the designation of the series, the voting rights (if any) of the shares of the series and the powers, preferences or relative,
participation, optional and other special rights, if any, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions, of the shares of such series.
Classified Board
Our board of directors is divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class II and Class III. Each class will be an equal number of directors, as nearly
as possible, consisting of one third of the total number of directors constituting the entire board of directors. At each annual meeting of stockholders,
successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that annual meeting will be elected for a three-year term.
Removal of Directors
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that stockholders may only remove a director for cause.
Director Vacancies
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors may fill vacant directorships.
No Cumulative Voting
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that stockholders do not have the right to cumulate votes.
Special Meetings of Stockholders
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special
meetings of the stockholders may be called only by (i) an officer of the company pursuant to a resolution adopted by our board of directors, (ii) the
chairperson of our board of directors, (iii) our Chief Executive Officer, or (iv) our president (in the absence of a Chief Executive Officer.
Advance Notice Procedures for Director Nominations
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to nominate candidates for election as directors at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders or seeking to propose matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings must provide timely notice thereof in
writing. Our amended and restated bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. Our amended and
restated bylaws may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed or may discourage
or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
company.
Action by Written Consent
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that any action to be taken by the stockholders must be
effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be effected by written consent.
Amending our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may be amended or altered in any manner provided by the DGCL, except that amendment of
certain provisions requires the approval of at least 66-2/3% of the combined voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors. Our amended and restated bylaws may be adopted, amended, altered or repealed by stockholders only upon approval
of at least majority of the stockholders entitled to vote, except for any amendment of certain provisions, which would require the approval of at least 662/3% of the total voting power of the outstanding securities, voting together as a single class. Additionally, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation provides that our bylaws may be amended, altered or repealed by our board of directors.
Authorized but Unissued Shares
Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock will be available for future issuances without stockholder approval, except as
required by the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to
raise additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred
stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.
Exclusive Jurisdiction
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of
fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to the DGCL, any action regarding our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or
amended and restated bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our amended and restated bylaws
further provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of
action arising under the Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be deemed to have notice
of and consented to these provisions. Although we believe these provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of law for the
specified types of actions and proceedings, the provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors and officers.
Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders
We have opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL; however, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains similar provisions providing
that we may not engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a three year period following the time that the stockholder
became an interested stockholder, unless:
•

prior to such time, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder;
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•
•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding certain shares; or
at or subsequent to that time, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of holders of at 662/3% of our outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with that person’s affiliates and associates, owns, or within
the previous three years owned, 15% or more of the votes of our outstanding voting stock. For purposes of this provision, “voting stock” means any class or
series of stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that any interested
stockholder who became an interested stockholder prior to our initial public offering and Mr. Sjouwerman and any of their respective direct or indirect
designated transferees (other than in certain market transfers and gifts) and any group of which such persons are a party do not constitute “interested
stockholders” for purposes of this provision.
Under certain circumstances, this provision will make it more difficult for a person who would be an “interested stockholder” to effect various business
combinations with our company for a three year period. This provision may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with
our board of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if our board of directors approves either the business combination or
the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our
board of directors and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Listing on the Nasdaq Global Select Market
Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “KNBE.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The transfer agent’s address is 250 Royall Street,
Canton, Massachusetts 02021.
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EXECUTION VERSION
KNOWBE4, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), is made as of July 2,
2019, by and among KnowBe4, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and each of the investors listed on Schedule A
hereto, each of which is referred to in this Agreement as an “Investor”.
RECITALS
WHEREAS, certain Investors hold shares of the Company’s Series C Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series
A-1 Preferred Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and/or shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof and possess
registration rights, information rights, rights of first offer, and other rights pursuant to an Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement dated as of March 20, 2019 between the Company and such Investors (the “Prior Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, in connection with and as a condition to the sale of shares of the Company’s Series C-1 Preferred Stock (as
defined below) pursuant to the Series C-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement among the Company and certain Investors dated
as of June 7, 2019 (the “Purchase Agreement”), the Investors desire to amend and restate the Prior Agreement in its entirety and
to accept the rights created pursuant to this Agreement in lieu of the rights granted to some of them under the Prior Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree that the Prior Agreement shall be amended and restated as set forth
herein and the parties further agree as follows:
1.
Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed such terms in the
Certificate of Incorporation. For purposes of this Agreement:
1.1. “Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with such Person, including without limitation any general partner, managing member,
officer or director of such Person or any venture capital fund now or hereafter existing that is controlled by one or more general
partners or managing members of, or shares the same management company with, such Person.
1.2. “Arena” means AHM Investment Holdings LLC Series C.
1.3. “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New
York City are authorized or required by applicable law or executive order to close.
1.4. “Certificate of Incorporation” means the Company’s Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended from time to time.
1.5. “Common Stock” means shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per share.
1.6. “Competitor” means a Person engaged, directly or indirectly (including through any partnership, limited liability
company, corporation, joint venture or similar arrangement (whether now existing or formed hereafter)), providing products or
services that are substantially the same as, or otherwise competitive with, the products or services of the Company. For the
purposes of the definition of “Competitor” hereunder it is acknowledged and agreed that neither
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the Elephant Parties, the Goldman Parties, the KKR Parties, Arena, EIG nor any of their Affiliates shall, under any
circumstances, be deemed to be a Competitor pursuant to this Agreement.
1.7. “Damages” means any loss, damage, claim or liability (joint or several) to which a party hereto may become
subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or other federal or state law, insofar as such loss, damage, claim or liability
(or any action in respect thereof) arises out of or is based upon: (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material
fact contained in any registration statement of the Company, including any preliminary prospectus or final prospectus contained
therein or any amendments or supplements thereto; (ii) an omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to
be stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the
indemnifying party (or any of its agents or Affiliates) of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any state securities law, or any rule
or regulation promulgated under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or any state securities law.
1.8. “Derivative Securities” means any securities or rights convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for (in
each case, directly or indirectly), Common Stock, including options and warrants.
1.9. “EIG” means KB4 Indiana, LLC.
1.10. “Elephant Parties” means collectively, Elephant Partners I, L.P., Elephant Partners II, L.P., for itself and as
nominee for Elephant Partners II-B, L.P., and Elephant Partners 2019 SPV-A, L.P.
1.11. “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.
1.12. “Excluded Registration” means (i) a registration relating to the sale of securities to employees of the Company
or a subsidiary pursuant to a stock option, stock purchase, or similar plan; (ii) a registration relating to an SEC Rule 145
transaction; (iii) a registration on any form that does not include substantially the same information as would be required to be
included in a registration statement covering the sale of the Registrable Securities; or (iv) a registration in which the only
Common Stock being registered is Common Stock issuable upon conversion of debt securities that are also being registered.
1.13. “Form S-1” means such form under the Securities Act as in effect on the date hereof or any successor
registration form under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the SEC.
1.14. “Form S-3” means such form under the Securities Act as in effect on the date hereof or any registration form
under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the SEC that permits incorporation of substantial information by reference to
other documents filed by the Company with the SEC.
1.15. “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. applicable.
1.16. “Goldman Sachs” means any or all of the Goldman Parties, as
1.17. “Goldman Parties” means collectively, Broad Street Principal Investments L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability
company, StoneBridge 2017, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and StoneBridge 2017 Offshore, L.P., a Cayman Islands
exempted limited partnership.

Exhibit 4.3

1.18. “Holder” means any holder of Registrable Securities who is a party to this Agreement.
1.19. “Immediate Family Member” means a child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse,
sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, including, adoptive
relationships, of a natural person referred to herein.
1.20. “Initiating Holders” means, collectively, Holders who properly initiate a registration request under this
Agreement.
1.21. “International Trade Laws” means all applicable U.S. and non-U.S. anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-boycott,
economic sanctions, export control, and anti- money laundering laws, regulations and executive orders, including, but not limited
to, Title 19 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations; the Export Administration Regulations, 15 C.F.R. Parts 730-774; Section 38
of the Arms Export Control Act, 22 U.S.C. § 2778; the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, 22 C.F.R. Parts 120-130; the
Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. App. §§ 5, 16; the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. § 1701 et
seq.; 31 C.F.R. Parts 500-598; the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78m, 78dd-1, 78dd-2, 78dd3, and 78ff; the UK Bribery Act 2010, as amended, and any similar or successor provisions to any of the foregoing.
1.22. “IPO” means the Company’s first underwritten public offering of its Common Stock under the Securities Act.
1.23. “Key Employee” means any executive-level employee (including, division director and vice president-level
positions) as well as any employee who, either alone or in concert with others, develops, invents, programs, or designs any
Company Intellectual Property (as defined in the Purchase Agreement).
1.24. “KKR” means KKR Knowledge Investors L.P..
1.25. “KKR Parties” means KKR and TenEleven.
1.26. “Legal or Regulatory Transfer” shall mean any transfer of any Registrable Securities held by any of the
Goldman Parties or the KKR Parties, which, based on the advice of counsel, is necessary or appropriate to bring such Goldman
Party or KKR Party (or any of their Affiliates) into compliance (or into anticipated compliance) with applicable law or regulation,
including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as it may be amended from time to time, and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.
1.27. “Major Investor” means (i) any Investor that, individually or together with such Investor’s Affiliates, holds at
least 127,038 shares of Registrable Securities (as adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend, combination, or other
recapitalization or reclassification effected after the date hereof), and (ii) each of the KKR Parties for so long as they, individually
or together with their Affiliates, collectively hold at least 43,840 shares of Registrable Securities (as adjusted for any stock split,
stock dividend, combination, or other recapitalization or reclassification effected after the date hereof).
1.28. “New Securities” means, collectively, equity securities of the Company, whether or not currently authorized, as
well as rights, options, or warrants to purchase such equity securities, or securities of any type whatsoever that are, or may
become, convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for such equity securities.
entity.

1.29. “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, trust, limited liability company, association or other
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1.30. “Preferred Director” means any director of the Company that the holders of record of any series of Preferred
Stock is entitled to elect pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation.
1.31. “Preferred Stock” means, collectively, shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-1 Preferred
Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock and Series C-1 Preferred Stock.
1.32. “Prospectus” means the prospectus used in connection with a Registration Statement.
1.33. “Registrable Securities” means (i) the Common Stock issuable or issued upon conversion of the Preferred
Stock; (ii) any Common Stock issued as (or issuable upon the conversion or exercise of any warrant, right, or other security that
is issued as) a dividend or other distribution with respect to, or in exchange for or in replacement of, the shares referenced in
clause (i) above; excluding in all cases, however, any Registrable Securities sold by a Person in a transaction in which the
applicable rights under this Agreement are not assigned pursuant to Subsection 6.1, and excluding for purposes of Section 2 any
shares for which registration rights have terminated pursuant to Subsection 2.14 of this Agreement.
1.34. “Registrable Securities then outstanding” means the number of shares determined by adding the number of
shares of outstanding Common Stock that are Registrable Securities and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable
(directly or indirectly) pursuant to then exercisable and/or convertible securities that are Registrable Securities.
1.35. “Restricted Securities” means the securities of the Company required to be notated with the legend set forth in
Subsection 2.13(b) hereof.
1.36. “SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
1.37. “SEC Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.
1.38. “SEC Rule 145” means Rule 145 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.
thereunder.

1.39. “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated

1.40. “Selling Expenses” means all underwriting discounts, selling commissions, and stock transfer taxes applicable
to the sale of Registrable Securities, fees and disbursements of counsel for any Holder, except for the fees and disbursements of
the Selling Holder Counsel borne and paid by the Company as provided in Subsection 2.7.
share.
per share.
share.
share.

1.41. “Series A Preferred Stock” means shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per
1.42. “Series A-1 Preferred Stock” means shares of the Company’s Series A-1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001
1.43. “Series B Preferred Stock” means shares of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per
1.44. “Series C Preferred Stock” means shares of the Company’s Series C Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per
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per share

1.45. “Series C-1 Preferred Stock” means shares of the Company’s Series C-1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001

1.46. “Shelf Registration” means a registration of securities pursuant to a Registration Statement filed with the SEC
in accordance with and pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect) that, in
accordance with Subsection 2.2, the Company may be required to keep effective for longer than 90 days.
1.47. “TenEleven” means collectively, Ten Eleven Growth Fund, L.P. and Ten Eleven Growth Fund II, L.P.
1.48. “Transaction Agreements” means the Certificate of Incorporation, this Agreement, the Purchase Agreement
and the other agreements entered into in connection with the Purchase Agreement.
2.

Registration Rights. The Company covenants and agrees as follows:
2.1. Demand Registration.

(a) Form S-1 Demand. If at any time after the earlier of (i) four (4) years after the date of this Agreement or (ii)
one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of the registration statement for the IPO, (A) the Company receives a
request from Holders of thirty percent (30%) of the Registrable Securities then outstanding that the Company file a Form S-1
registration statement with respect to at least forty percent (40%) of the Registrable Securities then outstanding (or a lesser
percent if the anticipated aggregate offering price, net of Selling Expenses, would exceed $10 million) or (B) the Company
receives a request from Holders of (i) a majority of the outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, or (ii) a majority of the outstanding
Series C Preferred Stock and Series C-1 Preferred Stock together as a single class, if in the case of either of foregoing clauses
(A), or (B) (x) the anticipated aggregate offering price, net of Selling Expenses would exceed $10 million or (y) the Registrable
Securities to be sold by such Holders in such offering represent all of the remaining Registrable Securities held by such Holders,
then the Company shall (x) within ten (10) days after the date such request is given, give notice thereof (the “Demand Notice”)
to all Holders other than the Initiating Holders; and (y) as soon as practicable, and in any event within sixty (60) days after the
date such request is given by the Initiating Holders, file a Form S-1 registration statement under the Securities Act covering all
Registrable Securities that the Initiating Holders requested to be registered and any additional Registrable Securities requested to
be included in such registration by any other Holders, as specified by notice given by each such Holder to the Company within
twenty (20) days of the date the Demand Notice is given, and in each case, subject to the limitations of Subsections 2.1(b) and
2.4.
(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing obligations, if the Company furnishes to Holders requesting a registration
pursuant to this Subsection 2.1 a certificate signed by the Company’s chief executive officer stating that in the good faith
judgment of the Company’s Board of Directors it would be materially detrimental to the Company and its stockholders for such
registration statement to either become effective or remain effective for as long as such registration statement otherwise would be
required to remain effective, because such action would (i) materially interfere with a significant acquisition, corporate
reorganization, or other similar transaction involving the Company; (ii) require premature disclosure of material information that
the Company has a bona fide business purpose for preserving as confidential; or (iii) render the Company unable to comply with
requirements under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, then the Company shall have the right to defer taking action with respect
to such filing for a period of not more than one hundred twenty (120) days after the request of the Initiating Holders is given;
provided, however, that the Company may not invoke this right more than once in any twelve (12) month period; and provided
further that the Company shall not
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register any securities for its own account or that of any other stockholder during such sixty (60) day period other than an
Excluded Registration.
(c) The Company shall not be obligated to effect, or to take any action to effect, any registration pursuant to
Subsection 2.1(a)(i) during the period that is sixty (60) days before the Company’s good faith estimate of the date of filing of, and
ending on a date that is one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of, a Company-initiated registration, provided that
the Company is actively employing in good faith commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to become
effective; or (ii) if the Initiating Holders propose to dispose of shares of Registrable Securities that may be immediately registered
on Form S-3 pursuant to a request made pursuant to Subsection 2.2. The Company shall not be obligated to effect, or to take any
action to effect, any registration (i) pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a)(i)(A) after the Company has effected two registrations pursuant
to Subsection 2.1(a)(i)(A) or (ii) pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a)(i)(B) after the Company has effected two registrations pursuant to
Subsection 2.1(a)(i)(B). The Company shall not be obligated to effect, or to take any action to effect, any registration pursuant to
Subsection 2.2(b) (i) during the period that is thirty (30) days before the Company’s good faith estimate of the date of filing of,
and ending on a date that is ninety (90) days after the effective date of, a Company-initiated registration, provided that the
Company is actively employing in good faith commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to become
effective; or (ii) if the Company has effected two registrations pursuant to Subsection 2.2(b) within the twelve (12) month period
immediately preceding the date of such request. A registration shall not be counted as “effected” for purposes of this Subsection
2.1(c) until such time as the applicable registration statement has been declared effective by the SEC and is maintained effective
until the date on which all Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement have been sold, provided, however, that
if the Initiating Holders withdraw their request for such registration, elect not to pay the registration expenses thereof, and forfeit
their right to one demand registration statement pursuant to Subsection 2.7, such withdrawal shall be counted as “effected” for
purposes of this Subsection 2.1(c), unless such withdrawal is due to a delay by the Company to cause a registration statement to
either become effective or remain effective.
2.2. Shelf Registration.
(a) Filing. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to file, and shall thereafter use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be declared effective as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter, a Shelf
Registration on Form S-3 (or other appropriate form) for the offer and resale of Registrable Securities on a delayed or continuous
basis (the “Form S-3 Shelf”) as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company is eligible to use Form S-3. The Company
shall give written notice of the filing of the Form S-3 Shelf at least fifteen (15) days prior to filing thereof to all Holders of
Registrable Securities (the “Shelf Registration Notice”) and shall include in such registration statement all Registrable Securities
with respect to which the Company has received written requests for inclusion therein within ten (10) days after sending the Shelf
Registration Notice. The Company shall maintain the Form S-3 Shelf until the date on which all Registrable Securities have been
sold pursuant to the Shelf Registration or have otherwise ceased to be Registrable Securities or, if sooner, the maximum length
permitted by the SEC, and comply with the provisions of the Securities Act (including by preparing and filing with the SEC any
Prospectus or supplement to be used in connection therewith) with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such
registration statement during such period in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the Holders as set forth in
such registration statement.
(b) Requests for Underwritten Shelf Takedowns. At any time and from time to time after the Form S-3 Shelf
having been declared effective by the SEC, any Holder or Holders (in such capacity, each a “Shelf Takedown Requesting
Holder”) may request to sell all or any portion of their Registrable Securities (i) having an anticipated aggregate offering price,
net of
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Selling Expenses, of at least $5 million or (ii) that represent all of the remaining Registrable Securities held by such Holders in an
underwritten offering that is registered pursuant to the Form S-3 Shelf (each, an “Underwritten Shelf Takedown”).
(c) Demand Notices. All requests for Underwritten Shelf Takedowns shall be made by giving written notice to the
Company (the “Demand Shelf Takedown Notice”). Each Demand Shelf Takedown Notice shall specify the approximate number
of Registrable Securities proposed to be sold in the Underwritten Shelf Takedown and the expected price range (net of
underwriting discounts and commissions) of such Underwritten Shelf Takedown. Within five (5) Business Days after receipt of
any Demand Shelf Takedown Notice, the Company shall give written notice of such requested Underwritten Shelf Takedown to
all other Holders which have Registrable Securities included on such Form S-3 Shelf (the “Company Shelf Takedown Notice”)
and, subject to the provisions of Subsection 2.2(d), shall include in such Underwritten Shelf Takedown all Registrable Securities
with respect to which the Company has received written requests for inclusion therein within five (5) Business Days after sending
the Company Shelf Takedown Notice.
(d) Underwritten Block Trades. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Shelf Takedown Requesting Holder wishes to
engage in an underwritten block trade or similar transaction or other transaction with a 2-day or less marketing period
(collectively, “Underwritten Block Trade”) in an Underwritten Shelf Takedown, then notwithstanding the foregoing time
periods, such Shelf Takedown Requesting Holder only needs to notify the Company of the Underwritten Block Trade two (2)
Business Days prior to the day such offering is to commence, and the Company shall notify other Holders on the same day, and
such other Holders must elect whether or not to participate by the next Business Day (i.e., one (1) Business Day prior to the day
such offering is to commence), and the Company shall, subject to Subsection 2.2(e), use its commercially reasonable efforts to
facilitate such Underwritten Shelf Takedown (which may close as early as three (3) Business Days after the date it commences);
provided, however, that the Shelf Takedown Requesting Holder requesting such Underwritten Block Trade shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to work with the Company and the underwriters prior to making such request in order to
facilitate preparation of the registration statement, prospectus and other offering documentation related to the Underwritten Block
Trade.
(e) Restrictions on Underwritten Shelf Takedowns. The Company shall not be obligated to effect an Underwritten
Shelf Takedown within ninety (90) days after the pricing of a previous Underwritten Shelf Takedown, or, if longer, until the date
on which the Company lock-up obligations in the previous Underwritten Shelf Takedown has expired.
(f) Selection of Underwriters. The Holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities requested to be included in
an Underwritten Shelf Takedown shall have the right to select the investment banker(s) and manager(s) to administer the offering
(which shall consist of one or more reputable nationally recognized investment banks), subject to the Company’s approval which
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
2.3. Company Registration. If the Company proposes to register (including, for this purpose, a registration effected
by the Company for stockholders other than the Holders) any of its securities under the Securities Act in connection with the
public offering of such securities solely for cash (other than in an Excluded Registration), the Company shall, at such time,
promptly give each Holder notice of such registration. Upon the request of each Holder given within twenty (20) days after such
notice is given by the Company, the Company shall, subject to the provisions of Subsection 2.4, cause to be registered all of the
Registrable Securities that each such Holder has requested to be included in such registration. The Company shall have the right
to terminate or withdraw any registration initiated by it under this Subsection 2.3 before the effective date of such registration,
whether or not any Holder has elected to include Registrable
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Securities in such registration. The expenses (other than Selling Expenses) of such withdrawn registration shall be borne by the
Company in accordance with Subsection 2.7.
2.4. Underwriting Requirements.
(a) If, pursuant to Subsection 2.1, the Initiating Holders intend to distribute the Registrable Securities covered by
their request by means of an underwriting, they shall so advise the Company as a part of their request made pursuant to
Subsection 2.1, and the Company shall include such information in the Demand Notice. The underwriter(s) will be selected by
the Company and shall be reasonably acceptable to a majority in interest of the Initiating Holders (including any of the Goldman
Parties and the KKR Parties, to the extent either of them is an Initiating Holder). In such event, the right of any Holder to include
such Holder’s Registrable Securities in such registration shall be conditioned upon such Holder’s participation in such
underwriting and the inclusion of such Holder’s Registrable Securities in the underwriting to the extent provided herein. All
Holders proposing to distribute their securities through such underwriting shall (together with the Company as provided in
Subsection 2.5(e)) enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with the underwriter(s) selected for such
underwriting. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Subsection 2.4, if the managing underwriter(s) advise(s) the Initiating
Holders in writing that marketing factors require a limitation on the number of shares to be underwritten, then the Initiating
Holders shall so advise all Holders of Registrable Securities that otherwise would be underwritten pursuant hereto, and the
number of Registrable Securities that may be included in the underwriting shall be allocated among such Holders of Registrable
Securities, including the Initiating Holders, in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to the number of Registrable Securities owned
by each Holder or in such other proportion as shall mutually be agreed to by all such selling Holders; provided, however, that the
number of Registrable Securities held by the Holders to be included in such underwriting shall not be reduced unless all other
securities are first entirely excluded from the underwriting. To facilitate the allocation of shares in accordance with the above
provisions, the Company or the underwriters may round the number of shares allocated to any Holder to the nearest one hundred
(100) shares.
(b) In connection with any offering involving an underwriting of shares of the Company’s capital stock pursuant to
Subsection 2.3, the Company shall not be required to include any of the Holders’ Registrable Securities in such underwriting
unless the Holders accept the terms of the underwriting as agreed upon between the Company and its underwriters, and then only
in such quantity as the underwriters in their sole discretion determine will not jeopardize the success of the offering by the
Company. If the total number of securities, including Registrable Securities, requested by stockholders to be included in such
offering exceeds the number of securities to be sold (other than by the Company) that the underwriters in their reasonable
discretion determine is compatible with the success of the offering, then the Company shall be required to include in the offering
only that number of such securities, including Registrable Securities, which the underwriters and the Company in their sole
discretion determine will not jeopardize the success of the offering. If the underwriters determine that less than all of the
Registrable Securities requested to be registered can be included in such offering, then the Registrable Securities that are included
in such offering shall be allocated among the selling Holders in proportion (as nearly as practicable to) the number of Registrable
Securities owned by each selling Holder or in such other proportions as shall mutually be agreed to by all such selling Holders.
To facilitate the allocation of shares in accordance with the above provisions, the Company or the underwriters may round the
number of shares allocated to any Holder to the nearest one hundred (100) shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event
shall (i) the number of Registrable Securities included in the offering be reduced unless all other securities (other than securities
to be sold by the Company) are first entirely excluded from the offering or (ii) the number of Registrable Securities included in
the offering be reduced below thirty percent (30%) of the total number of securities included in such offering, unless such
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offering is the IPO, in which case the selling Holders may be excluded further if the underwriters make the determination
described above and no other stockholder’s securities are included in such offering. For purposes of the provision in this
Subsection 2.4(b) concerning apportionment, for any selling Holder that is a partnership, limited liability company, or
corporation, the partners, members, retired partners, retired members, stockholders, and Affiliates of such Holder, or the estates
and Immediate Family Members of any such partners, retired partners, members, and retired members and any trusts for the
benefit of any of the foregoing Persons, shall be deemed to be a single “selling Holder,” and any pro rata reduction with respect
to such “selling Holder” shall be based upon the aggregate number of Registrable Securities owned by all Persons included in
such “selling Holder,” as defined in this sentence.
(c) For purposes of Subsection 2.1, a registration shall not be counted as “effected” if, as a result of an exercise of
the underwriter’s cutback provisions in Subsection 2.4(a), fewer than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of Registrable
Securities that Holders have requested to be included in such registration statement are actually included.
2.5.
Obligations of the Company. Whenever required under this Section 2 to effect the registration of any
Registrable Securities, the Company shall, as expeditiously as reasonably possible:
(a) prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to become effective and, upon the request of the Holders of a
majority of the Registrable Securities registered thereunder, keep such registration statement effective for a period of up to one
hundred twenty (120) days or, if earlier, until the distribution contemplated in the registration statement has been completed;
provided, however, that (i) such one hundred twenty (120) day period shall be extended for a period of time equal to the period
the Holder refrains, at the request of an underwriter of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company, from selling any
securities included in such registration, and (ii) in the case of any registration of Registrable Securities on Form S-3 that are
intended to be offered on a continuous or delayed basis, subject to compliance with applicable SEC rules, such one hundred
twenty (120) day period shall be extended for up to one hundred twenty (120) days, if necessary, to keep the registration
statement effective until all such Registrable Securities are sold;
(b) prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and the
prospectus used in connection with such registration statement, as may be necessary to comply with the Securities Act in order to
enable the disposition of all securities covered by such registration statement;
(c) furnish to the selling Holders such numbers of copies of a prospectus, including a preliminary prospectus, as
required by the Securities Act, and such other documents as the Holders may reasonably request in order to facilitate their
disposition of their Registrable Securities;
(d) use its commercially reasonable efforts to register and qualify the securities covered by such registration
statement under such other securities or blue-sky laws of such jurisdictions as shall be reasonably requested by the selling
Holders; provided that the Company shall not be required to qualify to do business or to file a general consent to service of
process in any such states or jurisdictions, unless the Company is already subject to service in such jurisdiction and except as may
be required by the Securities Act;
(e) in the event of any underwritten public offering, enter into and perform its obligations under an underwriting
agreement, in usual and customary form, with the underwriter(s) of such offering;
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(f) use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause all such Registrable Securities covered by such registration
statement to be listed on a national securities exchange or trading system and each securities exchange and trading system (if any)
on which similar securities issued by the Company are then listed;
(g) provide a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities registered pursuant to this Agreement and
provide a CUSIP number for all such Registrable Securities, in each case not later than the effective date of such registration;
(h) promptly make available for inspection by the selling Holders, any underwriter(s) participating in any
disposition pursuant to such registration statement, and any attorney or accountant or other agent retained by any such
underwriter or selected by the selling Holders, all financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents, and properties of
the Company, and cause the Company’s officers, directors, employees, and independent accountants to supply all information
reasonably requested by any such seller, underwriter, attorney, accountant, or agent, in each case, as necessary or advisable to
verify the accuracy of the information in such registration statement and to conduct appropriate due diligence in connection
therewith;
(i) notify each selling Holder, promptly after the Company receives notice thereof, of the time when such
registration statement has been declared effective or a supplement to any prospectus forming a part of such registration statement
has been filed; and
(j) after such registration statement becomes effective, notify each selling Holder of any request by the SEC that
the Company amend or supplement such registration statement or prospectus.
In addition, the Company shall ensure that, at all times after any registration statement covering a public offering of
securities of the Company under the Securities Act shall have become effective, its insider trading policy shall provide that the
Company’s directors may implement a trading program under Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act.
2.6. Furnish Information. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of the Company to take any action
pursuant to this Section 2 with respect to the Registrable Securities of any selling Holder that such Holder shall furnish to the
Company such information specifically relating to (i) the beneficial ownership of shares of the capital stock of the Company by
such Holder and its respective Affiliates as disclosed in the section of such document entitled “Selling Stockholders” or
“Principal and Selling Stockholders” or other documents thereof, (ii) the name and address of such Holder and (iii) its intended
method of disposition of such securities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, none of the Holders shall
be required to furnish any additional information, unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing by such respective Holder. If
any additional information about such Holder is required by law or by the SEC to be disclosed in any registration statement of the
Company, including any preliminary prospectus or final prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements thereto,
then such Holder shall not unreasonably withhold its agreement referred to in the immediately preceding sentence.
2.7. Expenses of Registration. All expenses (other than Selling Expenses) incurred in connection with registrations,
filings, or qualifications pursuant to Section 2, including all registration, filing, and qualification fees; printers’ and accounting
fees; fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company; and the reasonable fees and disbursements, not to exceed $100,000, of
one counsel for the selling Holders (“Selling Holder Counsel”), shall be borne and paid by the Company; provided, however,
that the Company shall not be required to pay for any expenses of any registration proceeding begun pursuant to Subsection 2.1 if
the registration request is subsequently withdrawn at the request of the Holders of a majority of the Registrable
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Securities to be registered (in which case all selling Holders shall bear such expenses pro rata based upon the number of
Registrable Securities that were to be included in the withdrawn registration), unless the Holders of a majority of the Registrable
Securities agree to forfeit their right to one registration pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a) or Subsection 2.1(b), as the case may be;
provided further that if, at the time of such withdrawal, the Holders shall have learned of a material adverse change in the
condition, business, or prospects of the Company from that known to the Holders at the time of their request and have withdrawn
the request with reasonable promptness after learning of such information then the Holders shall not be required to pay any of
such expenses and shall not forfeit their right to one registration pursuant to Subsection 2.1(a) or Subsection 2.1(b). All Selling
Expenses relating to Registrable Securities registered pursuant to this Section 2 shall be borne and paid by the Holders pro rata on
the basis of the number of Registrable Securities registered on their behalf.
2.8. Delay of Registration. No Holder shall have any right to obtain or seek an injunction restraining or otherwise
delaying any registration pursuant to this Agreement as the result of any controversy that might arise with respect to the
interpretation or implementation of this Section 2.
2.9. Indemnification. If any Registrable Securities are included in a registration statement under this Section 2:
(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Company will indemnify and hold harmless each selling Holder, and the
partners, members, officers, directors, employees and stockholders of each such Holder; professional advisors for each such
Holder; any underwriter (as defined in the Securities Act) for each such Holder; and each Person, if any, who controls such
Holder or underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, against any Damages, and the Company will
pay to each such Holder, underwriter, controlling Person, or other aforementioned Person any legal or other expenses reasonably
incurred thereby in connection with investigating or defending any claim or proceeding from which Damages may result, as such
expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this Subsection 2.9(a) shall not apply to
amounts paid in settlement of any such claim or proceeding if such settlement is effected without the consent of the Company,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, nor shall the Company be liable for any Damages to the extent that they arise
out of or are based upon actions or omissions made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished by or
on behalf of any such Holder, underwriter, controlling Person, or other aforementioned Person expressly for use in connection
with such registration.
(b) To the extent permitted by law, each selling Holder, severally and not jointly, will indemnify and hold harmless
the Company, and each of its directors, each of its officers who has signed the registration statement, each Person (if any), who
controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act, legal counsel and accountants for the Company, any underwriter
(as defined in the Securities Act), any other Holder selling securities in such registration statement, and any controlling Person of
any such underwriter or other Holder, against any Damages, in each case only to the extent that such Damages arise out of or are
based upon actions or omissions made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished by or on behalf of
such selling Holder expressly for use in connection with such registration (as such written information may be corrected,
supplemented or made not misleading (via written delivery) by such Holder prior to the filing of the applicable registration
statement, including any preliminary prospectus or final prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements
thereto); and each such selling Holder will pay to the Company and each other aforementioned Person any legal or other
expenses reasonably incurred thereby in connection with investigating or defending any claim or proceeding from which
Damages may result, as such expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this
Subsection 2.9(b) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such claim or proceeding if such settlement
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is effected without the consent of the Holder, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; and provided further that in no
event shall the aggregate amounts payable by any Holder by way of indemnity or contribution under Subsections 2.9(b) and
2.9(d) exceed the proceeds from the offering received by such Holder (net of any Selling Expenses paid by such Holder), except
in the case of fraud or willful misconduct by such Holder.
(c) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Subsection 2.9 of notice of the commencement of
any action (including any governmental action) for which a party may be entitled to indemnification hereunder, such indemnified
party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Subsection 2.9, give the
indemnifying party notice of the commencement thereof. The indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in such action
and, to the extent the indemnifying party so desires, participate jointly with any other indemnifying party to which notice has
been given, and to assume the defense thereof with counsel mutually satisfactory to the parties; provided, however, that an
indemnified party (together with all other indemnified parties that may be represented without conflict by one counsel) shall have
the right to retain one separate counsel, with the fees and expenses to be paid by the indemnifying party, if representation of such
indemnified party by the counsel retained by the indemnifying party would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing
interests between such indemnified party and any other party represented by such counsel in such action. The failure to give
notice to the indemnifying party within a reasonable time of the commencement of any such action shall relieve such
indemnifying party of any liability to the indemnified party under this Subsection 2.9, to the extent that such failure materially
prejudices the indemnifying party’s ability to defend such action. The failure to give notice to the indemnifying party will not
relieve it of any liability that it may have to any indemnified party otherwise than under this Subsection 2.9.
(d) To provide for just and equitable contribution to joint liability under the Securities Act in any case in which
either: (i) any party otherwise entitled to indemnification hereunder makes a claim for indemnification pursuant to this
Subsection 2.9 but it is judicially determined (by the entry of a final judgment or decree by a court of competent jurisdiction and
the expiration of time to appeal or the denial of the last right of appeal) that such indemnification may not be enforced in such
case, notwithstanding the fact that this Subsection 2.9 provides for indemnification in such case, or (ii) contribution under the
Securities Act may be required on the part of any party hereto for which indemnification is provided under this Subsection 2.9,
then, and in each such case, such parties will contribute to the aggregate losses, claims, damages, liabilities, or expenses to which
they may be subject (after contribution from others) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of each of the
indemnifying party and the indemnified party in connection with the statements, omissions, or other actions that resulted in such
loss, claim, damage, liability, or expense, as well as to reflect any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the
indemnifying party and of the indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or
allegedly untrue statement of a material fact, or the omission or alleged omission of a material fact, relates to information
supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information,
and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission; provided, however, that, in any such case (x) no Holder will be
required to contribute any amount in excess of the public offering price of all such Registrable Securities offered and sold by such
Holder pursuant to such registration statement, and (y) no Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of
Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent
misrepresentation; and provided further that in no event shall a Holder’s liability pursuant to this Subsection 2.9(d), when
combined with the amounts paid or payable by such Holder pursuant to Subsection 2.9(b), exceed the proceeds from the offering
received by such Holder (net of any Selling Expenses paid by such Holder), except in the case of willful misconduct or fraud by
such Holder.
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(e) Unless otherwise superseded by an underwriting agreement entered into in connection with the underwritten
public offering, the obligations of the Company and Holders under this Subsection 2.9 shall survive the completion of any
offering of Registrable Securities in a registration under this Section 2, and otherwise shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.
2.10. Reports Under Exchange Act. With a view to making available to the Holders the benefits of SEC Rule 144
and any other rule or regulation of the SEC that may at any time permit a Holder to sell securities of the Company to the public
without registration or pursuant to a registration on Form S-3, the Company shall:
(a) make and keep available adequate current public information, as those terms are understood and defined in
SEC Rule 144, at all times after the effective date of the registration statement filed by the Company for the IPO;
(b) use commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC in a timely manner all reports and other documents
required of the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act (at any time after the Company has become subject to
such reporting requirements); and
(c) furnish to any Holder, so long as the Holder owns any Registrable Securities, forthwith upon request (i) to the
extent accurate, a written statement by the Company that it has complied with the reporting requirements of SEC Rule 144 (at
any time after ninety (90) days after the effective date of the registration statement filed by the Company for the IPO), the
Securities Act, and the Exchange Act (at any time after the Company has become subject to such reporting requirements), or that
it qualifies as a registrant whose securities may be resold pursuant to Form S-3 (at any time after the Company so qualifies); (ii) a
copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company and such other reports and documents so filed by the
Company; and (iii) such other information as may be reasonably requested in availing any Holder of any rule or regulation of the
SEC that permits the selling of any such securities without registration (at any time after the Company has become subject to the
reporting requirements under the Exchange Act) or pursuant to Form S-3 (at any time after the Company so qualifies to use such
form).
2.11. Limitations on Subsequent Registration Rights. From and after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall
not, without the prior written consent of the Holders of a majority of the shares of common stock issued or issuable upon
conversion of the then outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, enter into any agreement with any holder or prospective holder of
any securities of the Company that would allow such holder or prospective holder (i) to include such securities in any registration
unless, under the terms of such agreement, such holder or prospective holder may include such securities in any such registration
only to the extent that the inclusion of such securities will not reduce the number of the Registrable Securities of the Holders that
are included; (ii) allow such holder or prospective holder to initiate a demand for registration of any securities held by such
holder or prospective holder or (iii) would grant any such holder or prospective holder, individually or collectively, the right to
require the Company to effect an IPO; provided that this limitation shall not apply to any additional Investor who becomes a
party to this Agreement in accordance with Subsection 6.9.
2.12. “Market Stand-off” Agreement. Each Holder hereby agrees that it will not, without the prior written consent of
the managing underwriter, during the period commencing on the date of the final prospectus relating to the registration by the
Company of shares of its Common Stock or any other equity securities under the Securities Act on a registration statement on
Form S-1 and ending on the date specified by the Company and the managing underwriter (such period not to exceed one
hundred eighty (180) days in the case of the IPO, or such other period as may be requested by the Company or an underwriter to
accommodate regulatory restrictions on (1) the publication or other distribution of research reports, and (2) analyst
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recommendations and opinions, including, but not limited to, the restrictions contained in FINRA Rule 2711(f)(4) or NYSE Rule
472(f)(4), or any successor provisions or amendments thereto), (i) lend; offer; pledge; sell; contract to sell; sell any option or
contract to purchase; purchase any option or contract to sell; grant any option, right, or warrant to purchase; or otherwise transfer
or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable (directly or indirectly) for Common Stock held immediately before the effective date of the registration statement
for such offering or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the
economic consequences of ownership of such securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) above is to be
settled by delivery of Common Stock or other securities, in cash, or otherwise. The foregoing provisions of this Subsection 2.12
shall apply only to the IPO, and shall not apply to (i) the sale of any shares to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting
agreement, (ii) any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable (directly or
indirectly) for Common Stock acquired by an Investor or any of its Affiliates (excluding shares of Common Stock issued upon
the conversion of the shares of Preferred Stock held by the Investor and its Affiliates), or (iii) the transfer of any shares to any
trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the Holder or the immediate family of the Holder, provided that the trustee of the trust
agrees to be bound in writing by the restrictions set forth herein, and provided further that any such transfer shall not involve a
disposition for value. The foregoing provisions of this Subsection 2.12 shall be applicable to the Holders only if all officers and
directors are subject to the same restrictions and the Company uses commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a similar agreement
from all stockholders individually owning more than one percent (1%) of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock (after
giving effect to conversion into Common Stock of all outstanding Preferred Stock). The underwriters in connection with such
registration are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Subsection 2.12 and shall have the right, power and authority to enforce
the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto. Each Holder further agrees to execute such agreements as may be
reasonably requested by the underwriters in connection with such registration that are consistent with this Subsection 2.12 or that
are necessary to give further effect thereto. Any discretionary waiver or termination of the restrictions of any or all of such
agreements by the Company or the underwriters shall apply pro rata to all Holders subject to such agreements, based on the
number of shares subject to such agreements.
2.13.

Restrictions on Transfer.

(a) The Preferred Stock and the Registrable Securities shall not be sold, pledged, or otherwise transferred, and the
Company shall not recognize and shall issue stop-transfer instructions to its transfer agent with respect to any such sale, pledge,
or transfer, except upon the conditions specified in this Agreement, which conditions are intended to ensure compliance with the
provisions of the Securities Act. A transferring Holder will cause any proposed purchaser, pledgee, or transferee of the Preferred
Stock and the Registrable Securities held by such Holder to agree to take and hold such securities subject to the provisions and
upon the conditions specified in this Agreement.
(b) Each certificate, instrument, or book entry representing (i) the Preferred Stock, (ii) the Registrable Securities,
and (iii) any other securities issued in respect of the securities referenced in clauses (i) and (ii), upon any stock split, stock
dividend, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, or similar event, shall (unless otherwise permitted by the provisions of
Subsection 2.13(c)) be notated with a legend substantially in the following form:
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND HAVE
NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD,
PLEDGED, OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH
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REGISTRATION OR A VALID EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY
REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT.
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY MAY BE TRANSFERRED ONLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDER, A COPY OF
WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY.
The Holders consent to the Company making a notation in its records and giving instructions to any transfer agent of the
Restricted Securities in order to implement the restrictions on transfer set forth in this Subsection 2.13.
(c) The holder of such Restricted Securities, by acceptance of ownership thereof, agrees to comply in all respects
with the provisions of this Section 2. Before any proposed sale, pledge, or transfer of any Restricted Securities, unless there is in
effect a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the proposed transaction, the Holder thereof shall give notice to
the Company of such Holder’s intention to effect such sale, pledge, or transfer. Each such notice shall describe the manner and
circumstances of the proposed sale, pledge, or transfer in sufficient detail and, if reasonably requested by the Company, shall be
accompanied at such Holder’s expense by either (i) a written opinion of legal counsel who shall, and whose legal opinion shall,
be reasonably satisfactory to the Company, addressed to the Company, to the effect that the proposed transaction may be effected
without registration under the Securities Act; (ii) a “no action” letter from the SEC to the effect that the proposed sale, pledge, or
transfer of such Restricted Securities without registration will not result in a recommendation by the staff of the SEC that action
be taken with respect thereto; or (iii) any other evidence reasonably satisfactory to counsel to the Company to the effect that the
proposed sale, pledge, or transfer of the Restricted Securities may be effected without registration under the Securities Act,
whereupon the Holder of such Restricted Securities shall be entitled to sell, pledge, or transfer such Restricted Securities in
accordance with the terms of the notice given by the Holder to the Company. The Company will not require such a legal opinion
or “no action” letter (x) in any transaction in compliance with SEC Rule 144; or (y) in any transaction in which such Holder
distributes Restricted Securities to an Affiliate of such Holder for no consideration; provided that each transferee agrees in
writing to be subject to the terms of this Subsection 2.13. Each certificate, instrument, or book entry representing the Restricted
Securities transferred as above provided shall be notated with, except if such transfer is made pursuant to SEC Rule 144, the
appropriate restrictive legend set forth in Subsection 2.13(b), except that such certificate instrument, or book entry shall not be
notated with such restrictive legend if, in the opinion of counsel for such Holder and the Company, such legend is not required in
order to establish compliance with any provisions of the Securities Act. The Company and the Holders hereby agree that the
Investors shall not be bound by (and the Company shall waive) any of the foregoing restrictions on the transfer by an Investor of
Restricted Securities (i) to one or more Affiliates of the Investor (with or without consideration) or (ii) in connection with any
Legal or Regulatory Transfer, provided that the Investor gives written notice to the Company of such transfer.
2.14. Termination of Registration Rights. The right of any Holder to request registration or inclusion of Registrable
Securities in any registration pursuant to Subsections 2.1 or 2.3 shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of:
Incorporation;

(a) the closing of a Deemed Liquidation Event, as such term is defined in the Company’s Certificate of

(b) such time as Rule 144 or another similar exemption under the Securities Act is available for the sale of all of
such Holder’s shares without limitation during a three-month period without registration; and
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(c) the fifth anniversary of the IPO.
2.15.

Assistance with Obligations if Deemed an Underwriter.

(a) In connection with any offering of Registrable Securities by an Investor or any of its Affiliates as a selling
shareholder covered by a registration statement filed by the Company with the SEC or covered by Offering Materials (as defined
below) prepared by or on behalf of the Company and effected under Rule 144A or Regulation S (collectively, a “Covered
Offering”), the Company agrees as follows:
(i) to cooperate with the applicable Investor or its Affiliates in allowing them to conduct customary
“underwriter’s due diligence” with respect to the Company and satisfy any obligations they may have as an underwriter in
connection with that Covered Offering;
(ii) at the request of the Investor, to furnish to the Investor from time to time on such dates as it may
reasonably request (x) to the extent that the Company is receiving a letter, dated as of such date, from the Company’s independent
accountants of the type customarily given by independent accountants in an offering of the type contemplated by the Covered
Offering, an executed copy of that letter addressed to the Investor, and (y) to the extent that the Company is receiving opinion(s),
dated as of such date, of one or more counsel representing the Company in the Covered Offering (including both outside counsel
and counsel employed by the Company) of the type customarily given by counsel in an offering of the type contemplated by the
Covered Offering (including, without limitation, a standard “10b-5” opinion), an executed copy of each such opinion addressed
to the Investor; and
(iii) to permit legal counsel to the Investor (as selected by the Investor in its sole discretion) to review and
comment upon (x) any registration statement, including any preliminary prospectus or final prospectus contained therein or any
amendments or supplements thereto, or offering memorandum (the “Offering Materials”) at least five business days prior to its
filing with the SEC or when it is first used, as the case may be, and each amendment or supplement to any Offering Materials
within a reasonable number of days prior to its filing with the SEC or when it is first used, as the case may be (including, in
particular, any disclosures related to Investor or the possibility of the Investor being named as an “underwriter,” as such term is
defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, or a “deemed” underwriter). The Company shall also not file any registration
statement or amendment or supplement thereto in a form to which legal counsel to the Investor reasonably objects.
(b) To the extent that Goldman Sachs, KKR or any of their Affiliates are deemed to be an underwriter of
Registrable Securities pursuant to any SEC comments or policies, the Company agrees that the indemnification and contribution
provisions contained in Section 2.8 shall be applicable to the benefit of such Person in their role as deemed underwriter in
addition to their capacity as a Holder and such Person may require the Company to enter into a further agreement to such effect,
including providing representations, warranties and indemnities similar to those contained in a customary underwriting
agreement.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 2.14 shall obligate the Company to engage Goldman
Sachs, KKR or any of their Affiliates as an underwriter in any public offering of securities of the Company.
3.

Information and Observer Rights.
3.1. Delivery of Financial Statements. The Company shall deliver to each Major Investor:

(a) as soon as practicable, but in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year
of the Company (i) a balance sheet as of the end of such year, (ii)
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statements of income and of cash flows for such year, and a comparison between (x) the actual amounts as of and for such fiscal
year and (y) the comparable amounts for the prior year and as included in the Budget (as defined in Subsection 3.1(e)) for such
year, with an explanation of any material differences between such amounts and a schedule as to the sources and applications of
funds for such year, and (iii) a statement of stockholders’ equity as of the end of such year, all such financial statements audited
and certified by independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing selected by the Company (provided, however,
that the foregoing statements and other information for the 2018 fiscal year will not be required to be delivered until July 31,
2019);
(b) as soon as practicable, but in any event within forty-five (45) days after the end of each of the first three (3)
quarters of each fiscal year of the Company, unaudited statements of income and cash flows for such fiscal quarter, and an
unaudited balance sheet and a statement of stockholders’ equity as of the end of such fiscal quarter, all prepared in accordance
with GAAP (except that such financial statements may (i) be subject to normal year-end audit adjustments; and (ii) not contain all
notes thereto that may be required in accordance with GAAP);
(c) as soon as practicable, but in any event within forty-five (45) days after the end of each of the first three (3)
quarters of each fiscal year of the Company, a statement showing the number of shares of each class and series of capital stock
and securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of capital stock outstanding at the end of the period, the Common Stock
issuable upon conversion or exercise of any outstanding securities convertible or exercisable for Common Stock and the
exchange ratio or exercise price applicable thereto, and the number of shares of issued stock options and stock options not yet
issued but reserved for issuance, if any, all in sufficient detail as to permit the Major Investors to calculate their respective
percentage equity ownership in the Company, and certified by the chief financial officer or chief executive officer of the
Company as being true, complete, and correct;
(d) as soon as practicable, but in any event within thirty (30) days of the end of each month, an unaudited income
statement and statement of cash flows for such month, and an unaudited balance sheet and statement of stockholders’ equity as of
the end of such month, all prepared in accordance with GAAP (except that such financial statements may (i) be subject to normal
year-end audit adjustments and (ii) not contain all notes thereto that may be required in accordance with GAAP);
(e) as soon as practicable, but in any event (i) sixty (60) days before the end of each fiscal year a draft of a budget
and business plan for the next fiscal year, and (ii) thirty (30) days before the end of each fiscal year, a finalized budget and
business plan for the next fiscal year (collectively, the “Budget”), approved by the Board of Directors and prepared on a monthly
basis, including balance sheets, income statements, and statements of cash flow for such months and, promptly after prepared,
any other budgets or revised budgets prepared by the Company;
(f) such other information relating to the financial condition, business, prospects, or corporate affairs of the
Company as any Major Investor may from time to time reasonably request (including without limitation a current capitalization
table of the Company showing the number of shares of each class and series of capital stock and outstanding securities
convertible into or exercisable for shares of capital stock and the exchange ratio or exercise price applicable thereto, and the
number of shares of issued stock options and stock options not yet issued but reserved for issuance, if any, all in sufficient detail
as to permit the Major Investors to calculate their respective percentage equity ownership in the Company); provided, however,
that the Company shall not be obligated under this Subsection 3.1 to provide information (i) that the Company reasonably
determines in good faith to be a trade secret or confidential information (unless covered by an enforceable confidentiality
agreement, in a form acceptable to the
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Company); or (ii) the disclosure of which would adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its
counsel; and
(g) on a current basis, information regarding any events, discussions with any governmental authority, notices or
material changes with respect to any tax (other than ordinary course communications which would not reasonably be expected to
be material to the Company), criminal or regulatory investigation or action involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
If, for any period, the Company has any subsidiary whose accounts are consolidated with those of the Company, then in
respect of such period the financial statements delivered pursuant to the foregoing sections shall be the consolidated and
consolidating financial statements of the Company and all such consolidated subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding anything else in this Subsection 3.1 to the contrary, the Company may cease providing the information
set forth in this Subsection 3.1 during the period starting with the date thirty (30) days before the Company’s good-faith estimate
of the date of filing of a registration statement if it reasonably concludes it must do so to comply with the SEC rules applicable to
such registration statement and related offering; provided that the Company’s covenants under this Subsection 3.1 shall be
reinstated at such time as the Company is no longer actively employing its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such
registration statement to become effective. Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the
Company shall deliver to any Investor the information provided pursuant to Section 3.1(a), (b) and (g) for so long as the Investor
or any of their Affiliates hold any Registrable Securities.
3.2. Inspection. The Company shall permit each Major Investor, at such Major Investor’s expense, to visit
and inspect the Company’s properties; examine its books of account and records; and discuss the Company’s affairs,
finances, and accounts with its officers, during normal business hours of the Company as may be reasonably requested by
the Major Investor; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to this Subsection 3.2 to provide
access to any information that it reasonably and in good faith considers to be a trade secret or confidential information
(unless covered by an enforceable confidentiality agreement, in form acceptable to the Company) or the disclosure of
which would adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel.
3.3. Observer Rights.
(a) For so long as the Elephant Parties together with their Affiliates and Permitted Transferees own not less than
91,925 shares of Preferred Stock (or an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof, such
number to be adjusted for any stock splits, dividends, reorganizations or the like), the Company shall invite a representative of the
Elephant Parties to attend all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in a nonvoting observer capacity and, in this respect,
shall give such representative copies of all notices, minutes, consents, and other materials that it provides to its directors at the
same time and in the same manner as provided to such directors; provided, however, that such representative shall agree to hold
in confidence and trust all information so provided; and provided further, that the Company reserves the right to withhold any
information and to exclude such representative from any meeting or portion thereof if access to such information or attendance at
such meeting could adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel or result in disclosure of
trade secrets of the Company.
(b) For so long as the Goldman Parties together with their Affiliates and Permitted Transferees own not less than
41,148 shares of Preferred Stock (or an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof, such
number to be adjusted for any stock splits, dividends, reorganizations or the like), the Company shall invite a representative of
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Goldman Sachs to attend all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in a nonvoting observer capacity and, in this respect,
shall give such representative copies of all notices, minutes, consents, and other materials that it provides to its directors at the
same time and in the same manner as provided to such directors; provided, however, that such representative shall agree to hold
in confidence and trust all information so provided; and provided further, that the Company reserves the right to withhold any
information and to exclude such representative from any meeting or portion thereof if access to such information or attendance at
such meeting could adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel or result in disclosure of
trade secrets of the Company.
(c) For so long as the KKR Parties together with their Affiliates and Permitted Transferees own not less than
41,148 shares of Preferred Stock (or an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof, such
number to be adjusted for any stock splits, dividends, reorganizations or the like), the Company shall invite two representatives of
the KKR Parties to attend all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in a nonvoting observer capacity and, in this respect,
shall give such representatives copies of all notices, minutes, consents, and other materials that it provides to its directors at the
same time and in the same manner as provided to such directors; provided, however, that such representatives shall agree to hold
in confidence and trust all information so provided; and provided further, that the Company reserves the right to withhold any
information and to exclude such representatives from any meeting or portion thereof if access to such information or attendance
at such meeting could adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel or result in disclosure
of trade secrets of the Company.
(d) For so long as Lars Letonoff (i) is an executive officer of the Company or (ii) owns or holds stock options or
outstanding Shares representing not less than one (1%) percent of the Company’s outstanding Shares, on an as-converted basis,
the Company shall invite Lars Letonoff to attend all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in a nonvoting observer
capacity and, in this respect, shall give Lars Letonoff copies of all notices, minutes, consents, and other materials that it provides
to its directors at the same time and in the same manner as provided to such directors; provided, however, that Lars Letonoff shall
agree to hold in confidence and trust all information so provided; and provided further, that the Company reserves the right to
withhold any information and to exclude Lars Letonoff from any meeting or portion thereof if access to such information or
attendance at such meeting could adversely affect the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel or result in
disclosure of trade secrets of the Company. The right pursuant to this clause (c) is exclusive to Lars Letonoff and nontransferable and non-assignable.
3.4. Termination of Information and Observer Rights. The covenants set forth in Subsection 3.1, Subsection 3.2 and
Subsection 3.3 shall terminate and be of no further force or effect (i) immediately before the consummation of the IPO, (ii) when
the Company first becomes subject to the periodic reporting requirements of Section 12(g) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or (iii)
upon a Deemed Liquidation Event, as such term is defined in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, whichever event occurs
first.
3.5. Confidentiality. Each Investor agrees that such Investor will keep confidential and will not disclose, divulge, or
use for any purpose (other than to monitor its investment in the Company) any confidential information obtained from the
Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (including notice of the Company’s intention to file a registration statement),
unless such confidential information (a) is known or becomes known to the public in general (other than as a result of a breach of
this Subsection 3.5 by such Investor), (b) is or has been independently developed or conceived by the Investor without use of the
Company’s confidential information, or (c) is or has been made known or disclosed to the Investor by a third party without a
breach of any obligation of confidentiality such third party may have to the Company; provided, however, that an Investor may
disclose confidential information (i) to its attorneys, accountants,
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consultants, and other professionals to the extent necessary to obtain their services in connection with monitoring its investment
in the Company, fundraising activities or protecting its rights under the Transaction Agreements; (ii) to any prospective purchaser
of any Registrable Securities from such Investor, if such prospective purchaser agrees to be bound by the provisions of this
Subsection 3.5; (iii) to any Affiliate, partner, member, officer, director, employee debt or equity funding source, stockholder, or
wholly owned subsidiary of such Investor in the ordinary course of business, provided that such Investor informs such Person
that such information is confidential and directs such Person to maintain the confidentiality of such information; (iv) as may
otherwise be required by law or required or requested by any regulatory or governmental authority; or (v) as and to the extent that
such Investor determines in good faith, based on the advice of counsel, to be necessary or advisable in light of ongoing review or
oversight by a regulatory or governmental authority with jurisdiction over such Investor, provided that the Investor promptly
notifies the Company of such disclosure and takes reasonable steps to minimize the extent of any such required disclosure.
4.

Rights to Future Stock Issuances.

4.1. Right of First Offer. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Subsection 4.1 and applicable securities laws, if
the Company proposes to offer or sell any New Securities, the Company shall first offer such New Securities to each Major
Investor. A Major Investor shall be entitled to apportion the right of first offer hereby granted to it in such proportions as it deems
appropriate, among (i) itself, (ii) its Affiliates and (iii) its beneficial interest holders, such as limited partners, members or any
other Person having “beneficial ownership,” as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, of such
Major Investor (“Investor Beneficial Owners”); provided that any such Affiliate or Investor Beneficial Owner (y) is not a
Competitor, unless such party’s purchase of New Securities is otherwise consented to by the Board of Directors, and (z) agrees to
enter into this Agreement and each of the Voting Agreement and Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement of even date
herewith among the Company, the Investors and the other parties named therein, as an “Investor” under each such agreement
(provided that any Competitor shall not be entitled to any rights as an Investor under Subsections 3.1, 3.2 and 4.1 hereof).
(a) The Company shall give notice (the “Offer Notice”) to each Major Investor, stating (i) its bona fide intention
to offer such New Securities, (ii) the number of such New Securities to be offered, and (iii) the price and terms, if any, upon
which it proposes to offer such New Securities.
(b) By notification to the Company within twenty (20) days after the Offer Notice is given, each Major Investor
may elect to purchase or otherwise acquire, at the price and on the terms specified in the Offer Notice, up to that portion of such
New Securities which equals the proportion that the Common Stock then held by such Major Investor (including all shares of
Common Stock then issued or issuable (directly or indirectly) upon conversion and/or exercise, as applicable, of the Preferred
Stock and any other Derivative Securities then held by such Major Investor) bears to the total Common Stock of the Company
held by all Major Investors together then outstanding (assuming full conversion and/or exercise, as applicable, of the Preferred
Stock and any other Derivative Securities then held by all Major Investors together). At the expiration of such twenty (20) day
period, the Company shall promptly notify each Major Investor that elects to purchase or acquire all the shares available to it
(each, a “Fully Exercising Investor”) of any other Major Investor’s failure to do likewise. During the ten (10) day period
commencing after the Company has given such notice, each Fully Exercising Investor may, by giving notice to the Company,
elect to purchase or acquire, in addition to the number of shares specified above, up to that portion of the New Securities for
which Major Investors were entitled to subscribe but that were not subscribed for by the Major Investors which is equal to the
proportion that the Common Stock issued and held, or issuable (directly or indirectly) upon conversion and/or exercise, as
applicable, of Preferred Stock and any other Derivative Securities then held, by such
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Fully Exercising Investor bears to the Common Stock issued and held, or issuable (directly or indirectly) upon conversion and/or
exercise, as applicable, of the Preferred Stock and any other Derivative Securities then held, by all Fully Exercising Investors
who wish to purchase such unsubscribed shares. The closing of any sale pursuant to this Subsection 4.1(b) shall occur within the
later of ninety (90) days of the date that the Offer Notice is given and the date of initial sale of New Securities pursuant to
Subsection 4.1(c).
(c) If all New Securities referred to in the Offer Notice are not elected to be purchased or acquired as provided in
Subsection 4.1(b), the Company may, during the ninety day period following the expiration of the periods provided in Subsection
4.1(b), offer and sell the remaining unsubscribed portion of such New Securities to any Person or Persons at a price not less than,
and upon terms no more favorable to the offeree than, those specified in the Offer Notice. If the Company does not enter into an
agreement for the sale of the New Securities within such period, or if such agreement is not consummated within thirty (30) days
of the execution thereof, the right provided hereunder shall be deemed to be revived and such New Securities shall not be offered
unless first reoffered to the Major Investors in accordance with this Subsection 4.1.
(d) The right of first offer in this Subsection 4.1 shall not be applicable to (i) Exempted Securities (as defined in
the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation); and (ii) shares of Common Stock issued in the IPO.
4.2. Termination. The covenants set forth in Subsection 4.1 shall terminate and be of no further force or effect (i)
immediately before the consummation of the IPO, or (ii) upon a Deemed Liquidation Event, as such term is defined in the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, whichever event occurs first.
5.

Additional Covenants.

5.1.
Insurance. The Company currently maintains from financially sound and reputable insurers, Directors and
Officers liability insurance and term “key-person” insurance on Sjoerd Sjouwerman, each in an amount and on terms and
conditions satisfactory to the Board of Directors, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such insurance policies to
be maintained until such time as the Board of Directors (including the affirmative vote or consent of each Preferred Director)
determines that such insurance should be discontinued. The key-person policy shall name the Company as loss payee, and neither
policy shall be cancelable by the Company without prior approval by the Board of Directors including each Preferred Director.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 5.1 to the contrary, for so long as a Preferred Director is serving on the Board
of Directors, the Company shall not cease to maintain a Directors and Officers liability insurance policy in an amount of at least
two (2) million dollars unless approved by each Preferred Director.
5.2. Employee Agreements. The Company will cause (i) each person now or hereafter employed by it or by any
subsidiary (or engaged by the Company or any subsidiary as a consultant/independent contractor) with access to confidential
information and/or trade secrets to enter into a nondisclosure and proprietary rights assignment agreement; (ii) each employee to
enter into a one (1) year nonsolicitation agreement and (iii) each employee that also receives any equity grant in connection with
his or her employment to enter into a one (1) year noncompetition agreement. In addition, the Company shall not amend, modify,
terminate, waive, or otherwise alter, in whole or in part, any of the above- referenced agreements or any restricted stock
agreement between the Company and any employee, without the consent of one of the Preferred Directors.
5.3.
Employee Stock. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Directors, including one of the Preferred
Directors, all future employees and consultants of the Company
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who purchase, receive options to purchase, or receive awards of shares of the Company’s capital stock after the date hereof
(“Future Equity”) shall be required to execute restricted stock or option agreements, as applicable, providing for (i) vesting of
shares over a four (4) year period, with the first twenty-five percent (25%) of such shares vesting following twelve (12) months
of continued employment or service, and the remaining shares vesting in equal monthly installments over the following thirty-six
(36) months, and (ii) a market stand-off provision substantially similar to that in Subsection 2.12. Any “acceleration” provisions
included as part of any issuance of Future Equity (whether in connection with a change in control of the Company or otherwise)
shall be approved by the Board of Directors, including one of the Preferred Directors. In addition, unless otherwise approved by
the Board of Directors, including one of the Preferred Directors, the Company shall retain a “right of first refusal” on employee
transfers until the Company’s IPO and shall have the right to repurchase unvested shares at cost upon termination of employment
of a holder of restricted stock.
5.4. Matters Requiring Investor Director Approval. So long as the holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to elect a
Preferred Director, the Company hereby covenants and agrees with each of the Investors that it shall not, without approval of the
Board of Directors, which approval must include the affirmative vote of one of the Preferred Directors, provided, however, that
clauses (g) and (i) shall require the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the Preferred Directors:
(a) make, or permit any subsidiary to make, any loan or advance to, or own any stock or other securities of, any
subsidiary or other corporation, partnership, or other entity unless it is wholly owned by the Company;
(b) make, or permit any subsidiary to make, any loan or advance to any Person, including, without limitation, any
employee or director of the Company or any subsidiary, except advances and similar expenditures in the ordinary course of
business or under the terms of an employee stock or option plan approved by the Board of Directors;
(c) guarantee, directly or indirectly, or permit any subsidiary to guarantee, directly or indirectly, any indebtedness
except for trade accounts of the Company or any subsidiary arising in the ordinary course of business;
(d) otherwise enter into or be a party to any transaction with any director or officer of the Company or any
“associate” (as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of any such Person, including without limitation any
“management bonus” or similar plan providing payments to employees in connection with a Deemed Liquidation Event, as such
term is defined in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, except for transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the
Purchase Agreement, and transactions made in the ordinary course of business and pursuant to reasonable requirements of the
Company’s business and upon fair, reasonable and arms-length terms that are approved by a majority of the Board of Directors;
(e) hire, terminate, or change the compensation of the executive officers, including approving any option grants,
stock awards or bonuses to executive officers;
(f) change the principal business of the Company, enter new lines of business, or exit the current line of business;
(g) sell, assign, license, pledge, or encumber material technology or intellectual property, other than licenses
granted in the ordinary course of business; or
(h) enter into any corporate strategic relationship involving the payment, contribution, or assignment by the
Company or to the Company of money or assets greater than $500,000; or
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(i) enter into any corporate strategic relationship involving the payment, contribution, or assignment by the
Company or to the Company of money or assets greater than $1,000,000.
5.5. Board Matters. Unless otherwise determined by the vote of a majority of the directors then in office, the Board
of Directors shall meet at least quarterly in accordance with an agreed-upon schedule. The Company shall reimburse the
nonemployee directors and board observers for all reasonable out-of-pocket travel expenses incurred (consistent with the
Company’s travel policy) in connection with attending meetings of the Board of Directors. Each Preferred Director shall be
entitled at such person’s discretion to be a member of any Board of Directors committee or subcommittee. If and for so long as
the Elephant Parties, the Goldman Parties, and/or the KKR Parties have a designee on the Board of Directors, elected in
accordance with the Voting Agreement, the Company shall, unless waived by the relevant designee, require that the presence of
such designee in any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee or subcommittee thereof shall be required in order for a
quorum of the Board of Directors, or any such committee or subcommittee, to transact business.

5.6. Successor Indemnification. If the Company or any of its successors or assignees consolidates with or merges
into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, then to the
extent necessary, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assignees of the Company assume the obligations of
the Company with respect to indemnification of members of the Board of Directors as in effect immediately before such
transaction, whether such obligations are contained in the Company’s Bylaws, its Certificate of Incorporation, or elsewhere, as
the case may be.
5.7. Indemnification Matters. The Company hereby acknowledges that one (1) or more of the directors nominated to
serve on the Board of Directors by the Investors (each a “Fund Director”) may have certain rights to indemnification,
advancement of expenses and/or insurance provided by one or more of the Investors and certain of their affiliates (collectively,
the “Fund Indemnitors”). The Company hereby agrees (a) that it is the indemnitor of first resort (i.e., its obligations to any such
Fund Director are primary and any obligation of the Fund Indemnitors to advance expenses or to provide indemnification for the
same expenses or liabilities incurred by such Fund Director are secondary), (b) that it shall be required to advance the full amount
of expenses incurred by such Fund Director and shall be liable for the full amount of all expenses, judgments, penalties, fines and
amounts paid in settlement by or on behalf of any such Fund Director to the extent legally permitted and as required by the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company (or any agreement between the Company and such Fund
Director), without regard to any rights such Fund Director may have against the Fund Indemnitors, and, (c) that it irrevocably
waives, relinquishes and releases the Fund Indemnitors from any and all claims against the Fund Indemnitors for contribution,
subrogation or any other recovery of any kind in respect thereof. The Company further agrees that no advancement or payment
by the Fund Indemnitors on behalf of any such Fund Director with respect to any claim for which such Fund Director has sought
indemnification from the Company shall affect the foregoing and the Fund Indemnitors shall have a right of contribution and/or
be subrogated to the extent of such advancement or payment to all of the rights of recovery of such Fund Director against the
Company. So long as the holders of Series B Preferred Stock and/or Series C Preferred Stock are respectively entitled to appoint
a director to the Board of Directors, the Company hereby covenants and agrees to execute, deliver and perform for any such
director newly appointed, an indemnification agreement in form attached hereto as Exhibit A, or in form satisfactory to such
director and the Company.
5.8. Right to Conduct Certain Activities.
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(a) The Company hereby agrees and acknowledges that the Elephant Parties and the KKR Parties and/or their
Affiliates are professional investment funds and Goldman Sachs is in the business of venture capital, growth equity and private
equity investing, and as such may invest in numerous portfolio companies, some of which may be deemed competitive with the
Company’s business (as currently conducted or as currently propose to be conducted). The Company hereby agrees that, to the
extent permitted under applicable law, neither the Elephant Parties, Goldman Sachs, the KKR Parties nor any of their respective
Affiliates shall be liable to the Company for any claim arising out of, or based upon, (i) the investment by the Elephant Parties,
Goldman Sachs, the KKR Parties or any of their respective Affiliates in any entity competitive with the Company, or (ii) actions
taken by any partner, officer or other representative of the Elephant Parties, Goldman Sachs, the KKR Parties or any of their
respective Affiliates to assist any such competitive company, whether or not such action was taken as a member of the board of
directors of such competitive company or otherwise, and whether or not such action has a detrimental effect on the Company;
provided, however, that the foregoing shall not relieve (x) any of the Investors from liability associated with the unauthorized
disclosure of the Company’s confidential information obtained pursuant to this Agreement, or (y) any director or officer of the
Company from any liability associated with his or her fiduciary duties to the Company.
(b) The Company agrees not to require the Investors or any of their Affiliates to (i) limit or restrict any of its
business activities (including, without limitation, business activities of an Investor or any of its Affiliates in the same line of
business as the Company or investments by an Investor or any of its Affiliates in any entity engaged in the same line of business
of the Company), (ii) send any business opportunities to the Company or (iii) violate any duty or client confidence.
(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 2.12), the
Purchase Agreement or in any of the other Transaction Agreements, none of the provisions herein or therein shall in any way
limit Goldman Sachs, the KKR Parties or any of their respective Affiliates from engaging in any brokerage, investment advisory,
financial advisory, anti-raid advisory, principaling, merger advisory, financing, asset management, trading, market making,
arbitrage, investment activity or other similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of its business.
(d) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that nothing in this Agreement or any of the Transaction
Agreements shall create a fiduciary duty of (i) Goldman Sachs or (ii) the KKR Parties or any of their respective Affiliates to the
Company or its shareholders.
(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any of the other Transaction Agreements or any
actions or omissions by representatives of Goldman Sachs or the KKR Parties in whatever capacity, it is understood that neither
Goldman Sachs nor the KKR Parties are acting under this Agreement or any of the Transaction Agreements as a financial
advisor, agent or underwriter to the Company or any of its Affiliates or otherwise on behalf of the Company or any of its
Affiliates.
(f) The Company hereby acknowledges and agrees that it will not, for so long as the Goldman Parties or the KKR
Parties hold any Registrable Securities, enter into any agreements, understanding or arrangement with clients, or otherwise
engage in any activities or investments that would cause it to be engaged in activities that are “financial in nature” and “activities
that are incidental thereto”, as defined under Section 4(k) of the Bank Holding Company Act, as amended, 12 USC 1843(k)(4)(B)
and (F), and the Federal Reserve Board’s Regulation Y, 12 CFR 225.28 thereunder, without the prior written consent of (i) the
Goldman Parties holding a majority of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the then outstanding
shares of Preferred Stock held by the Goldman Parties, and (ii) the KKR

Exhibit 4.3

Parties holding a majority of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the then outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock held by the KKR Parties.
5.9. FCPA. The Company represents that it shall not (and shall not permit any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or any
of its or their respective directors, officers, managers, employees, independent contractors, representatives or agents to) promise,
authorize or make any payment to, or otherwise contribute any item of value to, directly or indirectly, any third party, including
any Non-U.S. Official (as (as such term is defined in the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”)),
in each case, in violation of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, or any other applicable anti-bribery or anti- corruption law. The
Company further represents that it shall (and shall cause each of its subsidiaries and affiliates to) cease all of its or their
respective activities, as well as remediate any actions taken by the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates, or any of their
respective directors, officers, managers, employees, independent contractors, representatives or agents in violation of the FCPA,
the U.K. Bribery Act, or any other applicable anti-bribery or anti- corruption law. The Company further represents that it shall
(and shall cause each of its subsidiaries and affiliates to) maintain systems of internal controls (including, but not limited to,
accounting systems, purchasing systems and billing systems) to ensure compliance with the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, or any
other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption law. Upon request, the Company agrees to provide responsive information and/or
certifications concerning its compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws. The Company shall promptly notify each Investor
if the Company becomes aware of any Enforcement Action (as defined in the Purchase Agreement). The Company shall, and
shall cause any direct or indirect subsidiary or entity controlled by it, whether now in existence or formed in the future, to comply
with the FCPA. The Company shall use its best efforts to cause any direct or indirect subsidiary, whether now in existence or
formed in the future, to comply in all material respects with all applicable laws. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Company
shall implement the actions, policies and procedures indicated on Schedule I attached hereto by the applicable timeline provided
on Schedule I attached hereto.
5.10.
Trade Laws.

Trade Control Compliance.

(a) The Company shall, and shall cause all of its controlled Affiliates to, comply with all applicable International

(b) Affiliates of Goldman Sachs are required to disclose under Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act (“Section
13(r)”) whether any of their affiliates have engaged during the calendar year in certain Iran-related activities, including those
targeted under the Iran Sanctions of Act of 1996 and other Iran-related Laws. To the extent that the Company, or its controlled
Affiliates, officers or directors are, or become, engaged in any activities that would be reportable by the Company if the
Company was required to make a disclosure under Section 13(r), the Company shall promptly upon becoming aware of such
information disclose such information in writing to the Goldman Parties in sufficient detail in order that Affiliates of Goldman
Sachs can timely satisfy their own disclosure obligations under Section 13(r). After the end of each calendar year, but in no event
later than fifteen (15) days after the end of each calendar year, the Company shall provide a written certification to the Goldman
Parties that it and its controlled Affiliates, officers and directors have disclosed to Goldman Sachs all activities contemplated by
this Section 5.11(b).
(c) As soon as practicable after the date hereof, the Company shall implement suitable written, risk-based
compliance procedures and related training regarding International Trade Laws along with procedures for the collection of data
and other information required under Section 13(r) from its controlled Affiliates, officers and directors. In furtherance of the
foregoing, the Company shall implement the actions, policies and procedures indicated on Schedule I attached hereto by the
applicable timeline provided on Schedule I attached hereto.
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5.11.

Use of Name.

(a) The Company agrees that it will not, without the prior written consent of the Goldman Parties holding a
majority of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the then outstanding shares of Preferred Stock
held by the Goldman Parties, use in connection with any public announcement, posting of information on a website or written
news release, advertising, publicity or otherwise, the name of Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC or any of its Affiliates or any partner or
employee thereof, nor represent, directly or indirectly, that any product or service provided by the Company has been approved or
endorsed by any of the foregoing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may use and disclose the name of Goldman
Sachs in disclosures required by law or regulation; provided, Goldman Sachs is given prior written notice of such requirement
and an opportunity to seek a protective order. The Company hereby grants to Goldman Sachs and its Affiliates permission to use
the Company’s name and logo in their respective marketing materials. Goldman Sachs and its Affiliates shall include a trademark
attribution notice giving notice of the Company’s ownership of its trademarks in the marketing materials in which the Company’s
name and logo appear.
(b) The Company agrees that it will not, without the prior written consent of the relevant KKR Party, use in
connection with any public announcement, posting of information on a website or written news release, advertising, publicity or
otherwise, the name of any of the KKR Parties or any of their Affiliates or any partner or employee thereof, nor represent,
directly or indirectly, that any product or service provided by the Company has been approved or endorsed by any of the
foregoing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may use and disclose the names of the KKR Parties in disclosures
required by law or regulation; provided, the KKR Parties are given prior written notice of such requirement and an opportunity to
seek a protective order. The Company hereby grants to the KKR Parties and their Affiliates permission to use the Company’s
name and logo in their respective marketing materials. The KKR Parties and their Affiliates shall include a trademark attribution
notice giving notice of the Company’s ownership of its trademarks in the marketing materials in which the Company’s name and
logo appear.
5.12. Restrictive Covenants. The Company agrees that it has not and will not enter into any agreement that contains
a non-competition or non-solicitation covenant that binds any of the Investors or their Affiliates (other than any Investor that is an
employee or officer of the Company and any of his or her Affiliates); nor shall the Company require any Investor (other than any
Investor that is an employee or officer of the Company and any of his or her Affiliates) to agree to or execute any agreement or
instrument containing any non-competition or non-solicitation covenant applicable to such Investor or its Affiliates.
5.13.

Investor Agreements.

(a) The Company hereby represents and warrants to the KKR Parties that, except for the Transaction Agreements,
the Series A Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and the Investors named therein, dated January 19,
2016, the Series A-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and the Investors named therein, dated
February 22, 2017, the Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and the Investors named therein,
dated October 19, 2017, the Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and the Investors named
therein, dated February 27, 2019 and customary management rights letter agreements with certain of the Investors entered into
concurrently with their purchase of Preferred Stock, the Company is not a party to any agreements, arrangements or
understandings, whether written or oral, with any holder of shares of Preferred Stock with respect to the rights, preferences,
privileges or restrictions of the Preferred Stock (or any series thereof).
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(b) The Company hereby agrees to disclose to the Goldman Parties and the KKR Parties all material agreements,
arrangements or understandings, whether written or oral, that the Company enters into or agrees to with any current or future
holders of shares of Preferred Stock, or other shares of preferred stock of the Company issued from time to time, with respect to
the rights, preferences, privileges or restrictions of such shares of Preferred Stock or other preferred stock.
5.14. Termination of Covenants. The covenants set forth in this Section 5, except for Subsection 5.7, shall terminate
and be of no further force or effect (i) immediately before the consummation of the IPO, (ii) when the Company first becomes
subject to the periodic reporting requirements of Section 12(g) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or (iii) upon a Deemed Liquidation
Event, as such term is defined in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, whichever event occurs first.
6.

Miscellaneous.

6.1.
Successors and Assigns. The rights under this Agreement may be assigned (but only with all related
obligations) by a Holder to a transferee of Registrable Securities that (i) is an Affiliate of a Holder; (ii) is a Holder’s Immediate
Family Member or trust for the benefit of an individual Holder or one or more of such Holder’s Immediate Family Members; (iii)
after such transfer, holds at least 200,000 shares of Registrable Securities (subject to appropriate adjustment for stock splits, stock
dividends, combinations, and other recapitalizations) or (iv) in connection with a Legal or Regulatory Transfer; provided,
however, that (x) the Company is, within a reasonable time after such transfer, furnished with written notice of the name and
address of such transferee and the Registrable Securities with respect to which such rights are being transferred; and (y) such
transferee agrees in a written instrument delivered to the Company to be bound by and subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, including the provisions of Subsection 2.12. For the purposes of determining the number of shares of Registrable
Securities held by a transferee, the holdings of a transferee (1) that is an Affiliate or stockholder of a Holder; (2) who is a
Holder’s Immediate Family Member; or (3) that is a trust for the benefit of an individual Holder or such Holder’s Immediate
Family Member shall be aggregated together and with those of the transferring Holder; provided further that all transferees who
would not qualify individually for assignment of rights shall have a single attorney-in-fact for the purpose of exercising any
rights, receiving notices, or taking any action under this Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement inure to the
benefit of and are binding upon the respective successors and permitted assignees of the parties. Nothing in this Agreement,
express or implied, is intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and permitted
assignees any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement, except as expressly provided
herein.
6.2.
Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware as to matters within the scope thereof, and as to all other matters shall be governed by
and construed in accordance with the internal laws of New York, without regard to conflicts of law principles thereof.
6.3. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile,
electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g.,
www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and
validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
6.4. Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not to be
considered in construing or interpreting this Agreement.
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6.5. Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing
and shall be deemed effectively given upon the earlier of actual receipt or (i) personal delivery to the party to be notified; (ii)
when sent, if sent by electronic mail or facsimile during the recipient’s normal business hours, and if not sent during normal
business hours, then on the recipient’s next business day; (iii) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or (iv) one (1) business day after the business day of deposit with a nationally
recognized overnight courier, freight prepaid, specifying next-day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All
communications shall be sent to the respective parties at their addresses as set forth on Schedule A hereto, or to the principal
office of the Company and to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer, in the case of the Company, or to such email address,
facsimile number, or address as subsequently modified by written notice given in accordance with this Subsection 6.5. If notice is
given to the Company, a copy shall also be sent to Foley & Lardner LLP, 100 North Tampa Street, Suite 2700, Tampa Florida
33602, Attention: Curt P. Creely and if notice is given to Stockholders, a copy shall also be given to Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver
& Jacobson LLP, One New York Plaza, New York, NY 10004, Attention: Mark H. Lucas, (ii) Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, 200
West Street New York, NY 10282, Attention: Benjamin P. Haskins, (iii) Sidley Austin LLP, Woolgate Exchange, 25 Basinghall
Street, London EC2V 5HA, United Kingdom, Attention: Wim De Vlieger, and (iv) Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. Partners LLP,
Stirling Square, 7 Carlton Gardens, London SW1Y 5AD, United Kingdom, Attention: Stephen Shanley, and (v) Gunderson
Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP, One Marina Park Drive, Suite 900, Boston, MA 02210, Attention:
Michael S. Hacker.
6.6. Amendments and Waivers. Any term of this Agreement may be amended and the observance of any term of this
Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance, and either retroactively or prospectively) only with the
written consent of the Company and the holders of the Preferred Stock by means of a Requisite Preferred Holder Consent (as that
term is defined in the Certificate of Incorporation); provided that the Company may in its sole discretion waive compliance with
Subsection 2.13(c) (and the Company’s failure to object promptly in writing after notification of a proposed assignment allegedly
in violation of Subsection 2.13(c) shall be deemed to be a waiver); and provided further that any provision hereof may be waived
by any waiving party on such party’s own behalf, without the consent of any other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) this
Agreement may not be amended or terminated and the observance of any term hereof may not be waived with respect to any
Investor without the written consent of such Investor, unless such amendment, termination, or waiver applies to all Investors in
the same fashion (it being agreed that a waiver of the provisions of Section 4 with respect to a particular transaction shall be
deemed to apply to all Investors in the same fashion if such waiver does so by its terms, notwithstanding the fact that certain
Investors may nonetheless, by agreement with the Company, purchase securities in such transaction), (ii) Subsection 3.3(a) hereof
may only be amended or waived with the prior written consent of the Elephant Parties holding a majority of the shares of
Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred Stock held by the Elephant
Parties, Subsection 3.3(b) hereof may only be amended or waived with the prior written consent of the Goldman Parties holding a
majority of the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the then outstanding shares of Preferred Stock
held by the Goldman Parties, and Subsection 3.3(c) hereof may only be amended or waived with the prior written consent of
KKR, and (iii) Section 2.5 (Furnish Information), the second sentence of Section 2.12 (Market Stand-off Agreement), the third
and final sentences of Section 2.13(c) (Restriction on Transfer), Section 2.15 (Assistance with Obligations if Deemed an
Underwriter), Section 3.3(b) (Board Observer), Section 5.1 (Insurance), Section 5.5 (Board Matters), Section 5.8 (Right to
Conduct Certain Activities), Section 5.9 (FCPA), Section 5.10 (Trade Control Compliance), Section 5.11 (Use of Name), Section
5.12 (Restrictive Covenants), Section 5.13 (Investor Agreements), and this Section 6.6 (Amendments and Waivers) of this
Agreement may not be amended or terminated and the observance of any term hereof may not be waived with respect to any
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Investor without the prior written consent of such Investor. The Company shall give prompt notice of any amendment or
termination hereof or waiver hereunder to any party hereto that did not consent in writing to such amendment, termination, or
waiver. Any amendment, termination, or waiver effected in accordance with this Subsection 6.6 shall be binding on all parties
hereto, regardless of whether any such party has consented thereto. No waivers of or exceptions to any term, condition, or
provision of this Agreement, in any one or more instances, shall be deemed to be or construed as a further or continuing waiver
of any such term, condition, or provision.
6.7. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement is for any reason held to be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision
of this Agreement, and such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed and construed so that it will be valid,
legal, and enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law.
6.8. Aggregation of Stock. All shares of Registrable Securities held or acquired by Affiliates shall be aggregated
together for the purpose of determining the availability of any rights under this Agreement and such Affiliated persons may
apportion such rights as among themselves in any manner they deem appropriate.
6.9.
Additional Investors. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if the Company issues
additional shares of the Company’s Preferred Stock after the date hereof, whether pursuant to the Purchase Agreement or
otherwise, any purchaser of such shares of Preferred Stock may become a party to this Agreement by executing and delivering an
additional counterpart signature page to this Agreement, and thereafter shall be deemed an “Investor” for all purposes hereunder.
No action or consent by the Investors shall be required for such joinder to this Agreement by such additional Investor, so long as
such additional Investor has agreed in writing to be bound by all of the obligations as an “Investor” hereunder.
6.10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including any Schedules and Exhibits hereto) and the other Transaction
Agreements constitutes the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof, and any other written or oral agreement relating to the subject matter hereof existing between the parties is expressly
canceled. Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, the Prior Agreement shall be deemed amended and restated and superseded
and replaced in its entirety by this Agreement, and shall be of no further force or effect
6.11. Dispute Resolution. The parties (a) hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the jurisdiction of the
state courts of New York and to the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York for the
purpose of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement, (b) agree not to commence any suit,
action or other proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement except in the state courts of New York or the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and (c) hereby waive, and agree not to assert, by way of motion, as a
defense, or otherwise, in any such suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not subject personally to the jurisdiction of the
above-named courts, that its property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that the suit, action or proceeding is
brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of the suit, action or proceeding is improper or that this Agreement or the
subject matter hereof may not be enforced in or by such court.
6.12. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL: EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY
CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER
TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS, THE SECURITIES OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF OR THEREOF. THE SCOPE
OF THIS WAIVER IS INTENDED TO BE ALL- ENCOMPASSING OF ANY AND ALL DISPUTES THAT MAY BE FILED
IN ANY COURT AND THAT RELATE TO THE
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SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS TRANSACTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT
CLAIMS (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHER COMMON LAW AND
STATUTORY CLAIMS. THIS SECTION HAS BEEN FULLY DISCUSSED BY EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AND
THESE PROVISIONS WILL NOT BE SUBJECT TO ANY EXCEPTIONS. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY FURTHER
WARRANTS AND REPRESENTS THAT SUCH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS LEGAL COUNSEL,
AND THAT SUCH PARTY KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS FOLLOWING
CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL.
6.13.
The prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and necessary disbursements in
addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled. Each of the parties to this Agreement consents to personal
jurisdiction for any equitable action sought in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York or any court of the
State of New York having subject matter jurisdiction.
6.14. Delays or Omissions. No delay or omission to exercise any right, power, or remedy accruing to any party
under this Agreement, upon any breach or default of any other party under this Agreement, shall impair any such right, power, or
remedy of such nonbreaching or nondefaulting party, nor shall it be construed to be a waiver of or acquiescence to any such
breach or default, or to any similar breach or default thereafter occurring, nor shall any waiver of any single breach or default be
deemed a waiver of any other breach or default theretofore or thereafter occurring. All remedies, whether under this Agreement
or by law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.
6.15.
Acknowledgment. The Company acknowledges that the Investors are in the business of venture capital
investing and therefore review the business plans and related proprietary information of many enterprises, including enterprises
which may have products or services which compete directly or indirectly with those of the Company. Nothing in this Agreement
shall preclude or in any way restrict the Investors from investing or participating in any particular enterprise whether or not such
enterprise has products or services which compete with those of the Company.
6.16. Exculpation. Each Investor acknowledges that it is not relying upon any person, firm or corporation, other than
the Company and its officers and directors, in making its investment or decision to invest in the Company. Each Investor agrees
that no Investor or its Affiliates, respective controlling persons, officers, directors, partners, agents, or employees shall be liable
to any other Investor for any action heretofore or hereafter taken or omitted to be taken by any of them in connection with the
purchase of any securities of the Company.
6.17.

Sale Rights.

(a) Goldman Sachs and its Affiliates holding any shares of capital stock of the Company shall have the right and
option to sell any or all of its shares of capital stock of the Company (including shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Common
Stock issued upon the conversion thereof) to the Company at any time for an aggregate purchase price equal to $1.00 (one dollar)
by delivery of a written notice to the Company setting forth the number and class of shares to be sold, without the necessity of
obtaining the consent or approval of the Company or any other stockholder.
(b) Each Investor shall have the right and option to sell any or all of its shares of capital stock of the Company
(including shares of Preferred Stock and shares of Common Stock issued upon the conversion thereof) to the Company at any
time for an aggregate purchase price equal to $1.00 (one dollar) by delivery of a written notice to the Company setting forth the
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number and class of shares to be sold, without the necessity of obtaining the consent or approval of the Company or any other
stockholder.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
KNOWBE4, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Chief Executive Officer

Address:

33 North Garden Ave
Suite 1200
Clearwater, FL 33755

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
ELEPHANT PARTNERS I, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP I, LLC
Its: General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Name: Jeremiah Daly
Title: Managing Member
Address:
11 Newbury Street, 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Patrick Cammarata, COO
Email: pat@elephantvc.com
ELEPHANT PARTNERS II, L.P.
for itself and as nominee for
ELEPHANT PARTNERS II-B, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP II, LLC
Its: General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Name: Jeremiah Daly
Title: Managing Member
Address:
11 Newbury Street, 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Patrick Cammarata, COO
Email: pat@elephantvc.com
SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
ELEPHANT PARTNERS 2019 SPV-A, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP I, LLC
Its: General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Name: Jeremiah Daly
Title: Managing Member
Address:
11 Newbury Street, 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Patrick Cammarata, COO
Email: pat@elephantvc.com

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
BROAD STREET PRINCIPAL
INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
By:
/s/ Joseph DiSabato
Name: Joseph DiSabato
Title: Vice President
Address:

c/o Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
555 California Street, 45th Floor
San Francisco, California
Facsimile: (415) 249 -7400
Email: Joe.DiSabato@gs.com

With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP,
One New York Plaza, New York, NY 10004,
Facsimile: (212) 859-4000
Email: Mark.Lucas@friedfrank.com
Attention: Mark H. Lucas
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
200 West Street, New York, NY 10282,
Facsimile: (212) 493-9039
Email: Ben.Haskins@gs.com
Attention: Benjamin P. Haskins

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
STONEBRIDGE 2017, L.P.
By: Bridge Street Opportunity Advisors, L.L.C.
Its: General Partner
By:
/s/ Joseph DiSabato
Name: Joseph DiSabato
Title: Vice President
Address:

c/o Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
555 California Street, 45th Floor
San Francisco, California
Facsimile: (415) 249 -7400
Email: Joe.DiSabato@gs.com

With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP,
One New York Plaza, New York, NY 10004,
Facsimile: (212) 859-4000
Email: Mark.Lucas@friedfrank.com
Attention: Mark H. Lucas
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
200 West Street, New York, NY 10282,
Facsimile: (212) 493-9039
Email: Ben.Haskins@gs.com
Attention: Benjamin P. Haskins

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
STONEBRIDGE 2017 OFFSHORE, L.P.
By: Bridge Street Opportunity Advisors, L.L.C.
Its: General Partner
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Joseph DiSabato
Joseph DiSabato
Vice President

Address:

c/o Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
555 California Street, 45th Floor
San Francisco, California
Facsimile: (415) 249 -7400
Email: Joe.DiSabato@gs.com

With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP,
One New York Plaza, New York, NY 10004,
Facsimile: (212) 859-4000
Email: Mark.Lucas@friedfrank.com
Attention: Mark H. Lucas
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
200 West Street, New York, NY 10282,
Facsimile: (212) 493-9039
Email: Ben.Haskins@gs.com
Attention: Benjamin P. Haskins

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
KKR KNOWLEDGE INVESTORS L.P.
By: KKR Knowledge Investors GP LLC
Its: General Partner
By:
/s/ William J. Janetschek
Name: William J. Janetschek
Title: Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Vice President
Address:Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P.
9 W 57th St Suite 4200
New York, NY 10019
With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Sidley Austin LLP
Woolgate Exchange
25 Basinghall Street
London EC2V 5hA
Email: wdevlieger@sidley.com
Attention: Wim De Vlieger
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. Partners LLP
Stirling Square
7 Carlton Gardens
London SW1Y 5AD
Email: stephen.shanley@kkr.com
Attention: Stephen Shanley

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
TEN ELEVEN GROWTH FUND II, L.P.
a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership
By:
Its:
By:

TEN ELEVEN MID-TIER GP ENTITY II, L.P., a Cayman
Islands exempted limited partnership
General Partner

Its:

TEN ELEVEN TOP-TIER GP, LTD., a Cayman Islands
exempted limited company
General Partner

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Hatfield
Mark Hatfield
Director

Address:

345 Lorton Ave, Suite 401
c/o Ten Eleven Ventures
Burlingame, CA 94010

With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Goodwin Procter LLP
100 Northern Avenue
Boston, MA 02210
Email: RBishop@goodwinlaw.com
Attention: Robert E. Bishop
Ten Eleven Ventures, LLC
345 Lorton Ave., Suite 401
Burlingame, CA 94010
Email: mh@1011vc.com
Attention: Mark Hatfield

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
TEN ELEVEN GROWTH FUND, L.P.
a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership
By:
Its:
By:

TEN ELEVEN MID-TIER GP ENTITY, L.P., a Cayman Islands
exempted limited partnership
General Partner

Its:

TEN ELEVEN TOP-TIER GP, LTD., a Cayman Islands
exempted limited company
General Partner

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Hatfield
Mark Hatfield
Director

Address:

345 Lorton Ave, Suite 401
c/o Ten Eleven Ventures
Burlingame, CA 94010

With a copy which shall not constitute notice to:
Goodwin Procter LLP
100 Northern Avenue
Boston, MA 02210
Email: RBishop@goodwinlaw.com
Attention: Robert E. Bishop
Ten Eleven Ventures, LLC
345 Lorton Ave., Suite 401
Burlingame, CA 94010
Email: mh@1011vc.com
Attention: Mark Hatfield

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
KB4 INDIANA, LLC
By:
/s/ George B. Huber
Name: George B. Huber
Title: Manager
Address:
KB4 Indiana, LLC
c/o Equity Investment Group
127 W. Berry Street, Suite 300
Fort Wayne, IN 46802
Attn: George B. Huber, Manager
Email: ghuber@eigfw.com
(with a copy which shall not constitute notice to: azirille@eigfw.com)

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
INVESTOR:
AHM INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LLC SERIES C
By: Arena Holdings Group LP Series B, its Member
By: Arena Holdings Management LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Feroz Dewan
Name: Feroz Dewan
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Address:

119 Fifth Avenue
8th Floor
New York, New York 10003

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT

KNOWBE4, INC.
AMENDMENT AND WAIVER OF
INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT AND WAIVER (this “Amendment and Waiver”) to that certain Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights
Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2019 (the “Investors’ Rights Agreement”), by and among KnowBe4, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and each of the Investors (as defined in the Investors’ Rights Agreement) is made as of August 9, 2021 by and among the
Company and the other parties identified on the signature pages hereto. All capitalized terms used in this Amendment and Waiver to the
Investors’ Rights Agreement have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Investors’ Rights Agreement unless otherwise defined herein.
WHEREAS, the Company will file a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Company’s public offering and sale by
certain selling stockholders of the Company of its Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Registered Offering”).
WHEREAS, the Company intends to enter into an underwriting agreement with certain underwriters in connection with the
Registered Offering (the “Underwriting Agreement”).
WHEREAS, pursuant Sections 2.3 and 2.4 of the Investors’ Rights Agreement, the Holders have certain registration rights(the
“Registration Rights”).
WHEREAS, the undersigned desire to waive the Registration Rights with respect to the Registered Offering and acknowledge and
waive any and all rights to notice or other procedural requirements related to the Registration Rights forth in the Investors’ Rights
Agreement solely with respect to the Registered Offering; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the undersigned do not intend to
waive any rights under Sections 2.5, 2.7, 2.9 or 2.15 of the Investors’ Rights Agreement.
WHEREAS, the Company and the undersigned Holders desire to amend Section 6.6 of the Investors’ Rights Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
The Company and the undersigned hereby waive the Registration Rights solely with respect to the Registered Offering and
acknowledge and waive any and all rights to related notice or other procedural requirements set forth in the Investors’ Rights Agreement
solely with respect to the Registered Offering. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the foregoing waiver will
automatically terminate upon the earliest to occur, if any, of (i) the date that the Company advises the lead underwriters of the Registered
Offering in writing prior to the execution of the Underwriting Agreement that it has determined not to proceed with the Registered Offering,
(ii) the date that the Company files an application to withdraw the registration statement on Form S-1 related to the Registered Offering prior
to the execution of the Underwriting Agreement, (iii) the date the Underwriting Agreement (other than the provisions thereof which survive
termination) shall terminate or be terminated prior to payment for and delivery of the Class A common stock to be sold thereunder, or (iv)
August 30, 2021, if the Underwriting Agreement has not been executed by such date.
2.
For the avoidance of doubt, the limited waiver set forth in Section 1 above shall in no way be deemed an agreement by the
Holders to waive Sections 2.5, 2.7, 2.9 or 2.15 of the Investors’ Rights Agreement.
3.

Section 6.6 of the Investors’ Rights Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
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6.6 Amendments and Waivers. Any term of this Agreement may be amended and the observance of any term of this
Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance, and either retroactively or prospectively) only with
the written consent of the Company and the Investors holding a majority of the Registrable Securities then outstanding;
provided that the Company may in its sole discretion waive compliance with Subsection 2.13(c) (and the Company’s failure
to object promptly in writing after notification of a proposed assignment allegedly in violation of Subsection 2.13(c) shall be
deemed to be a waiver); and provided further that any provision hereof may be waived by any waiving party on such party’s
own behalf, without the consent of any other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) this Agreement may not be amended
or terminated and the observance of any term hereof may not be waived with respect to any Investor without the written
consent of such Investor, unless such amendment, termination, or waiver applies to all Investors in the same fashion, and (ii)
Section 2.6 (Furnish Information), the second sentence of Section 2.12 (Market Stand-off Agreement), the third and final
sentences of Section 2.13(c) (Restrictions on Transfer), Section 2.15 (Assistance with Obligations if Deemed an
Underwriter), and this Section 6.6 (Amendments and Waivers) of this Agreement may not be amended or terminated and the
observance of any term hereof may not be waived with respect to any Investor without the prior written consent of such
Investor. The Company shall give prompt notice of any amendment or termination hereof or waiver hereunder to any party
hereto that did not consent in writing to such amendment, termination, or waiver. Any amendment, termination, or waiver
effected in accordance with this Subsection 6.6 shall be binding on all parties hereto, regardless of whether any such party
has consented thereto. No waivers of or exceptions to any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement, in any one or
more instances, shall be deemed to be or construed as a further or continuing waiver of any such term, condition, or
provision.
4.
The provisions of this Amendment and Waiver shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, assigns,
heirs, executors, and administrators of the parties hereto.
5.
Except as modified by this Amendment and Waiver, the Investors’ Rights Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
Nothing herein shall be held to alter, vary or otherwise affect the terms, conditions and provisions of the Investors’ Rights Agreement, other
than as expressly contemplated herein.
6.
This Amendment and Waiver shall hereafter be read and construed in conjunction and as one document with the Investors’
Rights Agreement, and references in the Investors’ Rights Agreement to “the Agreement” or “this Agreement,” and references in all other
instruments and documents executed thereunder or pursuant thereto to the Investors’ Rights Agreement, shall for all purposes refer to the
Investors’ Rights Agreement incorporating and as supplemented by this Amendment and Waiver.
7.
This Amendment and Waiver may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures may be delivered by facsimile
or other electronic transmission (including via .pdf or .tif) and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed an original, and all
such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
8.
This Amendment and Waiver shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware as to matters within the scope thereof, and as to all other matters shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the internal laws of New York, without regard to conflicts of law principles thereof.
(signature pages follow)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
COMPANY:
KNOWBE4, INC.

By:
/s/ Krish Venkataraman
Name: Krish Venkataraman
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Elephant Partners I, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP I, LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Jeremiah Daly, Managing Member

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Elephant Partners II, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP I, LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Jeremiah Daly, Managing Member

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Elephant Partners 2019 SPV-A, L.P.
By: Elephant Partners GP I, LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Jeremiah Daly
Jeremiah Daly, Managing Member

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Broad Street Principal Investments, LLC
By:
/s/ Joseph P. DiSabato
Joseph P. DiSabato, Vice President

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Stonebridge 2018, L.P.
By: Bridge Street Opportunity Advisors, L.L.C., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Joseph P. DiSabato
Joseph P. DiSabato, Vice President

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Stonebridge 2017 Offshore, L.P.
By: Bridge Street Opportunity Advisors, L.L.C., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Joseph P. DiSabato
Joseph P. DiSabato, Vice President

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Stonebridge 2017, L.P.
By: Bridge Street Opportunity Advisors, L.L.C., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Joseph P. DiSabato
Joseph P. DiSabato, Vice President

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Trojan Investments, LLC
By:
/s/ Kenneth J. Anderson
Kenneth J. Anderson, Managing Member

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Integrated Healthcare Services Group, LLC
By:
/s/ Marc Stridiron
Marc Stridiron, Portfolio Manager

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
AHM Investment Holdings LLC Series K
By: Arena Holdings Management LLC, its Administrative Manager
By:

/s/ Feroz Dewant

Printed Name: Feroz Dewant
Title:

CEO

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
AHM Investment Holdings LLC Series C
By: Arena Holdings Group LB Series B, its Member
By: Arena Holdings Management LLC, its General Partner
By:

/s/ Feroz Dewant

Printed Name: Feroz Dewant
Title:

CEO

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
March Capital Partners Fund III, LP
By: March Capital Partners GP III, LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ James Montgomery
James Montgomery, Managing Director

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
March KnowBe4 Investments, LLC
By: March Venture Capital Management Services, LLC
By:
/s/ James Montgomery
James Montgomery, Managing Member

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)

Exhibit 4.3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
VEPF VII SPV I Holdings, L.P.
By: Vista Equity Partners Fund VII GP, L.P., its General Partner
By: VEPF VII GP, Ltd., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Robert F. Smith
Robert F. Smith, Director

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
ESAT Co
By:
/s/ Richard Sandler
Name: Richard Sandler
Title: Manager of Birch LLC, a partner

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
SANABIL PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS COMPANY
By:
/s/ Turki Almalik
Name: TURKI ALMALIK
Title: MANAGER

(Signature Page to Amendment and Waiver)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
Tiger Global PIP 1401 LLC
By:
/s/ Steven D. Boyd, Manager
Steven D. Boyd, Manager

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
KB4 Indiana, LLC
By:
/s/ Dan Michael
Name: Dan Michael
Title: CFO

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
KKR KNOWLEDGE INVESTORS L.P.
By: KKR Knowledge Investors GP LLC, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Robert Lewin
Name: Robert Lewin
Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
TenEleven Growth Fund II, L.P.
By: Ten Eleven Mid-Tier GP Entity II, L.P., its General Partner
By: Ten Eleven Top-Tier Gp, Ltd., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Mark Hatfield
Mark Hatfield, Director

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
TenEleven Growth Fund, L.P.
By: Ten Eleven Mid-Tier GP Entity II, L.P., its General Partner
By: Ten Eleven Top-Tier Gp, Ltd., its General Partner
By:
/s/ Mark Hatfield
Mark Hatfield, Director

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment and Waiver to be executed as of the date first written above.
HOLDERS:
NG Security Invest, L.P.
By: NG Partners (BVI) Limited, its General Partner
By:
/s/ Simon Businger
Simon Businger, Director

Signature Page to Registration Rights Waiver and IRA Amendment
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between KNOWBE4, INC., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Robert Reich, an individual residing in the State of Florida (the “Employee”). The
Effective Date for this Agreement shall be March 4, 2022 or the date the Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2021 is
signed and filed by the Company, whichever is later, (the “Effective Date”). This Agreement amends, restates, and supersedes in
its entirety any prior Offer of Employment or Employment Agreement which may have been executed between the Employee
and the Company.
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Employee as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and the
Employee desires to accept such employment, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Employee agree as follows:
1. Employment.
The Company agrees to employ the Employee during the Term specified in Section 2 below, and the Employee
agrees to accept such employment, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
2. Term.
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Employee’s employment by the Company shall
commence on the Effective Date. The Company reserves the right to conduct background investigations and/or reference checks
on all of its potential employees. Your job offer is therefore contingent upon a clearance of such a background investigation
and/or reference check. If the Employee successfully completes the conditions contained in this Section 2, the Employee’s
employment by the Company shall continue in effect until terminated in accordance with Section 6 of this Agreement (the
“Term”). The Employee acknowledges, subject to the provisions of Section 6 of this Agreement, that the Employee’s
employment with the Company is on an at-will basis, and the Company may therefore terminate the Employee’s employment,
with or without cause, at any time and for any reason upon the terms and conditions specified in Section 6 hereof.
3. Duties and Responsibilities.
a. During the Term, the Employee shall have the position of Chief Financial Officer of the Company, and in
connection therewith, the Employee shall perform such duties and responsibilities and have such authority as is
commonly incident to such office and prescribed from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer or Board of
Directors. The Employee shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer (the “Supervisor”).
b. The Employee’s employment by the Company shall be full-time, and during the Term, the Employee
agrees to devote substantially all of his/her business time and attention to the performance of the Employee's duties
hereunder and will not

engage in any other business, profession, or occupation for compensation or otherwise which would conflict or interfere
with the performance of such services either directly or indirectly without the prior written consent of the Chief
Executive Officer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee will be permitted to act or serve as a director, trustee,
committee member, or principal of any type of civic or charitable organization as long as such activities are disclosed in
writing to the Company and are consistent with the Company’s conflict-of-interest policies and other policies and do not
interfere with the performance of his/her duties hereunder.
c. To the extent that the Company shall have any parent company, subsidiaries, affiliated corporations,
partnerships, or joint ventures (collectively, “Related Entities”), the Employee shall perform his/her duties hereunder to
promote these Related Entities and to promote and protect their respective interests to the same extent as the interests of
the Company without additional compensation.
4. Compensation.
a. Base Salary. As compensation for his/her services hereunder and in consideration of the restrictive
covenants set forth below, during the Term, the Company shall pay the Employee an initial base salary (the “Base
Salary”) of Five Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($525,000.00) per annum, payable in
installments in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll schedule. The Base Salary will be reviewed annually and
may be adjusted in the Company’s sole discretion.
b. Performance-Based Bonuses. The Employee will be eligible to participate in any annual performancebased cash bonus plan as may be established from time to time in the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors
(or a duly authorized committee thereof). The target bonus amount for the employee’s participation in such a plan shall
be Seventy-Five Percent (75%) of Employee’s Base Salary as then in effect (the “Target Bonus Amount”), provided that
nothing shall preclude the Board from granting a bonus above the Target Bonus Amount. The receipt of a bonus under
such plan shall be contingent upon achievement of the Company’s performance goals as determined by the Board of
Directors, successful individual Employee performance as evaluated by the Board of Directors, and approval of the
Board of Directors and satisfaction of such other conditions as the Board of Directors may establish.
c. Discretionary Bonuses. The Employee will be eligible to participate in the Company’s discretionary bonus
plan in accordance with the terms of the Company’s plan. Any bonus paid to the Employee is entirely discretionary and
there is no contractual entitlement to receive it and it will not count as part of the Employee’s contractual remuneration
or salary for pension purposes or otherwise. Employee’s eligibility for payment of any such bonus as well as the timing
and amount of payment, will be determined by the Company in its sole discretion. The bonus plan may be varied from
time to time at the discretion of the Company, even if the effect of this is to deprive you of remuneration which you may
otherwise have received by way of bonus and, in any event, the objectives are likely to vary.
d. One-time Sign On Cash Bonus. The Employee will be eligible to receive a one-time sign on bonus (the
“Sign On Bonus”) of One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($150,000.00), minus any required tax or
other legally required withholdings by the Company. The Sign On Bonus will be provided in the Employee’s first
paycheck. The Employee agrees that if his/her employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, with or
without cause, within twelve (12) months of the
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Effective Date, the Employee will be required to repay in full the Sign On Bonus to the Company.
e. Equity Compensation. It shall be recommended to the Board of Directors that the Employee receive a grant
of restricted stock units having a value equal to One Million, Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and No Cents
($1,500,000.00) for the first grant in year 2022, and a refresh of restricted stock units having a value equal of no less
than One Million, Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($1,500,000.00) for years 2023 and 2024, (the
“RSUs”), under the Company’s equity incentive plan as then in effect. For purposes of the RSUs, a dollar value will be
converted into a number of restricted stock units based on the fair market value of a share on the grant date (as
reasonably determined by the Board of Directors). Under the Company’s standard policies, each RSU grant is ⅔ solely
time-vesting and ⅓ both time-vesting and performance vesting. The RSUs will generally vest over a three (3) year
period with a one (1) year cliff, in accordance with the standard vesting schedule under the Company’s equity incentive
plan as then in effect. Each year, the Employee will be eligible for a refresh restricted stock unit grant in accordance
with the Company’s annual refresh grant cycle, as may be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time in
their sole discretion.
f.
One-time Sign On RSU Grant. It shall be recommended to the Board of Directors that the Employee
receive a one-time sign on grant of restricted stock units having a value equal to One Million Dollars and No Cents
($1,000,000.00), the (“Sign On RSUs”), under the Company’s equity incentive plan as then in effect. For purposes of
the Sign On RSUs, a dollar value will be converted into a number of restricted stock units based on the fair market value
of a share on the grant date (as reasonably determined by the Board of Directors). Under the Company’s standard
policies, the Sign On RSUs grant is ⅔ solely time-vesting and ⅓ both time-vesting and performance vesting. The Sign
On RSUs will generally vest over a three (3) year period with a one (1) year cliff, in accordance with the standard
vesting schedule under the Company’s equity incentive plan as then in effect.
g. Tax Matters. All payments of Base Salary and other compensation, if any, will be subject to any required
tax or other legally required withholdings by the Company.
h. Clawback Provisions. Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, any
compensation paid to the Employee pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement or arrangement with the
Company which is subject to recovery under any law, government regulation, or stock exchange listing requirement,
will be subject to such deductions and clawback as may be required to be made pursuant to such law, government
regulation, or stock exchange listing requirement (or any policy adopted by the Company pursuant to any such law,
government regulation or stock exchange listing requirement). Additionally, the Employee authorizes the Company to
deduct from his/her Basic Salary or other payments due to the Employee, including any payment on termination of
employment, any sums which the Employee may owe the Company at any time, including without limitation, the
repayment of any overpayment of salary, commission, bonus or other benefits to the Employee, excess holiday pay,
repayable or unauthorized expenses and loan or advances.
5. Expenses; Benefits.
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a. Expense Reimbursement. The Company agrees to pay or to reimburse the Employee during the Term for
all reasonable, ordinary and necessary business or entertainment expenses, substantiated by receipts or other written
documentation provided to the Company, incurred in the performance of the Employee’s services hereunder in
accordance with the expense reimbursement policies or practices of the Company as may be in effect from time.
b. Vacation. The Employee shall be entitled to vacation time in accordance with the Company’s standard
vacation policy for its Employees as in effect from time to time.
c.
Benefits. During the Term, the Employee shall be eligible to participate in and receive benefits under such
pension, life insurance, health/medical/dental/vision insurance, disability insurance and other benefits plans, if any,
which the Company may in its discretion from time to time make available to its employees generally.

6. Termination.
a. Termination by the Company for Cause. The Company may terminate the Employee’s employment at
any time for Cause (as defined below) upon written notice to the Employee. In the event of a termination
for Cause, the Company shall be relieved of all its obligations to the Employee provided for by this
Agreement as of the effective date of termination, and all employment-related payments to the Employee
hereunder shall immediately cease and terminate as of such date, except that the Employee shall be entitled
to any accrued but unpaid Base Salary up to and including the effective date of termination. As used in this
Agreement, “Cause” shall mean the following:
i. the Employee’s willful failure to perform his duties (other than any such failure resulting
from incapacity due to physical or mental illness);
ii. the Employee’s failure to follow any lawful instruction or policy of the CEO or Board of
Directors consistent with the Employee’s position and duties as defined under this Agreement
(including any request to cooperate with an investigation by or with respect to the Company);
iii. gross negligence, willful misconduct, or illegal conduct by the Employee that materially
impairs the performance of the Employee’s duties or that is materially injurious to the Company;
iv. the Employee’s (A) commission of any fraudulent act relating to the Company or his
employment or (B) breach of his duty of loyalty to the Company involving personal dishonesty by
the Employee and intended to result in personal enrichment of the Employee (or the Employee’s
family or friend(s)) at the expense of the Company;
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v. misappropriation of funds, theft or embezzlement by the Employee of Company funds or
property;
vi. conviction of the Employee (including by a plea of guilty or nolo contendere) of any
felony, or any crime that involves theft, fraud, perjury, or moral turpitude;
vii. any material breach of the Employee’s obligations under (A) this Agreement, (B) any
other agreement between the Employee and the Company, or (C) any written policy of the Company;
or
viii. the Employee deliberately falsifies any work records, personnel records or other records
of the Company;
provided, however, that in the case of any of the events described in clauses (i), (ii), or (vii) above, such event shall
not constitute Cause hereunder unless and until there is given to the Employee by the Company a written notice
which sets forth the specific respects in which it believes that the Employee’s conduct constitutes Cause hereunder,
which conduct is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice thereof. For purposes of the foregoing clauses (i)
through (viii), the term “Company” shall include Related Entities.
b. Termination by the Company Without Cause. Notwithstanding the Term of this Agreement set forth in
Section 2 above, the Employee’s employment with the Company will be on an at-will basis, and, therefore,
in addition to the other termination provisions of this Agreement, the Company may terminate the
Employee’s employment at any time without cause and for any reason (a “Termination Without Cause”).
In the event of a Termination Without Cause, (i) the Employee shall be entitled to his accrued but unpaid
Base Salary up to and including the effective date of termination, and (ii) the Employee shall be entitled to
the severance compensation specified in Section 6(e) below.
c. Resignation by the Employee.
i. The Employee may resign and terminate the Employee’s employment hereunder at any time
and for any reason by delivering written notice to the Company in accordance with Section 14 of this
Agreement (an “Employee Termination Notice”) at least three (3) months prior to the Employee’s
last day of employment (such three-month period being referred to as the “Employee Notice
Period”). Upon the delivery of an Employee Termination Notice, the Company may, in its sole
discretion, waive the Employee Notice Period in whole or in part upon written notice to the
Employee, in which event the last day of employment shall be specified in the notice delivered by the
Company. Upon the delivery of an Employee Termination Notice, the Company shall be relieved of
all its obligations to the Employee provided for by this Agreement other than the payment of Base
Salary and benefits under Section 5 hereof
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through the last day of the Employee’s employment, upon which all employment-related payments to
the Employee hereunder shall immediately cease and terminate (except that the Employee shall be
entitled to his accrued but unpaid Base Salary up to and including his last day of employment).
ii. The Employee shall have the right to resign his employment for “Good Reason” if any of
the following occur without the Employee’s written consent: (i) there is a material adverse change or
material diminution in the Employee’s functions, duties, responsibilities, functions, or status with the
Company resulting in the Employee no longer reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (or, following a Change of Control, to the Chief Executive Officer of the controlling entity
of the Company), (ii) the Company reduces the overall compensation target amount (i.e., the
combined value of the Base Salary and Target Bonus Amount in Sections 4.a. and 4.b., respectively)
of the Employee, (iii) the Company requires the Employee to relocate permanently to a place outside
a 50-mile radius of the Tampa Bay area (it being understood that travel on the Company’s business
from time to time shall not constitute a permanent relocation) or (iv) the Company commits a
material breach of this Agreement. The Employee cannot terminate his employment for Good Reason
unless he has provided written notice to the Company of the existence of the circumstances providing
grounds for termination for Good Reason within fifteen (15) days of the initial existence of such
grounds and the Company has had at least thirty (30) days from the date on which such notice is
provided to cure such circumstances (and has failed to cure such circumstances within such period).
If the Company has not, within such thirty (30) day period, cured the circumstances providing ground
for termination for Good Reason and Employee does not terminate his employment for Good Reason
within ten (10) days after the expiration of the Company’s cure period in the preceding sentence, the
Employee will be deemed to have waived his right to terminate for Good Reason with respect to such
grounds. The Employee acknowledges that the Board of Directors has flexibility under Section 3(a)
to assign the Employee a broad range of responsibilities and duties that are consistent with his duties
as Chief Financial Officer and to make changes in the Employee’s responsibilities in a manner that is
materially consistent with the duties described under Section 3(a), and such assignments and change
will not constitute “Good Reason.”
d. Death or Disability. The Employee’s employment hereunder shall automatically terminate upon the
Employee’s death, and his estate shall be entitled to receive accrued but unpaid compensation through the
date of termination. If, during the Term of this Agreement, the Employee becomes permanently physically
or mentally disabled in the determination
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of a physician appointed or selected by the Company, or, if due to any physical or mental condition, the
Employee becomes unable for a period of more than sixty (60) days during any six (6) month period to
perform the Employee’s duties hereunder (with or without reasonable accommodation) as determined by a
physician selected by the Company, the Company may, at its option, terminate the Employee’s
employment upon not less than thirty (30) days written notice. In the event of a termination pursuant to the
preceding sentence, the Employee shall be entitled to his accrued but unpaid Base Salary up to and
including the effective date of termination.
e. Severance Compensation. In the event of either (i) a Termination Without Cause by the Company or (ii)
a termination for Good Reason by the Employee in accordance with Section 6(c)(ii) above, the Employee
shall be entitled to receive separation pay in the form of equal installment payments (“Separation
Payments”) which are in the aggregate equal to the sum of (i) twelve (12) months of the Employee’s Base
Salary (as in effect at the time of termination of employment) plus (ii) any earned but unpaid annual bonus
with respect to any completed fiscal year immediately preceding the effective date of Employee’s
termination, plus (iii) the Pro Rata Bonus (as defined below), and (iv) an additional amount in cash equal
to the aggregate payments made by the Company towards the Employee’s medical and dental benefits
during the three hundred sixty-five (365) day period immediately prior to the effective date of Employee’s
termination. The Separation Payments will be paid, subject to applicable tax withholdings and other
required withholdings, in equal installments beginning with the first Company payroll date after the
effective date of termination of employment and ending twelve (12) months thereafter; provided, however,
the Employee’s right to receive any Separation Payments is conditioned upon both (x) the Employee
signing and delivering to the Company, by the 30th day after the Employee’s termination of employment, a
general release in a form acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) and (y) the Employee not revoking
the Release within thirty (30) days of the execution and delivery thereof (the “Revocation Period”).
Accordingly, any Separation Payments due prior to the execution and delivery of the Release will not be
paid until the first payroll date following the expiration of the Revocation Period. In addition, (A) in the
event that the timing of termination enables the Employee to choose to deliver the executed Release on a
date that causes the commencement of the Separation Payments to occur in the taxable year following the
year of termination, then the Separation Payments shall automatically commence beginning with the first
payroll period of such following taxable year, regardless of when the Employee delivers the executed
Release, and (B) if any class of stock of the Company is publicly traded at the time of the termination of
employment, then any Separation Payments that would otherwise be made during the six-month period
following the termination will instead be delayed and made with the first payroll period following such
six-month period to the extent required for
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compliance with Section 409A. In the event that the Employee commits a material breach of this
Agreement, the Release, or the Employee Confidentiality Agreement, the Company may discontinue
making any Separation Payments under this paragraph. For purposes hereof, the term “Pro Rata Bonus”
means an amount equal to the product of (x) the Target Bonus Amount for the year in which the
Employee’s employment terminates, and (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the
Employee was employed by the Company during the year of termination and the denominator of which is
the number of days in such year.
f. Effect of Termination upon RSUs. In the event that Employee’s employment is terminated in a
Termination Without Cause by the Company, in a Termination for Good Reason by the Employee, or
pursuant to death or disability pursuant to Section 6(d) above, any RSUs held by the Employee at the time
of such termination will be treated in accordance with the terms of the Company’s equity incentive plan as
then in effect.
7. Restrictive Covenants.
a. Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation. The Employee recognizes and acknowledges that, by virtue of
accepting employment with the Company, the Employee will acquire valuable training and knowledge, enhance the
Employee’s professional skills and experience, and learn proprietary trade secrets and confidential information of the
Company. In consideration of the foregoing, the Employee agrees that while he/she is in the employ of the Company
and for a twelve (12) month period after the date of termination of the Employee’s employment, he/she shall not, except
on behalf of the Company, directly or indirectly, and regardless of the reason for his/her ceasing to be employed by the
Company and regardless of who effected the termination, engage in any of the following anywhere in the world:
i.
engage or invest in; own, manage, operate, finance, control, or participate in the ownership,
management, operation, financing, or control of; be employed by, associated with, or in any manner
connected with; lend the Employee’s name or any similar name to; lend the Employee’s credit to; or render
services or advice to, any business which competes with the Company or is engaged in or carries on any
Competitive Business (as defined below) (provided that the foregoing shall not prohibit the Employee from
owning the securities of corporations which are listed on a national securities exchange or traded in the
national over-the-counter market in an amount which shall not exceed 3% of the outstanding shares of any
such corporation, so long as the Employee does not actively participate in the business of such
corporation); or
ii.
attempt in any manner to intentionally solicit from any Business Associate (as defined
below) business which is the same as, or substantially similar to that performed by the Company or to
persuade any Business Associate to cease to do business with the Company or to reduce the amount of
business which any such Business Associate has customarily done or is reasonably expected to do with the
Company,
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whether or not the relationship between the Company and such Business Associate was originally
established in whole or in part through his efforts.
iii. As used in this Section 7, the term “Company” shall mean and include any Related Entities,
and the term “Business Associate” shall mean any supplier, vendor, contractor, distributor, or customer of the Company.
The term “Competitive Business” means any business that offers, develops, markets, or sells internet security awareness
training services or content (or related educational products) or internet security compliance management products or
services.
b. Remedies. If the Employee commits a breach, or the Company has reasonable grounds to believe that the
Employee is about to commit a breach, of any of the provisions of this Section 7, the Company shall have the right to
have the provisions of this Agreement specifically enforced without being required to post bond or other security in
excess of $5,000 in value and without having to prove the inadequacy of the available remedies at law, it being
acknowledged and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach will cause irreparable injury to the Company and
that money damages will not provide an adequate remedy to the Company. In addition, the Company may take all such
other actions and remedies available to it under law or in equity and shall be entitled to such damages as it can show it
has sustained by reason of such breach.
c. Enforcement. The parties acknowledge that the type and periods of restriction imposed in the provisions of
this Section 7 above are fair and reasonable and are reasonably required for the protection of the legitimate interests of
the Company and the confidential information, proprietary property and goodwill associated with the business of the
Company; and that the time, scope, geographic area, line of business and other provisions of this Section 7 have been
specifically negotiated by sophisticated parties and are given as an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, it being understood that the customers and Business Associates of the Company may be located anywhere
in the world and accordingly it is reasonable that the restrictive covenants set forth herein are not limited by narrow
geographic area but generally by the location of such potential customers and Business Associates. If any of the
covenants in Section 7 above, or any part thereof, is hereafter construed to be invalid or unenforceable, the same shall
not affect the remainder of the covenant or covenants, which shall be given full effect, without regard to the invalid
portions. In the event that any covenant contained in this Agreement shall be determined by any court of competent
jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of its extending for too great a period of time or over too great a geographical
area or by reason of its being too extensive in any other respect, it shall be interpreted to extend only over the maximum
period of time for which it may be enforceable and/or over the maximum geographical area as to which it may be
enforceable and/or to the maximum extent in all other respects as to which it may be enforceable, all as determined by
such court in such action. The temporal duration of any the covenants contained in this Section 7 shall not expire, and
shall be tolled, during any period that the Employee is in violation of any such covenant, and all such covenants shall
automatically be extended by the period of the Employee’s violation thereof. The existence of any claim or cause of
action which the Employee may have against the Company shall not constitute a defense or bar to the enforcement of
any of the provisions of this Agreement and shall be pursued through separate court action by the Employee.
d. No Interference. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall
prohibit the Employee from confidentially or otherwise
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communicating or filing a charge or complaint with a governmental agency or regulatory entity; participating in a
governmental agency or regulatory entity investigation; or giving truthful testimony or disclosures to a governmental
agency or regulatory entity, or if properly subpoenaed or otherwise required to do so under applicable law. Furthermore,
the U.S. Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 provides that: (a) an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable
under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a
federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and (ii) solely for the purpose
of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal; and (b) an individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by
an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and
use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual (A) files any document containing the trade
secret under seal, and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. Nothing in this Agreement
prohibits or creates liability for any such protected conduct.
8. Employee Confidentiality Agreement. At or around the Effective Date, the Employee will execute and deliver to the
Company an At Will Employment, Confidential Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement, (the “Employee
Confidentiality Agreement”). The Employee agrees and acknowledges that the Employee Confidentiality Agreement shall
continue to remain in full force and effect and that the obligations therein shall be in addition to the obligations set forth in this
Agreement, provided that in the event of any direct conflict between the terms of the Employee Confidentiality Agreement and
this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall control.
9. Enforceability.
The failure of any party at any time to require performance by another party of any provision hereunder shall in no
way affect the right of that party thereafter to enforce the same, nor shall it affect any other party’s right to enforce the same, or to
enforce any of the other provisions in this Agreement; nor shall the waiver by any party of the breach of any provision of this
Agreement be taken or held to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of such provision or as a waiver of the provision itself.
10. Assignment; Binding Effect.
This Agreement is personal in its nature and neither party shall assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or
obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other; provided however, that the Company may assign this
Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder to any transferee of all or substantially all of the Company’s business
(whether by merger, consolidation, sale of stock, sale of assets, or otherwise) without the Employee’s consent. This Agreement
shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators,
successors and assigns.
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11. Modification.
This Agreement may not be orally canceled, changed, modified, amended, or waived and no cancellation, change,
modification, amendment or waiver shall be effective or binding, unless in writing and signed by the parties to this Agreement.
Any such cancellation, change, modification, amendment or waiver shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the
purpose for which given.
12. Severability; Survival.
In the event any provision or portion of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any
reason, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless be binding upon the parties with the
same effect as though the invalid or unenforceable part had been severed and deleted. If any covenant in this Agreement should
be deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable, because its scope is considered excessive, such covenant shall be modified so that
the scope of the covenant is reduced only to the minimum extent necessary to render the modified covenant valid, legal, and
enforceable. The respective rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall survive the termination of the Employee’s
employment to the extent necessary to effect the intended preservation of such rights and obligations. Without limitation, the
provisions of Sections 7, 8, 9, 15, 21 and 22 shall survive the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company and
shall continue to be enforceable at all times thereafter.
13. Intentionally omitted.
14. Notices.
Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party hereto to another party shall
be in writing and shall be deemed effective (a) upon personal delivery, if delivered by hand; or (b) three days after the date of
deposit in the mails, postage prepaid if mailed by certified or registered U.S. mail; or (c) on the next business day, if sent by
prepaid overnight courier service, and in each case, addressed as follows:
If to the Employee, to the address set forth below the Employee’s signature on the signature page hereto.
If to the Company:
KnowBe4, Inc.
Attn: General Counsel
33 North Garden Ave., Suite 1200
Clearwater, FL 33755
Attention: Board of Directors
Any party may change the address to which notices are to be sent by giving notice of such change of address to the
other party in the manner herein provided for giving notice.
15. Applicable Law and Jurisdiction.
a. All questions concerning the construction, interpretation and validity of this Agreement, and all matters
relating hereto, shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida,
without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether in the State of Florida or any

11

other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Florida.
b. Except for actions by the Company for equitable relief (which may be brought in any court that has
jurisdiction), any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or any breach of this
Agreement shall be submitted to and decided by binding arbitration in accordance with the arbitration provisions of the
Employee Confidentiality Agreement. Any arbitral award determination shall be final and binding upon the parties.
16. No Conflict.
The Employee represents and warrants that he/she is not subject to any agreement, instrument, order, judgment or
decree of any kind, or any other restrictive agreement of any character, which would prevent him from entering into this
Agreement or which would be breached by the Employee upon his/her performance of his duties pursuant to this Agreement. The
Employee further agrees not to use or disclose in the course of the Employee’s employment with the Company any confidential
information or trade secrets of any other person.
17. Entire Agreement.
This Agreement (together with the Employee Confidentiality Agreement) represents the entire agreement between
and among the Company and the Employee with respect to the subject matter hereof, and all prior agreements, plans and
arrangements (including any previously signed version of this Agreement that Employee may have executed) relating to the
employment of the Employee by the Company are nullified and superseded hereby.
18. Headings.
The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.
19. Withholding.
The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state or local taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.
20. Counterparts.
This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be
an original but all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via
facsimile, electronic mail (including .pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g.,
www.docusign.com) or other transmission method, and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and
validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
21. No Strict Construction.
The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the Employee and the
Company to express their mutual intent, and no rule of law or contract interpretation that provides that in the case of ambiguity or
uncertainty a provision should be construed against the draftsperson will be applied against either the Employee or the Company.
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22. Notification of New Employer.
In the event that the Employee is no longer an employee of the Company, the Employee consents to notification
by the Company to the Employee’s new employer or its agents regarding the Company’s rights and the Employee’s obligations
under this Agreement.
23. Section 409A.
The parties intend for this Agreement to conform in all respects to the requirements under Section 409A (“Section
409A”) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Accordingly, the parties intend for this Agreement to be
interpreted, construed, administered and applied in a manner as shall meet and comply with the requirements of Section 409A,
and the Board may amend this Agreement in its discretion so as to comply with any such requirement. Any reference in this
Agreement to Section 409A, or any subsection thereof, shall be deemed to mean and include, to the extent then applicable and
then in force and effect (but not to the extent overruled, limited or superseded), published rulings, notices and similar
announcements issued by the Internal Revenue Service under or interpreting Section 409A and regulations (proposed, temporary
or final) issued by the United States Secretary of the Treasury under or interpreting Section 409A. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries or affiliates nor any individual acting as a director,
officer, employee, agent or other representative of the Company or of a subsidiary or affiliate shall be liable to the Employee or
any other person for any claim, loss, liability or expense arising out of any interest, penalties or additional taxes due by the
Employee or any other person as a result of this Agreement or the administration thereof not satisfying any of the requirements of
Section 409A. The Employee represents and warrants that he/she has reviewed or will review with his own tax advisors the
federal, state, local and employment tax consequences of entering into this Agreement, including, without limitation, under
Section 409A, and, with respect to such matters, he/her relies solely on such advisors. If the Employee is a “specified employee”
(as determined by the Company under Section 409A) on the date of the Employee’s separation from service, if and to the extent
that any payments payable upon such separation from service under this Agreement constitute deferred compensation within the
meaning of Section 409A, each such severance payment shall be paid on the later of (a) the date scheduled to be paid under
Section 6 hereof, or (b) the first business day after the date that is six (6) months after the date of the Employee’s separation from
service. Each installment under this Agreement shall be regarded as a separate “payment” for purposes of Section 409A.
24. Section 280(g).
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, or any other agreement, plan, or arrangement to the
contrary, if any portion of any payment or benefit under this Agreement, or under any other agreement, plan, or arrangement (in
the aggregate, “Total Payments”), would constitute an “excess parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Code, and would,
but for this Section 24, result in the imposition on the Employee of an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise
Tax”), then the Total Payments to be made to the Employee shall either be (a) delivered in full, or (b) delivered in a reduced
amount that is $1.00 less than the amount that would cause any portion of such Total Payments to be subject to the Excise Tax,
whichever of the foregoing results in the receipt by the Employee of the greatest benefit on an after-tax basis (taking into account
the Excise Tax, as well as the applicable federal, state, and local income and employment taxes, for which the Employee shall be
deemed to pay at the highest marginal rate for the applicable calendar year). To the extent the foregoing reduction applies, then
any such payment or benefit shall be reduced or eliminated by applying the following principles, in order: (1) the payment or
benefit with the higher ratio of the parachute payment value to present economic value (determined using reasonable actuarial
assumptions) shall be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with a lower ratio; (2)
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the payment or benefit with the later possible payment date shall be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with an
earlier payment date; and (3) cash payments shall be reduced prior to non-cash benefits; provided that if the foregoing order of
reduction or elimination would violate Section 409A of the Code, then the reduction shall be made pro rata among the payment
or benefits (on the basis of the relative present value of the parachute payments). The determination of whether the Excise Tax or
the foregoing reduction will apply will be made by independent tax counsel selected and paid by the Company (which may be
regular counsel of the Company).
[Signatures on Following Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY
KNOWBE4, INC.
By: /s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman (February 14, 2021)
Name: Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Title: Chief Executive Officer
EMPLOYEE
/s/ Robert Reich (February 14, 2021)
Robert Reich, individually
Address:
13408 Blythefield Terrace
Lakewood Ranch, FL 34202
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SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE
(“AGREEMENT”)
Shrikrishna Venkataraman (“Employee”) and KnowBe4, Inc., including its past and present parents, subsidiaries and
affiliates, predecessors, successors, assigns, subrogees, franchisees, principals, agents, attorneys, partners, heirs, employees,
officers, insurers, representatives, shareholders and directors, in both their individual and representative capacities (collectively
“Employer”), hereby agree as follows:
1.
In consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth below, the adequacy and sufficiency
of which are specifically acknowledged, Employee and Employer agree as follows:
a.
Employee is an at-will employee of Employer, and Employee’s employment with Employer is separated;
Employee hereby voluntarily resigns from employment with the Employer, and Employer hereby accepts such
resignation, from all corporate offices and other positions Employee holds with Employer and any subsidiary or affiliate
of Employer effective March 4, 2022 or the date the Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2021 is filed by the
Employer, whichever is later (“Separation Date”). Immediately following the Employee’s resignation on the Separation
Date, the Employee will become a member of the Employer’s Board of Directors with no break in service for purposes of
any grants or vesting of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”), under the Employer’s equity incentive plan as then in effect. As
a member of the Employer’s Board of Directors, the Employee will be eligible for compensation in accordance with the
outside director compensation policy (the “Policy”), with a first grant of any equity under that policy being at the 2022
annual meeting. For the avoidance of doubt, Employee will not receive either the Initial Award or the Pro-Rated Annual
Award (each as defined in the Policy) upon joining the Board of Directors.
b.
Employer, as a part of this Agreement between the parties, does not admit, and specifically denies, any
violation of law or any liability to Employee or to anyone else as a result of or growing out of Employee’s relationship
and/or employment and/or the separation of employment with Employer.
c.
As consideration for the mutual promises in this Agreement, the Employee has received a RSUs grant
equivalent to Three Million Dollars and No Cents ($3,000,000.00), approved by the Board of Directors on February 14,
2022 and subject to the terms and conditions of that grant, (“RSUs Grant”). By virtue of his voluntary resignation, the
Employee agrees that the Employee is not entitled to any additional Severance Compensation under Paragraph 6.e. of the
February 26, 2020 “First Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement,” as amended. The RSUs Grant shall
forfeit and no longer be available to vest unless Employee signs this Agreement on or shortly following the Separation
Date and no later than May 15, 2022.
d.
Nothing in this Release Agreement shall interfere with Employee’s receipt of compensation according to
the terms of any retirement program based upon services to the date of Employee’s termination of employment.
e.
Employee will continue to receive Employee’s current benefits for which Employee is enrolled under
Employer’s benefit plan, until March 31, 2022. Thereafter,
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Employee’s coverage under the group medical insurance plan will be pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act, as amended (“COBRA”) starting April 1, 2022. Within the time period required by COBRA,
Employer, or the plan administrator, as required by law, will provide Employee with written notice of Employee’s rights
under COBRA to continue participation in the group health plan. Unless otherwise required by law, Employee
understands that such COBRA coverage will be at Employee’s expense.
f.
The Employee agrees to cooperate with Employer’s reasonable requests for assistance, which shall include
but not be limited to answering questions related to existing or ongoing projects and/or staff responsibilities and inquiries.
g.
Employee acknowledges and agrees that Employee is subject to an At-Will Employment, Confidential
Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement (“PIAA”) that Employee executed on or around April 5,
2018. The PIAA shall continue to remain in effect for the Employee’s term as a member of the Employer’s Board of
Directors. This Agreement, and the RSUs Grant identified in Paragraph 1.c. of this Agreement, are expressly conditioned
upon the Employee abiding by the promises contained in the PIAA. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to release
any obligation set forth in the PIAA.
2.
Employee, on behalf of themself, Employee’s descendants, dependents, heirs, executors, administrators, assigns,
and successors, fully, finally and forever releases and discharges Employer, including its past and present parents, subsidiaries
and affiliates, predecessors, successors, assigns, subrogees, franchisees, principals, agents, attorneys, partners, heirs, employees,
officers, insurers, representatives, shareholders and directors, in both their individual and representative capacities, from any and
all claims and rights of any kind that Employee may have, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, including,
but not limited to, arising out of or in any way connected with Employee’s employment with Employer as of the date this
Agreement is executed. These claims and rights released include, but are not limited to, any and all claims for salary, wages,
compensation, monetary relief, employment, benefits, including but not limited to any claims for benefits under, or contribution
to, any employee benefit, profit-sharing or retirement plan bonuses, merit and longevity increases, commissions, relocation
expenses, and all other benefits of all kind, earnings, back pay, front pay, compensatory damages, punitive damages, damage to
character, damage to reputation, liquidated and other damages, emotional distress, mental anguish, depression, injury, impairment
in locating employment, financial loss, pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory relief, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs,
specifically including any and all claims growing out of, resulting from, or connected in any way to Employee’s employment
with Employer and/or the separation thereof, including any and all claims for discrimination, including but not limited to
discrimination on the basis of race, national origin, citizenship, color, religion, marital status, handicap or disability, age, sex,
gender, sexual orientation, pregnancy, genetic information or any other protected characteristic recognized by law, harassment of
any kind, including sexual harassment, retaliation, whistle blowing, breach of contract, rescission, promises, claims under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 [29 U.S.C. Sections 1001-1461], as amended; torts of all kinds, including but
not limited to misrepresentation, negligent or otherwise, fraud, defamation, slander, libel, duress, fraudulent inducement,
worker’s compensation retaliation, interference with an advantageous business relationship, negligent employment, including
negligent hiring, negligent retention and negligent supervision, claims or rights under state and federal whistleblower legislation
including the Consolidated Omnibus
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Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 [Pub. L. 99-509], as amended (“COBRA”); the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 [Public Law
107-204, 116 Stat. 745] (“S-OA”); the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”); the
Florida Health Insurance Coverage Continuation Act, as amended (“FHICCA”); the Family and Medical Leave Act [29 U.S.C.
Sections 2601-2654], as amended (“FMLA”); the Age Discrimination in Employment Act [29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.] (“ADEA”),
as amended; the Congressional Accountability Act of 1995 [2 U.S.C. Sections 1311-1317], as amended; the Americans with
Disabilities Act [42 U.S.C. Sections 12101-12213], as amended (“ADA”); the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendment Act
(“ADAAA”); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 [29 U.S.C. Section 791, et. seq.], as amended; the Employee Polygraph Protection
Act of 1988 [29 U.S.C. Sections 2001 et. seq.], as amended (“PPA”); the Internal Revenue Code [Title 26, U.S.C.], as amended
(“IRC”); the Equal Pay Act [29 U.S.C. Section 206(d)], as amended (“EPA”); Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 [42
U.S.C. Sections 2000e-2000e-17], as amended (“CRA”); Florida Civil Rights Act [Fla. Stat. Ann. Sections 760.01 et seq.], as
amended; The Florida AIDS Act [Fla. Stat. Ann. Sections 760.50 et seq.]; Florida Wage Discrimination Law [Fla. Stat. Ann.
Section 725.07], as amended; Florida Equal Pay Law [Fla. Stat. Ann. Section 448.07], as amended; Florida Whistleblower
Protection Law [Fla. Stat. Ann. Section 448.102]; Florida Wage Payment Laws [Fla. Stat. Ann. Sections 222.15, 532.01 et seq.];
Military Leave Non-Discrimination Law [Fla. Stat. Sections 250.482, 250.82]; Florida Minimum Wage Law [Fla. Stat. Ann.
Sections 448.109 to 448.110]; Florida Right to Work Law [Fla. Stat. Sections 447.01 et seq.]; Florida Wage Payment Law [Fla.
Stat. Sections 532.01 et seq.]; Florida Workers Compensation retaliation provision [Fla. Stat. Section 440.205]; Florida Domestic
Violence Leave law [Fla. Stat. Ann. Section 741.313]; Florida Law on Wages/Hours/Payroll [FSA Sections 443.071, 443.171,
F.A.C. Section 60BB-2.032]; the Revised Statutes [42 U.S.C. Sections 1981, 1983 or 1985], as amended; the Fair Housing Act
[42 U.S.C. Section 3604 et. seq.], as amended; Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 [20 U.S.C. Sections 1681 et. seq.],
as amended; the Federal False Claims Act [18 U.S.C. Sections 287, et seq.], as amended (“FFCA”); the Program Fraud Civil
Remedies Act [38 C.F.R. 42.1, et seq.], as amended (“PFCRA”); the Fair Credit Reporting Act, as amended (“FCRA”); the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 [38 U.S.C. Sections 4301-4333], as amended
(“USERRA”); the National Labor Relations Act [29 U.S.C. Sections 151-169], as amended (“NLRA”); the Worker Adjustment
and Retraining Notification Act [29 U.S.C. Sections 2101 et seq.], as amended (“WARN”); the Occupational Safety and Health
Act [29 U.S.C. Sections 651-678], as amended (“OSHA”); the Fair Labor Standards Act [29 U.S.C. Sections 201-219], as
amended (“FLSA”); the Pregnancy Discrimination Act (“PDA”); any applicable New Jersey labor and employment law; any
other applicable federal, state, or local labor and employment law; and any other claim of any kind. In addition, Employee
specifically waives any rights of action and administrative and judicial relief which Employee might otherwise have available,
including all common law claims and claims under federal and state constitutions, statutes and regulations and federal executive
orders and county and municipal ordinances and regulations. Employee promises never to file, participate in, or prosecute a
lawsuit or arbitral action asserting any claims that are released by this Agreement. Employee promises never to file, participate
in, or prosecute a lawsuit or arbitral action asserting any claims under the federal False Claims Act and/or any state false claims
act relating in any manner to information learned while employed with Employer. Employee further agrees not to voluntarily
participate in any employment-related lawsuit or arbitral action brought by any other employee or former employee against
Employer. It is the intent of this Agreement that Employee is not releasing or waiving any rights Employee is prohibited by law,
rule or regulation from releasing or waiving.
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Nothing in this Release shall be construed to prohibit Employee from (1) challenging, under the ADEA or OWBPA, the
knowing and voluntary nature of Employee’s release of any claims in this Agreement before an arbitrator or before the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”); (2) filing a charge or complaint with the EEOC, the National Labor Relations
Board (“NLRB”), or other fair employment practices agency; or (3) participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by
the EEOC, NLRB, or other fair employment practices agency. Notwithstanding, if Employee files a charge with the EEOC,
NLRB, or other fair employment practices agency, or if one is filed on Employee’s behalf, Employee forever waives and
relinquishes Employee’s right to recover damages resulting from any such charge Employee may file or that may be filed by any
person or agency on Employee’s behalf. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prohibit or restrict Employee from: (i)
reporting or disclosing any suspected instance of illegal activity of any nature; (ii) reporting or disclosing any workplace safety or
public safety concerns to any federal, state, or local governmental agency or court; (iii) providing information to, or testifying or
assisting in any investigation or proceeding brought by any federal or state regulatory or law enforcement agency or legislative
body, any self-regulatory organization, or Employer’s legal or compliance departments; or (iv) reporting, testifying, participating
in or otherwise assisting in a proceeding relating to an alleged violation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or any federal, state or
municipal law relating to fraud, or any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any self-regulatory
organization. Other than receiving an award related to reporting potential securities law violations to the SEC and/or other federal
agencies, Employee hereby waives and releases any right to receive any relief because of Employee’s participation in any
investigation or proceeding of any federal, state, or local government agency or court. Employee represents that Employee knows
of no claim that Employee has not released by this paragraph.
Employee acknowledges and agrees that Employee has been paid all wages (including overtime compensation),
commissions, bonuses, and other compensation due to Employee from Employer for any reason; that Employee has received all
leave and benefits to which Employee was entitled; that Employee has no known work-related injuries or occupational diseases
while employed by Employer that were not reported during Employee’s employment; and that Employee has been provided
and/or has not been denied any leave requested under the FMLA and has not been subjected to retaliation for taking any such
leave. Employee agrees and acknowledges that Employee properly was classified pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act.
Employee further acknowledges that Employee is not entitled to any additional compensation or benefits from Employer, except
as otherwise provided herein.
3.
It is further understood and agreed that the RSUs Grant and other good and valuable consideration provided for
herein are not a mere recital but are the consideration for this Agreement and a full and final release is effected hereby.
Employee acknowledges that Employee has completely read this Agreement. Employee further acknowledges that this
Agreement is being signed voluntarily and without coercion or duress and with full understanding of its terms and effects.
Neither party has been promised any benefit except for the mutual consideration set out herein and there are no other
understandings or oral/written agreements relating to the separation of their employment relationship except those set out above.
Employee specifically states that Employee is executing this Agreement knowingly and voluntarily.
4.
Employee acknowledges that Employee has thoroughly read the entire agreement, and specifically acknowledges
the following:
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a.
Employee understands the language of the Agreement and release, and that any questions Employee may
have had during Employee’s review of the Agreement were explained to Employee’s satisfaction and understanding.
b.
Employee understands that the waiver and release specifically includes a waiver of Employee’s rights and
claims arising under the ADEA.
c.
Employee understands that Employee is not waiving any rights or claims that may arise after the date this
Agreement is executed.
d.
Employee’s waiver of rights and claims in this Agreement is in exchange for good and valuable
consideration in addition to that which Employee would have otherwise been legally entitled.
e.
Employee has been advised to consult, and has had an opportunity to consult, with legal counsel of
Employee’s choosing prior to executing this Agreement, if so desired.
f.
Employee had a reasonable time period up to twenty-one (21) days from receipt of this document to accept
the terms of and sign this Agreement, and that Employee may accept and sign this Agreement before expiration of the
twenty-one (21) day time period, but Employee is not required to do so by Employer.
g.
After signing this Agreement, Employee may revoke Employee’s acceptance within seven (7) days by
providing written notice of revocation to KnowBe4, Inc., 33 N Garden Ave Suite 1200 Clearwater, FL 33755 Attn: Legal
Department. This Agreement will become effective on the eighth (8th) day following its signature by all of the parties
(“Effective Date”), it being recognized that Employee has no right to the RSUs Grant hereunder until this Agreement
becomes effective in accordance with this provision notwithstanding any language contained herein to the contrary.
5.

Employee further covenants and agrees to the following confidentiality and post-employment obligations:

a.
Employee recognizes that prior to Employee’s Separation Date and due to Employee’s affiliation with
Employer (or Releasees) and pursuant to the PIAA Employee executed on on or around April 5, 2018, Employee acquired
intimate knowledge of, and experience related to the business of Employer, Employer’s Trade Secrets and confidential
information (including, but not limited to, information or data in any form or medium which has commercial or economic
value to Employer such as information regarding other Employees, intellectual property, processes, competitive data,
contracts, licenses, client lists, financial information, pricing structures or guidelines, methods of operation, manuals,
software and marketing plans and strategies), and the Employer’s customers and business partners (hereafter
“Confidential Information”), which, if used or disclosed by Employee, would seriously, adversely, and irreparably affect
the Employer. Employee also recognizes that Employer has taken reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of its trade
secrets and Confidential Information and that it derives economic value from its Trade Secrets and Confidential
Information not readily being accessible by
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other persons. Employee understands and acknowledges that Employee is obligated to abide by certain post-employment
restrictive covenants including, but not limited to, Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information, Assignment of Inventions,
Return of Company Property, and Non-Solicitation of Employees and Clients as expressly described in the PIAA, the
terms of which are incorporated herein by reference in their entirety, and nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to
release any obligation set forth in the PIAAt executed by Employee.
b.
Employee agrees to fully and reasonably cooperate with Employer with respect to business issues, claims
and litigation of which Employee has personal knowledge. Employee agrees to communicate with any party(ies), their
legal counsel, or others adverse to Employer in any such claims, administrative proceedings, or litigation solely through
the designated legal counsel of Employer. Should Employee receive notice of a subpoena or other attempt to talk with
Employee or attempt to obtain Employee’s testimony relating to or regarding Employer in any way, Employee agrees to
notify Employer, through its Legal Department, and to provide a copy of any subpoena or request, within two (2) calendar
days of receipt of such notice. Further, Employee agrees to and authorizes, at the expense of Employer, the assertion of an
objection or objections and a motion for protective order, motion to quash, or other legal proceeding (“legal proceeding”)
in order that all legal rights of Employer, including those set forth in this Agreement, may be fully protected. In the
absence of a subpoena, Employee agrees that Employee will not respond to any attempt to talk with Employee or obtain
Employee’s testimony, should a legal proceeding be asserted, until such legal proceeding has been finally determined.
Employee further agrees that a representative on behalf of, chosen by and at the expense of Employer will have the
opportunity to participate fully during any testimony, statements, or communication by Employee in any proceeding
relating to Employer including raising objections to any examination, examining witnesses, and the right to have a record
made by a court reporter or other means of the testimony, statements, or communication and objections. Employee shall
provide truthful testimony to or before any court or regulatory body in accordance with the procedures set forth in this
paragraph.
6.
Employee agrees not to make any written or oral statement or communications that may defame, disparage or cast
in a negative light so as to deter others from associating or dealing with or do harm to the personal or professional reputation of
(a) Employer or its subsidiaries or affiliate entities, (b) its employees, officers, directors, shareholders, attorneys, agents, or
trustees, or (c) the services and/or products provided by Employer and its subsidiaries or affiliate entities. This includes, but is not
limited to, any written or oral statements or communications of this nature made: to any current or former employee of the
Employer; to any client or prospective client of the Employer; to any competitor of the Employer; to any other third party
individual or entity; on any social media platform; on any job posting or rating platform; in any trade-specific publication; or on
any other publicly disseminated platform. Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing sentences to the contrary, it shall not be a
violation of this paragraph for Employee to communicate as permitted by paragraph 2 of this Agreement, to include Employee’s
participation in a governmental investigation, filing of a charge or complaint with the EEOC, NLRB, or other fair employment
practices agency, or testifying truthfully under oath in a legal or arbitral proceeding. Employee agrees to refrain from any tortious
interference with the contracts and relationships of Employer. Employer further agrees that Employee will at no time enter onto
the premises of the Company or contact or attempt to contact (whether
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through telephone, email, or otherwise) any employees of the Company during business hours or while the employees are at the
premises of the Company.
7.
In consideration of the RSUs Grant and other good and valuable consideration provided for in this Agreement,
Employee represents and warrants that all the terms of this Agreement shall be complied with. Should Employee breach or act in
noncompliance with or in default of this Agreement, the RSUs Grant shall be forfeited and the Employee shall pay to Employer a
all costs, including attorneys’ fees incurred by Employer in enforcing this Agreement, with Employer maintaining all rights,
remedies and/or causes of action otherwise available at law or in equity. The parties hereto acknowledge that any breach of this
Agreement shall entitle the non-breaching party not only to damages, but to injunctive relief to enjoin the actions of the breaching
party, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. The penalty provisions of this paragraph do not apply to claims brought pursuant to the
ADEA.
8.
This Agreement is to be construed and governed under the laws of the state of Florida and shall bind the parties
and their respective heirs, estates, successors and assigns. If any paragraph or provision is found to be invalid or unenforceable,
the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding. Employee acknowledges and warrants that
Employee has not previously transferred, assigned, or conveyed any right or claim released in this Agreement.
9.

Intentionally Omitted.

10.
EMPLOYEE HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH
RESPECT TO ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR OTHER LITIGATION RESULTING FROM OR INVOLVING THE
ENFORCEMENT OF THIS AGREEMENT.
11.
Each party shall bear their own costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in negotiating and preparing this Agreement and
all matters leading up to this Agreement.
12.
This Agreement represents the entire agreement between the parties and shall not be subject to modification or
amendment by an oral representation, or any other written statement by either party, except for a dated written amendment to this
Agreement signed by Employee and an authorized representative of Employer. The parties agree and acknowledge, however, that
the provisions set forth herein are in addition to, and not meant to replace, provisions previously agreed to by Employee in the
PIAA executed by Employee, including the provision requiring submission to mandatory binding arbitration of all disputes
arising out of, related to, or resulting from Employee’s termination of employment. The parties expressly agree that a dispute
over the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement “arises out of,” is “related to,” or “results from” Employee’s termination
of employment, and thus must be arbitrated.
13.
Employee hereby waives any pleas of jurisdiction or venue as not being a resident of Pinellas County, Florida, and
hereby specifically authorizes and agrees that any arbitral action seeking the enforcement and/or interpretation of this Agreement
shall be commenced and heard in Pinellas County, Florida. The parties further agree that this Agreement shall be governed by the
laws of the State of Florida.
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AS TO EMPLOYEE:
/s/ Shrikrishna Venkataraman
By:
Shrikrishna Venkataraman

March 10, 2022
Date

AS TO EMPLOYER:
/s/ Erika Lance
KnowBe4, Inc.
By:
Erika Lance
Its:
Chief Human Resources Officer

March 10, 2022
Date
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of registrant
Name of Subsidiary
The Security Awareness Company, LLC
MediaPro Holdings, LLC
SecurityAdvisor Technologies, LLC
KnowBe4 UK Ltd.
Twist & Shout Communications Limited
KnowBe4 NL, B.V.
KnowBe4 International B.V.
KnowBe4 Pte. Ltd.
KnowBe4 Germany GmbH
KnowBe4 Africa (Pty) Ltd
KnowBe4 Middle East, FZ-LLC
El Pescador Softwares Ltda. d/b/a KnowBe4 Brazil
Verified Secure (LLC)
KnowBe4 AU Pty. Ltd.
KnowBe4 Research AS
KnowBe4 Japan GK
KnowBe4 India Private Ltd.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Netherlands
Netherlands
Singapore
Germany
South Africa
United Arab Emirates
Brazil
Nevada
Australia
Norway
Japan
India

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-255482) on Form S-8 of our report dated March 10, 2022, with respect
to the consolidated financial statements of KnowBe4, Inc. and subsidiaries.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Tampa, Florida
March 10, 2022

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sjoerd Sjouwerman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of KnowBe4, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2022

By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Name:

Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Title:

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shrikrishna Venkataraman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of KnowBe4, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2022

By:

/s/ Shrikrishna Venkataraman

Name:

Shrikrishna Venkataraman

Title:

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sjoerd Sjouwerman, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of KnowBe4, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KnowBe4, Inc.

Date: March 10, 2022

By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Name:

Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Title:

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, Shrikrishna Venkataraman, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of KnowBe4, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KnowBe4, Inc.

Date: March 10, 2022

By:

/s/ Shrikrishna Venkataraman

Name:

Shrikrishna Venkataraman

Title:

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

